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Volito AB is an investment company operating within Real Estate,  
Industry and Aviation. The company creates value through long-term,  
active ownership based on genuine expertise within its lines of business.  

Value growth is generated both through current earnings and the increase 
in value of the company’s investments.

www.volito.se

Volito AB | GROUP PRESENTATION
 ANNUAL REPORT 2014



2009  Helmtrud Nyström

2011  Anders Moseholm

2012  Carl-Fredrik Ekström

2013  Karen Gabel Madsen

2010  John Stockwell
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er Mölgaard was born in 1969 in Roskilde, Denmark. Studied 

at the Royal Danish Academy of Fine Arts, 1993-99. The most  

recent of Per’s many exhibitions were at Galerie Leger in Malmö 

and Brösarp Art Gallery in 2014. He will have an exhibition at 

Galleri Tom Christoffersen in Copenhagen in the spring of 2015.

”Vincent van Gogh and Edward Munch have meant a great deal to me 

ever since I was young. Their energy, feeling and humanity have always 

gone directly into my central nervous system. However, over the past 

ten years my private life and surroundings have been the direct  

starting point for my works.

 I moved from Copenhagen to Sweden almost 10 years ago and  

live and work together with the Swedish artist, Judit Ström, and our  

three daughters. Our life together for more than 20 years, and our  

collaboration. Judit’s world and her work, seen through my emotional 

filter, have meant everything for me and my work in recent years.

 For me, painting is an existential matter. A way to understand and 

try to explain how it is to be human in the world we live in. Painting for 

me is the optimal balance and fusion between form and content. That 

form exists in the content and vice-versa. My work does not stem from 

imagination and a wish to tell stories. It is not adventurous, but quite 

realistic, a concentrate of a mental experience or state of mind. Above 

all my works must be credible.

 The motif for Volito’s painting is a double portrait of my oldest 

daughter.”

Per Mölgaard
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t h e  g r o u p

VOLITO

Volito is a privately owned investment group headquartered 

in Malmö. The Group was founded in 1991 through the  

acquisition and merger of two established aircraft leasing 

companies. The new company adopted the name Volito,  

which in Latin means ”To fly and aspire to new heights”.  

The company soon achieved considerable success and  

began to expand.

Today, the Volito Group consists of three strong and  

diversified business areas: Real Estate, Industry and Aviation. 

The Volito Group also has substantial holdings in listed  

companies with influence at board level, and ownership 

interests in associated companies and jointly-owned  

companies. In total, the Volito Group has equity of  

SEK 1 787.2 million.
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The Volito Group performed well  

in 2014 and reports positive financial 

results. At year-end, the Volito 

Group’s equity amounted to SEK  

1 787 million, an increase of 26 %  

(including paid dividend). The 

listed companies in which Volito 

has a major ownership interest 

achieved strong value growth. Volito 

completed the consolidation carried 

out in recent years and wound up 

the Group’s international finance 

risks in Structured Finance and Volito 

Aviation. The Group is strengthening 

its focus on investments in Business 

Area Real Estate and Business Area 

Industry, and in the Group’s holdings 

in listed companies.  

Volito Fastigheter reports a strong 

profit after financial items of SEK 46.6 

million. At year-end, the property 

portfolio was valued at SEK 2 306.9 

million, an increase of 2 % on the 

remaining portfolio. The business has 

focused on refinements, efficiency 

enhancements, optimisation of 

operations and strategic divestments. 

The vacancy rate was somewhat 

higher than normal. Otherwise, there 

were good developments in rental 

operations: satisfactory rental rates, 

positive renegotiations and new 

clients. 

Volito Automation had a very 

positive 2014, characterised by rising 

market shares and the start up of Hyd 

Partner in Norway. The consolidated 

operating profit before depreciation 

(EBITDA) for 2014 amounted to SEK 

8.3 million (7.4). Volito Automation 

2014 in brief

he international finance and  
credit crisis that followed the  

recession in 2008 fundamentally  
changed the refinancing market.  
Volito had survived financial crises 
before, but for the first time we saw that 
our lenders were losing liquidity, and 
their problems became our problems. 
Our assets were, and remain, assuredly 
of good quality with good cash flows, 
but due to a more volatile finance 
market, the relationship between  
risk and reward deteriorated.

Our conclusion, therefore, was to wind 
up our international finance risks in 
Structured Finance and Volito Aviation 
in order to allocate capital and resources 
to activities that we deem to offer better 
outcomes in relation to the risks.  
 
The winding up of Structured Finance 
is for the most part already implemented 
and we are in the final phase of  
winding up the aviation business. 

This has taken time, but we consider 
that it has been wise not to rush the 
process.

In future, we will continue to invest  
in Business Area Industry and Business 
Area Real Estate, two areas in which 
we have had great success. In a  
short time, Volito Automation has 
established a significant position in  
the Nordic market and continues to 
win market shares. Volito Fastigheter 
has displayed stability and continuity 
for many years with strong financial 
results and good value growth.

We will also continue to develop our 
major holdings, currently with a focus 
on the listed companies, Bulten and 
Peab, two strong businesses in which 
the Group has significant holdings and 
involvement.  

We carried out a Group CEO transition 
in early 2015. I would like to extend a 

special thank you to the outgoing CEO 
Johan Lundsgård, whose leadership and 
commitment have left a positive and 
significant impression on our business. 
At the same time, I would like to  
welcome our incoming CEO Ulf 
Liljedahl, who was most recently CFO 
for the Husqvarna Group. Ulf Liljedahl 
now has the opportunity to further 
develop Volito AB.

In conclusion, I would like to express 
my gratitude and pride about the 
impressive work that all the staff has 
performed under such exceptionally 
difficult conditions. We are now in a 
stronger position than ever to be able 
to take all the opportunities that lay 
before us. 
 
Malmö February 2015 

 
Karl-Axel Granlund

Volito AB has implemented significant structural changes in recent years.  
These changes have now resulted in the business focusing on continued 
investments in industry and real estate, and in our major, long-term holdings.

Consolidation and strengthening

T

c o m m e n t s  f r o m  t h e  c h a i r m a n  o f  t h e  b o a r d
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The Volito Group’s overall objective 
is to create long-term, balanced value 
growth for the shareholders, both 
through current income from opera-
tional activities and value growth in 
the Group’s investments. The Group’s 
success is based on its staff members’ 
knowledge of their lines of business 
and their ability to assess and manage 
investments.

There are three business areas – Real 
Estate, Industry and Aviation – within 
the Group, which also has significant 
holdings and active ownership  
interests in listed companies.

Business Area Real Estate
Volito Fastigheter owns and manages 
commercial properties in the Malmö 
region. The portfolio comprises of 25 

properties, divided between offices, 
retail, industry and warehousing, with 
a total area of about 105 600 m2.

Business Area Industry
Volito Automation invests in well-
established industrial companies with 
long-term growth possibilities. The 
ambition is to build up a position in 
the Nordic countries as a leading 
supplier of hydraulic solutions. The 
parent company, Volito Automation, 
includes six companies with opera-
tions at nine locations in Sweden, 
Finland and Norway.

Business Area Aviation
Volito Aviation is a group that  
acquires, finances and leases out  
commercial aircraft worldwide.  
The fleet consists of 18 aircraft,  

which are owned by Ireland-based 
VGS Aircraft Holding (Ireland) Ltd – a 
joint venture between Volito Aviation 
and Goldman Sachs Group. The group 
is also involved in the management of 
aircraft for third parties.

Holdings in listed companies
Volito AB has significant holdings 
in two listed companies: Peab AB 
(5.6 % of the shares) and Bulten AB 
(20.9 % of the shares). Peab is one of 
the leading construction and civil 
engineering companies in the Nordic 
countries. Bulten is one of the largest 
producers of fasteners to the vehicle 
industry in Europe. The Volito Group 
has a committed and long-term owner-
ship philosophy involving continuous 
increases in holdings and active parti-
cipation in the companies’ boards.

strengthened relations with its 

business partners and streamlined 

cooperation within the group.  

A decision was taken to merge  

HydX and Hydro Swede in 2015.

Volito Aviation was favoured by the 

on-going recovery of the aviation and 

capital markets. The company’s third 

party transactions have developed 

positively. The reduction of the 

aircraft fleet continued. As part of the 

consolidation of the Volito Group, a 

decision was taken to divest Volito 

Aviation Services. The acquisition is 

to be completed in 2015. The Volito 

Aviation AB group reports a loss after 

financial items of SEK 11.3 million. 

At year-end, there were 18 aircraft 

in VGS Aircraft Holding (Ireland) Ltd 

with a book value of USD 384 million. 

Volito Aviation AB owned no aircraft 

at year-end.

Volito’s holdings in the two listed 

companies, Peab AB (5.6 % of the 

shares) and Bulten AB (20.9 % of the 

shares), developed very positively 

and were valued at year-end at a total 

of SEK 1 206.9 million. Volito’s shares 

in the aviation technology group 

CTT were divested. Peab AB (publ) 

achieved a very positive rise in value 

with an increase of 44 % (including 

paid dividend). During 2014, Volito AB 

increased its holding in Peab from  

5.1 % to 5.6 %. Bulten AB also 

achieved high value growth with a 

rise of 37 % (including paid dividend), 

and Volito AB increased its ownership 

share from 17.7 % to 20.9 %.

Our business areas

AVIATIONREAL ESTATE INDUSTRY
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t year-end 2014, the Volito Group’s 
adjusted equity amounted to SEK 
1 787.2 million, which represents 

an increase of 26 % (including paid 
dividend). The increase is mainly due 
to the positive value growth of our 
holdings in Peab AB (publ) and Bulten 
AB (publ), and the good value growth  
of our property portfolio. 

Business Area Real Estate continued 
to progress well in a cautious property 
market. Business Area Industry 
continued to win market shares and 
expanded the business according to 
plan with a new company start up in 
Norway. During the year, we divested 
our holding in CTT and carried out 
the first step in the two-step sale of 

Volito Aviation Services. The Volito 
Group has completed the consolidation 
of the last few years and reformed the 
Group for future initiatives. 

Business Area Real Estate
Volito Fastigheter sums up 2014 as a 
year of good financial results and good 
value growth. As opportunities for 
new acquisitions have been limited, 
Volito Fastigheter has focused the 
business on continued refinements,  
efficiency enhancements and optimi-
sation of operations. Two properties in 
Klagshamn were divested with an aim 
to further concentrate the portfolio.

The company has, in cooperation 
with tenants, carried out several 

successful renovations. Three major 
tenants had to close down, which 
meant that the vacancy rate was 
higher than normal.  Otherwise, 
there were good developments in 
rental operations: satisfactory rental 
rates, positive renegotiations and new 
clients. 

The development of Bara town centre 
continues in cooperation with Peab. 
A new building was completed in 2014 
that will house a library and modern 
sheltered housing apartments.

Volito Fastigheter made a profit after 
financial items of SEK 46.6 million. 
During 2014 the two properties  
Skytteltrafiken 2 and Lastbryggan 2 

Volito’s business areas and the Group’s holdings developed positively in 2014.  
Following the decision to divest Volito Aviation Services, the Group has taken a  
new direction with a strong focus on investments in Business Area Real Estate and  
Business Area Industry, as well as in our growing holdings in listed companies.

A

05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14

SEK million    The Volito Group, adjusted equity

Ulf Liljedahl
CEO, Volito AB

c o m m e n t s  f r o m  t h e  c e o

Reformed and 
strong, Volito  
aims for continued  
expansion”
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were sold. The market value of the 
property portfolio at year-end was 
SEK 2 306.9 million, which is an 
increase of 2 %. 

Volito Fastigheter has a healthy  
business displaying good continuity, 
and the company is well prepared  
for new acquisitions.

Business Area  Industry
Volito Automation had a very 
positive 2014 characterised by rising 
market shares and the start up of Hyd 
Partner in Norway. The Norwegian 
market is dominated by marine and 
offshore-related assignments, which 
means both growth opportunities 
and a broadening of our offering.

Relations with Volito Automation’s 
business partners were strengthened;  
examples included Hydratech’s 
newly signed distribution agreement 
with Parker Hannifin AB and the 
company’s newly established Parker-
Store. The group has signed a central 
distribution agreement with Scanreco 
AB, and Hyd Partner has initiated 
relations with several strong suppliers. 

Cooperation within the group has 
been streamlined by initiatives such 
as joint strategies for procurement 

and e-trading. HydX AB and Hydro 
Swede AB will merge in 2015. The 
company will be called HydX and 
operate from Ystad, Gothenburg 
and Stockholm, with headquarters 
in Ystad. The merger aims to refine 
two businesses with great similari-
ties. The strategy of building up the 
group from locally-based companies 
is unchanged.

The consolidated operating profit be-
fore depreciation (EBITDA) for 2014 
amounted to SEK 8.3 million (7.4).

Volito Automation is aiming for 
continued expansion, principally  
in Denmark. The group is also open 
to possibilities for new start ups  
to broaden the business to other  
disciplines within industrial  
automation.

Business Area Aviation
The on-going recovery of airlines 
continued to favour Volito Aviation. 
The company’s third party transactions  
developed positively and the business 
expanded due to several new contracts. 
Consolidation of the aircraft fleet 
continued in 2014. The owners of 
VGS took advantage of improved 
opportunities in the market and 
divested 11 aircraft. 

Towards the end of the year there 
was a strong focus on the divest-
ment of Volito Aviation Services, 
a transaction implemented in two 
steps. In November, Stellwagen, the 
parent company of Aviation Finance 
Company (AFC), headquartered in 
Dublin, acquired a share of 25 % 
in Volito Aviation Services. The 
acquisition is to be completed in 
early 2015.

Since the founding of Volito, aircraft 
leasing has played a central role  
in the Group’s development and  
corporate culture, and has been 
of significant importance for the 
Group’s growth. It is therefore  
satisfying that the business will  
have an opportunity for further  
development with an innovative  
and respected player such as  
Aviation Finance Company.

At year-end, VGS Aircraft Holding 
(Ireland) Ltd had a fleet of 18 aircraft 
with a book value of USD 384  
million. Volito Aviation AB  
owned no aircraft at year-end.

Holdings in listed companies
Volito has significant and active 
ownership interests in two listed 
companies, Peab AB (5.6 % of the 
shares) and Bulten AB (20.9 % of the 
shares). The Group has an ownership 
philosophy of active involvement 
oriented towards stable, long-term 
growth. The holdings are increased 
continuously and Volito AB is repre-
sented on the companies’ boards.  

The Volito Group has completed the  
consolidation of the last few years and  
reformed the Group for future initiatives”

The Volito Group, Ten-year summary

SEK million * 2014 * 2013 * 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Profit or loss after financial items 134.4 -165.7 -252.7 88.5 121.7 82.5 -28.4 600.9 144.5 79.0

Adjusted equity 1 787 1 435 1 253 1 539 1 771 1 465 1 121 1 518 1 273 935

Return on equity (%) 23.7 14.8 -19.2 4.2 5.8 0.3 -3.3 28.1 8.6 8.5

Adjusted equity ratio (%) 46 40 40 45 56 51 45 52 29 25

Assets 4 415 4 278 4 212 3 850 2 939 2 821 2 930 2 748 4 010 3 575

* From 2014 the consolidated financial statements are drawn up in  
accordance with IFRS. The comparison information for 2012 and 2013 has 
been recalculated according to the new principles. For further information, 
see Note 50, Explanatory notes relating to transition to IFRS.

Definitions
Adjusted equity
Reported equity attributable to the Parent company owner adjusted for  
market value of real estate and listed shares as well as deductions for  
deferred tax relating to these. For 2012-2014 this corresponds to equity  
attributable to the Parent company owner.  

Return on adjusted equity
Total comprehensive income for the year in relation to average adjusted equity.  

Adjusted equity ratio 
Adjusted equity including minority interests in relation to balance sheet total 
including surplus values.
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After a 20-year involvement, all shares 
in the aviation technology group, 
CTT, were divested in 2014. Volito’s 
sustained, long-term principal owner-
ship has, both strategically and finan-

cially, been of decisive importance for 
CTT’s development. It is with pride 
that we see CTT go forward together 
with the company’s new principal 
owner, BE Aerospace, a world-leading 
supplier of interiors and ventilation for 
commercial aircraft.

The total market value of the  
holdings in Peab AB and Bulten AB 
at year-end was SEK 1 206.9 million.

Peab AB (publ), one of the leading 
construction and civil engineering 
companies in the Nordic countries, 
is active within construction, civil 
engineering, industry and project 
development.  Volito is one of 
the company’s major owners. The 
business developed in a positive 
direction in 2014, as expected. The 
group reports increased turnover and 
improvements in financial results in 
several areas. The operating profit 
was SEK 1 783 million (593). One-off 
costs amounting to SEK 920 million 
affected the previous year’s financial 
results. Peab reported very positive 
value growth of 44 % (including 
paid dividend) in 2014. Volito AB 
increased its ownership in Peab from 
5.1 % at year-end 2013 to 5.6 % at 
year-end 2014.

Bulten AB, formerly FinnvedenBulten 
AB, is one of the biggest suppliers of 
fasteners to the vehicle industry in 
Europe.  During 2014, the company 
divested the Finnveden Metal  

Structures division to the US 
company, Shilo Industries Inc. The 
divestment is seen as being very  
successful, for reasons that include 
the development opportunities  
gained by the company’s employees, 
who are now part of Shilo Industries’ 
European operations. 

Bulten AB had a positive 2014 with 
very high organic growth and an 
increased inflow of orders. The sale 
of Finnveden Metal Structures has 
meant a focus on the growing market 
for fasteners, increased growth  
opportunities and stronger finances.  
The company completed its start 
up in Russia and continued to 
strengthen its global position.

The operating profit (EBIT) was 
SEK 133.4 million (109.2). Bulten AB 
achieved very positive value growth 
of 37 % (including paid dividend) 
during the year. Volito increased its 
holding in Bulten AB from 17.7 % at 
year-end 2013 to 20.9 % at year-end 
2014.

Outlook – a new platform
In 2012, the Volito Group began a 
major regrouping of the business in 
order to meet changing market 

conditions. The principal measures 
have meant reduced depreciation 
periods for assets in Volito Aviation 
(2012), writing down the equity 
interest in VGS Aircraft Holding 
(Ireland) Ltd (2013), and a continuous 
reduction of the aircraft fleet.  
In parallel with the consolidation 
of the aviation business, the Group 
has carried through the winding 
up of Business Area Structured 
Finance and Nordkap Bank, which 
was completed in 2014, when the 
remaining operations were divested. 
The decision in 2014 to divest Volito 
Aviation Services completes the 
Group’s change of direction. We have 
now considerably strengthened our 
possibilities to take action in the future 
and will now focus on continued 
investments in Volito Fastigheter 
and Volito Automation, as well as 
developing our holdings in listed 
companies. 

Ever since the start, Volito has 
strived to make the right decision at 
the right time. The changes in recent 
years illustrate the Group’s ability to 
take action and its capacity to  
be decisive, even in periods when 
there are setbacks. We are now in an 
exciting and optimistic period and 
I look forward with confidence to 
leading work on the further  
development of the Group.
 

Ulf Liljedahl
President and CEO

In the future we will focus on continued 
investments in Volito Fastigheter and  
Volito Automation, as well as developing 
our holdings in listed companies”

c o m m e n t s  f r o m  t h e  c e o
(continued)
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b u s i n e s s  a r e a

REAL ESTATE
Volito Fastigheter owns and manages commercial properties in the Malmö  

region. The business is characterised by a long-term approach, efficient property 

management, a high level of service and close relations with customers and 

partners. Volito Fastigheter has continuously developed its portfolio in order  

to strengthen its presence in the Malmö region’s most attractive areas.  

The aim is not to be the market’s biggest player, but to position the  

company as the best in terms of management and customer relations. 

Business Area Real Estate also contains Volito’s holdings in Peab AB (publ).
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Volito Fastigheter continued to refine and optimise its  
business in 2014. The company displays good continuity 
with positive financial results, satisfactory value growth 
and strong relations. Volito Fastigheter’s long-term  
strategy remains in place. The aim is to continue  
expansion in Malmö’s most coveted areas.

The property market remains stable, 
with limited room for manoeuvre. 

There are few transactions, a trend that 
continued in 2014. Our strategy is based 
on long-term and carefully selected  
investments in combination with a 
strong focus on good relations and  
satisfied customers.

Volito Fastigheter displays both stability 
and continuity with several good  
years on the books. As soon as we see 
opportunities to increase our portfolio 
within the framework of our strategy, 
those opportunities will be taken.  
While waiting for a more active market, 
we have focused on the continued  
refinement of our properties and the 
further consolidation of our business. 

A balanced portfolio
During the year we divested  
Skytteltrafiken 2 and Lastbryggan 2 

in Klagshamn with an aim to further 
concentrate our portfolio. All our 
properties now have addresses in Malmö, 
the majority in the very centre of the 
city, with others in attractive locations 
near industrial areas and access routes.

Refinement with a focus on our 
customers
A hallmark of our business is that we 
actively work to find and retain tenants 
who share our long-term view. This 
means we can do our very best to meet 
customers’ requirements regarding the 
properties’ location, fitness for purpose, 
equipment and decor. 

We are close to reaching our goal of total 
renovation at the Post House. Perstorp 
AB has moved in on the sixth floor  
following the modernisation of the entire 
floor. Among the enhancements, we have 
raised the ceiling, opened up the floor 

plan, replaced old inner walls with full 
glass walls and renewed all installations.

New agreements
At year-end 2014, Volito Fastigheter had 
a somewhat higher vacancy rate than 
normal, due to customers having to close 
down their businesses. Our assessment 
is that the vacancy rate will return to 
normal in the near future.

Rental rates are satisfactory. There  
were several positive renegotiations  
with tenants in 2014, including  
Advokatfirman Vinge. The law firm has 
a long history in our premises and in 
connection with the renewal agreement, 
we have, after close consultation, made a 
major investment that aims to adapt the 
premises to Vinge’s future needs. Cloetta 
AB has also renewed its agreement with 
a multi-year perspective regarding the 
sales operation’s head office.

Focus on refinement 
and customer relations

SEK million   Market value of real estate holding

Pelle Hammarström
CEO, Volito Fastigheter
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Our new customers include Erik Olsson, 
an estate agent that has chosen to  
establish both its showroom and office 
with Volito Fastigheter.

Regular optimisation of operations 
In 2013, we started to regularly review 
the running of our properties. That 
initiative has given us a number of 
insights, resulting in benefits such as 
reduced costs in 2014. Calibration of our 
energy system is now done continuously, 
partly in collaboration with external 
consultants. The work also includes the 
review and efficiency enhancement of 
our everyday routines.

Library and sheltered housing  
in Bara
The development of central parts of Bara 
in cooperation with Peab is continuing. 
In 2014, we began construction of a new 
building, which will house the new local 

library and 22 well-designed, state-of-
the-art sheltered housing apartments. 
Leasing arrangements are under way and 
the sheltered housing apartments will 
be ready to move into in the summer of 
2015. Svedala municipality will open its 
library at the same time.

Room for expansion
The profit after financial items for  
the year was SEK 46.6 million. Rental  
revenue was somewhat lower in 2014 than  
in previous years, which is attributable to 
the above-mentioned property sales and 
the bankruptcies of three of our major 
tenants. Interest rates were favourable 
during the year and it is our expectation 
that interest rates will remain low in 
2015.

Volito Fastigheter has a healthy business 
with a strong property portfolio, an  
efficient organisation and good financial 

results. The market is currently in  
wait-and see mode, but we are well  
prepared for continued expansion  
when opportunities arise.  

I would like to extend a special thank 
you to our customers and business  
partners and my colleagues for yet 
another favourable year with Volito 
Fastigheter.

The Volito Fastigheter AB Group, Three-year summary

SEK million 2014 2013 2012

Rental income 142.3 151.1 155.3

Profit after financial items 46.6 39.4 49.0

Equity 881.1 858.1 772.4

Real estate market value 2 307 2 311 2 240

Distribution by category and m2

Offices

Trade

Industry

Residential

School

Hotel

Restaurant

During 2014 the Group made the transition to drawing up consolidation financial statement in  

accordance with IFRS. The comparison information for 2012 and 2013 have been translated according 

to the IFRS. For more information, see Note 50,  Explanatory note relating to transition to IFRS.
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Property  Claus Mortensen 29
Address  Södergatan 16
Area  3 463 m2

Property  Söderhavet 5
Address  Elbegatan 5
Area  1 625 m2

Property  Sankt Peter 3
Address  Östergatan 30
Area 3 360 m2

Property  Laxen 23
Address  S Förstadsg 34
Area  7 476 m2

Property  Söderport 8
Address  Per Weijersg 4
Area  1 956 m2

Property Flygledaren 7
Address Höjdroderg 22
Area 1 971 m2

Property Ran 9
Address Jörgen Kocksg 1
Area 7 904 m2

Property Ran 4
Address Skeppsbron 3
Area 4 561 m2

Property Medusa 3
Address Carlsgatan 42
Area 1 300 m2

Property  Stjärnan 10
Address  Engelbrektsg 6
Area  920 m2

Property Runstenen 16
Address Käglingevägen 37
Area 3 068 m2

Property  Hamnen 22:2
Address  Jörgen Kocksg 3
Area  7 613 m2

Property Delfinen 17
Address S Förstadsgatan 4
Area 3 034 m2

Property Bronsdolken 26
Address Stenyxegatan 25B
Area 2 221 m2

Property Bronsdolken 26
Address Stenyxegatan 25A
Area 3 423 m2

Property Aegir 1
Address Carlsgatan 1
Area 7 724 m2

Property  Visenten 20
Address  S Förstadsg 26
Area  3 476 m2

Property Kupolen 3
Address Krossverksg 7–17
Area 10 037 m2

Property  Söderhavet 6
Address  Elbegatan 7
Area  1 406 m2

Property Ran 8
Address Skeppsbron 7
Area 1 084 m2

Property Hangaren 2
Address Flygplansg 1–3
Area 2 200 m2

Property Medusa 4
Address Carlsgatan 44
Area 7 201 m2

Property Flygkameran 2
Address Höjdroderg 7–9
Area 1 429 m2

Property Segeholm 10
Address Ågatan 1
Area 15 199 m2

Property Diana 28
Address Engelbrektsg 5
Area 902 m2
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Peab AB (publ), one of the leading 
construction and civil engineering companies 
in the Nordic countries, is active within 
construction, civil engineering, industry  
and project development. Volito has a  
long-term involvement in Peab and is  
one of the company’s biggest owners.

Peab, which is listed on Nasdaq OMX 
Stockholm (Large Cap), reported very positive 
share value growth of 44 % (including paid 
dividend) in 2014. The group’s turnover from 
operations amounted to SEK 43 820 million 
(42 765), an increase of 2 %. The operating 
profit was SEK 1 783 million (593). One-off 

costs amounting to SEK 920 million affected 
the previous year’s financial results.

The group reports an increase in turnover for 
2014 and expected improvements in financial 
results in several areas, partially due to the 
effect of the programme of measures the 
company initiated in 2013. The business has 
been positively affected by strong growth 
in new construction in Sweden and Norway, 
and by the strengthened housing market in 
Sweden, notably Stockholm.

A more selective project strategy has 
reduced the inflow of orders in the 

Construction and Civil Engineering business 
areas, while increasing the share of small 
and medium-size projects. The order book at 
year-end amounted to SEK 24.9 billion (28.2).

In 2015, Peab expects a continued high 
level of activity within house construction 
in Sweden, with a more subdued trend in 
Norway and Finland. The civil engineering 
market is deemed as stable in both Sweden 
and Norway, with a weak trend set to 
continue in Finland.

THE HOLDING IN PEAB AB

Greater efficiency, improved profitability 
and stronger financial position
Peab looks back on 2014 as a year in which the business developed in a positive direction, as expected.  
Favourable market conditions, in combination with the company’s thorough programme of measures,  
created a more stable and efficient business, improved profitability and strengthened Peab’s financial position.

“Advokatfirman Vinge was established 
in 1983 through a merger. The 
company that became Vinge’s 
business in Malmö was already in 
the building,” says Anders Forkman, 
Office Manager at Advokatfirman 
Vinge. “We have grown organically 
over the years, and the firm now 
occupies the whole building.”

The extensive alterations have been 
carried out in close cooperation 
with Volito Fastigheter and both 
companies’ architects and building 
contractors. Thanks to great 
commitment from all parties, it has 
been possible to do the work while 
conducting business as usual at the 
premises.  

“The aim was to tailor the building 
according to Vinge’s long-term 
needs,” says Pelle Hammarström, 
CEO of Volito Fastigheter. “We have 

carried out a thorough renovation 
that includes better layouts, new glass 
partitions, specially designed interiors, 
new fixtures and fittings, and the 
latest technology.”

“The building is part of our company 
image – and it has the perfect location 
close to the city centre and the City 

Tunnel,” says Anders Forkman. “Now 
we have more uniform environments 
and daylight reaches further into the 
premises. The old unused spaces have 
become natural meeting places and 
coffee break areas. It is good for both 
job satisfaction and efficiency.”  

”Sankt Peter 3” is Advokatfirman Vinge
The law firm, Advokatfirman Vinge, has had the same address for more than  
30 years, Sankt Peter 3, one of Malmö’s and Volito Fastigheter’s truly classic buildings. 
Now the property has been totally modernised and fully customised to meet the  
business needs of Vinge.
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 b u s i n e s s  a r e a 

INDUSTRY
Volito Automation invests in well-established industrial companies with 

long-term growth possibilities. The ambition is to build up a position in 

the Nordic markets as a leading supplier of hydraulic solutions. To achieve 

this, the aim is to create a structure of knowledge-intensive companies 

that together can offer complete sector coverage. The parent company 

Volito Automation includes: HydX with offices in Ystad, Gothenburg and 

Stockholm, Hydratech in Smålandsstenar, HydSupply with facilities in  

Örnsköldsvik and Skellefteå, Finnish company Hydrosystem with  

operations in Jyväskylä and Tammerfors, and Norwegian company  

Hyd Partner with offices in Krokkleiva.

Business Area Industry also contains Volito’s holdings in Bulten AB (publ.).
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Volito Automation sums up 2014 as a satisfactory year.  
The group has increased growth and continues to capture 
market shares, despite subdued market conditions in industry. 
Consolidation of the business continues and the group is 
fulfilling its expansion plans. Volito Automation entered the 
Norwegian market with the start up of Hyd Partner.

Volito Automation acquires  
and starts up companies within 

industrial automation. The group’s 
ambition is to be the market leader in 
the Nordic countries. Our philosophy 
has proved to be highly popular in the 
market, among both customers and 
suppliers. After four years, Volito  
Automation comprises of six strong 
subsidiaries focused on hydraulics 
within several application areas.

Hyd Partner established in Norway
Our strategy for expansion remains in 
place. Our current goal is to double the 
size of the business within a few years. 
In 2014, we established Hyd Partner 
in Norway together with well-known 
names in the Norwegian hydraulics  
sector. The new venture follows the 
same successful model as the group’s 

previous start ups. Around 85 % of the 
Norwegian hydraulics market consists 
of assignments for marine and offshore-
related operations, which means a 
broadening of the group’s expertise and 
considerable growth opportunities.

Future expansion
In the future, we will be looking for 
further opportunities for expansion, 
mainly in Denmark, but also in  
the countries where we are already 
established. At present, our subsidiaries 
are oriented towards hydraulics,  
but several areas within industrial  
automation are of interest. We are  
open to broadening our offering, for 
example within pneumatics, electronics, 
control and regulation technologies or 
robotic technologies.

Renewed Hydratech
Hydratech has carried out organisational 
changes and considerable restructuring  
in order to adapt the business to new 
market conditions. Due to these changes, 
Hydratech was able to increase its inflow 
of orders in the second half of 2014 and 
goes into 2015 with a strong order book. 

New collaboration
We continue to develop relations with 
our business partners. During the year, 
Hydratech signed a distributor agree-
ment with Parker Hannifin AB and  
also opened a ParkerStore. The group as  
a whole has signed a central distribution  
agreement with Scanreco AB for 
Sweden, Finland and Norway. We have 
also initiated relations with a number of 
new, strong suppliers in Norway. Volito 
Automation places great value on 

Growth, enhanced  
efficiency and continued 
Nordic expansion

Thomas Larsson
CEO, Volito Automation

The Volito Industry Group, unconsolidated,  
Four-year summary

SEK million 2014 2013 2012 2011

Revenue 209.8 206.6 190.3 113.0

EBITDA 8.3 7.4 5.0 4.0

Result before tax 0.4 15.5 -3.3 -1.5

During 2014 the Group made the transition to drawing up consolidation financial statement in  

accordance with IFRS. The comparison information for 2013 has been translated according to  

the IFRS. For more information, see Note 50,  Explanatory note relating to transition to IFRS.

Revenue, EBITDA and result before tax are calculated as a total of all the companies  

within Volito Industry, without adjustments for associated companies. Volito Automation  

owned 40 % of HydX in 2011 and 2012 and therefore the company was consolidated as an  

associated company in the formal annual report. In 2013 a further 11 % of the shares were  

acquired and the company has been consolidated as a subsidiary.



17

200

180

160

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

0
11 12 13 14

Oslo

Göteborg
Smålandsstenar

Ystad

Skellefteå

Jyväskylä

Tammerfors

Stockholm

Örnsköldsvik

IN
D

U
S

T
R

Y

external relations and sees partners as a 
central element of the business. We are 
convinced that in the long term we will 
continue to deepen partnerships with 
our suppliers.

An increasingly efficient 
organisation
In 2014, we continued to develop and 
streamline cooperation within the group. 
As a result of continuously rising sales, we 
are reviewing possibilities for joint pro-
curement and increased cooperation with 
our suppliers. During the year, we also 
started a joint strategy initiative for digital 
marketing and e-trading. Considering the 
complexity of our product system and the 
integration with our suppliers’ systems, 
such a launch involves major challenges. 
HydSupply is running a pilot project that 
will act a model for the entire group. 

HydX and Hydro Swede merge
HydX AB and Hydro Swede AB will 
merge during the first half of 2015. 
The merger, stemming from the great 
affinity between the companies, aims to 
bring together common resources and 
expertise in order to further enhance 
the effectiveness of our marketing. The 
new company will work under the name 
HydX AB from Ystad, Gothenburg and 
Stockholm, and be headquartered in 
Ystad. Our strategy of building up the 
group from locally-based companies is 
unchanged.

Continued optimism for 2015
Overall, the weak business climate in 
industry is continuing. The mining 
industry has been hit hard by falling 
mineral prices. Many companies are 
choosing to move their production 

operations overseas. Despite weak  
business conditions, Volito Automation  
is making great progress, both in 
terms of turnover and earnings. The 
consolidated earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA) for 2014 amounted to SEK 
8.3 million (7.4). 

We can sum up 2014 as a very satisfactory 
year. The group has an increasingly 
significant position in the Nordic market. 
The start up in Norway strengthens our 
conviction that our expansion plans are 
looked on with great interest. We look 
forward to continuing the development 
of Volito Automation in 2015. Now, we 
will continue looking for interesting 
partners and entrepreneurs who want 
to be involved and develop their ideas 
with us. 

SEK million    Total turnover
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We share the ownership 
and business concept with 

companies’ founders – it’s a significant 
factor in our successes,” says Thomas 
Larsson, CEO of Volito Automation. 
“We have started Hyd Partner with 
the company’s CEO Bent Hildre and 
Thor-Erik Varsla, Technical Director. 
Both have extensive experience of the 
Norwegian market.”

Around 85 % of the hydraulics market 
in Norway comprises of marine and 
offshore-related business, with a large 
part consisting of export assignments. 
For Volito Automation, this presents 
considerable growth opportunities and  
a broadening of the group’s expertise  
– a strength for the group as a whole.  

“Offices, workshops, warehousing and 
service facilities are now in place. We 
have established cooperation with 
strategic partners and are now focusing 
on marketing and further recruitment,” 

says Bent Hildre, CEO of Hyd Partner. 
“The aim is to make Hyd Partner one 
of Norway’s five largest players within 
hydraulics by 2017.”

New Norwegian start up, Hyd Partner, 
broadens the group’s offering
Volito Automation continues its expansion. On August 1, 2014, the group established the  
Norwegian company, Hyd Partner, which specialises in offshore-related hydraulics.  
The newly formed company follows the same successful model as the group’s previous  
start ups. Volito Automation is now represented in Sweden, Finland and Norway.

The Volito Group has a significant and active 
ownership in Bulten AB (publ). Bulten is one 
of the biggest suppliers of fasteners to the 
vehicle industry in Europe. The company 
has a broad offering consisting of standard 
products, technical leading-edge products, 
customised special-purpose fasteners, technical 
development, material and production 
expertise, logistics and the entire FSP concept. 

Bulten AB, formerly FinnvedenBulten AB, 
divested the Finnveden Metal Structures 
division to the US company, Shilo Industries 
Inc. Shilo is a supplier to vehicle producers 
and general industry, and Finnveden Metal 

Structures is now part of the group’s European 
business operations.

Listed on Nasdaq OMX Stockholm, Bulten AB 
achieved very positive share value growth of 
37 % (including paid dividend) during the year. 
The group’s net sales amounted to SEK 2 414.3 
million (1 805.9) and operating profit (EBIT) was 
SEK 133.4 million (109.2). Volito increased its 
holding in Bulten AB from 17.7 % at year-end 
2013 to 20.9 % at year-end 2014.

The company has achieved strong sales growth 
with a very good inflow of orders. Bulten AB 
has had a high rate of investment for some 

time, which is balanced to some extent by the 
conclusion of the company’s start up activities 
in Russia.

Bulten AB continues to win market shares and 
further strengthen its global position. The 
company is experiencing increased demand, 
despite a partially weakened vehicle market, 
and enters 2015 with great optimism and very 
solid finances. 

THE HOLDING IN BULTEN AB

Considerable sales growth and strong performance
Bulten AB (publ) reports a positive 2014 with very high organic growth and an increased inflow of orders.  
The sale of Finnveden Metal Structures has meant a focus on the growing market for fasteners, increased  
growth opportunities and stronger finances.
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b u s i n e s s  a r e a

AVIATION

Volito Aviation is a group that acquires, finances and leases out commercial  

aircraft. The internal resources of Volito Aviation bring together many years of  

experience in aircraft leasing with specialist expertise in areas such as law,  

marketing, administration, maintenance, financing and risk management.  

The company’s chief strength is the ability to build up a diversified and balanced 

fleet of aircraft. The group is also involved in the management of aircraft, both 

within the group and for third parties. Aircraft in the fleet are based all over the 

world and spread over a number of different markets. 
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A V I A T I O N  A B

It was a year of high activity for Volito Aviation involving 
over 30 transactions and the divestment of 13 aircraft.  
New servicing contracts continued the growth of third  
party business. The first stage of the agreed sale of Volito 
Aviation Services to Stellwagen Finance Company was  
executed in late 2014. The transaction is expected  
to be completed in 2015.

Improved market conditions continued 
to aid the recovery of the airline 

industry in 2014. Airlines benefitted in 
particular from the considerable drop in 
the price of oil, which in turn made the 
operating environment much easier for 
Volito’s aircraft leasing activities. 

However, towards the end of the year 
the business decisions of Volito Aviation 
became increasingly geared towards  
preparing for the impending sale of 
Volito Aviation Services (VAS), jointly-
owned by Volito Aviation AB (80%) 
and an affiliate of The Goldman Sachs 
Group, Inc. (20%). 

Stellwagen, the parent company of  
Aviation Finance Company Limited 
(AFC), headquartered in Dublin,  
acquired 25% of VAS in November  
2014 as part of a two-step deal. 

Sales of the remaining part of the 
aircraft fleet is proceeding according  
to plan and is expected to be  
completed in 2015.

Transactions in 2014 
Volito Aviation Services completed 33 
transactions in 2014. The majority of 
the aircraft in the fleet were refinanced 
during 2014, reducing the refinancing 
risk over the coming 2-3 years. 

Consolidation of the VGS fleet  
continued in 2014. The owners of VGS 
took advantage of improved conditions 
for selling aircraft and divested a total of 
11 aircraft. The two remaining aircraft 
in Swedish subsidiaries have been sold 
during 2014.

Third party business grows
Generating third party business  
continued to be a prime focus for Volito 
in 2014. Although an expected major 
order for the servicing of 38 aircraft did 
not materialise as planned in 2014, this 
was offset by the signing of a number of 
servicing contracts that maintained the 

Volito prepares  
for divestment of  
aviation operations

Siggi Kristinsson
CEO, Volito Aviation
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upward momentum of this emerging area 
of business. 

Fleet status and financial position 
At year-end the VGS fleet consisted 
of 18 narrow body aircraft with a book 
value of USD 384.2 million. Fleet-related 
liabilities amounted at year-end to USD 
161.4 million. 

VGS made a loss before tax of USD  
50.7 million. The Volito Aviation AB 
Group made a loss after financial items 
amounting to SEK 11.3 million. The 
Group reports VGS as a joint venture. 

The future 
Overall, the operating environment 
in 2014 was much better than 2013 for 
our existing core business and we made 
further progress in securing new third 
party transactions. 

I would like to take this opportunity 
to highlight the excellent work and 
commitment of my colleagues during 
2014, which has been a particularly busy 
and challenging year. I would also like 
to thank our customers, partners and 
owners for their continued support. 

Volito Aviation has played a key role in 
the development of the Volito Group 
since 2001. The completion of the  
acquisition by AFC in 2015 will signal 
the end of Volito Aviation as a business 
area within the Volito Group. 

Looking forward to 2015, I consider that 
the acquisition by AFC is a refreshing 
and exciting new beginning for our 
team. We have worked extremely well 
with AFC over the last two years and 
the acquisition clearly makes sense for 
both parties.

The Volito Aviation AB Group, Five-year summary

SEK (USD) million 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Revenues 97.9 (14.3) 87.3 (13.2) 114.9 (18.6) 106.2 (16.4) 102.0 (14.2)

Profit or loss before tax -85.5 (-12.5) -177.1 (-15.6) -241.3 (-29.7) 13.6 (4.3) 37.2 (6.9)

Return on equity, (%) -26.8 -15.4 -54.4 -1.2 3.0

Equity 247 (32) 203 (31) 237 (31) 463 (58) 460 (57)

Assets 564 (72) 780 (118) 1 010 (144) 1 360 (182) 1 117 (146)
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Administration report
The business in brief

The Group

Volito AB (556457-4639) is the Parent company in a Group that 

operates in the business areas Aviation, Real Estate and Industry. 

Aviation consists of Volito Aviation (aircraft leasing). Business Area 

Real Estate consists of Volito Fastigheter and Volito’s holding in Peab 

AB (publ). Business Area Industry includes the operating subsidiaries 

within industrial, mobile and marine hydraulics, as well as the Group’s 

holdings in Bulten AB (publ). Previously, the Group also ran operations 

within Business Area Structured Finance, which consisted of Volito’s 

ownership interest in Nordkap AG. This is now being wound up. 

 During 2014 the Group made the transition to drawing up 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS. The 

accounting principles contained in Note 1 have been applied when 

the consolidated financial statements were drawn up on 31 December 

2014, for the comparison information presented on 31 December 3013, 

and for the drawing up of the opening balance for the balance sheet on 

1 January 2013, which is the Group’s date of transition to IFRS. Note 50 

contains a summary explaining how the transition to IFRS has affected 

the Group’s financial results, financial position and cash flow including 

reconciliations of reported amounts before and after the transition to 

IFRS. The estimates that have been made in accordance with IFRS on 1 

January 2013 agree in all essential aspects with the estimates made in 

accordance with previous accounting principles at that time. 

Income

The Group’s net sales amounted to SEK 419.8 million (440.1), which 

is a 4.6 % decrease. The decrease is mainly attributable to Volito 

Aviation’s divestment of the two remaining aircraft in its own portfolio 

and that Volito Fastigheter divested two properties in 2013 and two 

properties in 2014.

 The operating profit was SEK 100.9 million (87.2). The capital gains 

from the sale of aircraft amounted to SEK 20.3 million. As a result of 

the aircraft divestments, depreciation costs decreased from SEK 19.3 

million in 2013 to SEK 4.6 million in 2014. 

 The growth trend of Volito’s property portfolio has in general been 

positive and the increase in value of the remaining properties was SEK 

45.9 million (38.9). The change in value relating to divested properties 

amounted to SEK -7.0 million (0.4).

 The Group’s pre-tax profit was SEK 126.3 million (-92.9). In 

December 2013 the Board decided write off the entire equity holding 

in VGS Aircraft Holding (Ireland) Ltd, which affected the result by SEK 

-164.7 million. There was a  further write-down in  2014 relating to the 

shareholders’ loan made to VGS of SEK 20.6 million. 

 In 2014 Volito acquired a further 673 056 shares in Bulten AB 

(publ) and the holding now amounts to 20.91 % of the capital and 

votes, which means that the company has been consolidated as 

an associated company. Income from the transaction amounted 

to SEK 111.8 million, of which SEK 39.0 million is attributable to 

changes in value relating to 2013, which were transferred from other 

comprehensive income.

 Interest swaps are used for protection against interest rate risks 

relating to Volito Fastigheter’s borrowing. These are valued at fair 

value in the balance sheet and unrealised changes in fair value of 

interest swaps of SEK -47.1 million (33.5) has been reported in the 

profit or loss for the year. 

Financial position and cash flow 

The Group’s financial position amounted to SEK 4 414.7 million  

(4 278.0) and equity relating to the Parent company’s owner 

amounted to SEK 1 787.2 million (1 434.9).

 The cash flow from operating activities generated a surplus of 

SEK 18.5 million (88.7). Investments in financial assets and tangible 

fixed assets amounted to SEK 164.4 million (115.8), mainly relating to 

the acquisition of additional shares in Peab AB (publ) and Bulten AB 

(publ) and ongoing renovations at the Central Post House. As a result 

of the sale of aircraft, properties (via a company) and repayment of 

the shareholders’ loan from VGS, the Group has nonetheless had a 

positive cash flow from investing activities of SEK 186.4 million (-72.5). 

The net outflow from financing activities of SEK -232.1 million (4.4). 

The total cash flow for the Group amounted to SEK -27.2 million (20.5).

The Parent company

The Parent company runs no operations of its own, but manages 

group-wide functions for administration and finance. The turnover 

of SEK 8.7 million (9.0) relates primarily to the sale of services to 

other companies within the Group. The loss after financial income 

and expense was SEK -74.8 million (-53.1). The result has been 

adversely affected by write-downs of both shares and receivables 

in subsidiaries, totalling SEK 92.5 million (70,6). In addition, other 

long-term receivables have been written down by SEK 6.1 million 

(0.1). Volito AB sold all its shares in CTT during the year, which only 

had a minor effect on financial results. Received group contributions 

amounted to SEK 86.4 million (23.0) and the pre-tax profit was  

SEK 8.0 million (-30.1).

Financial position and cash flow

The financial position amounted to SEK 1 307.7 million (1 321.7) and 

equity to SEK 569.9 million (589.4). The cash flow for the year was 

negative, SEK -3.1 million (3.1). During the year Volito AB invested SEK 

135.2 million (58.4) of which SEK 107.0 million relates to additional 

shares in Peab AB and Bulten AB. In addition, Volito AB made a loan to 

Volito Industry for the acquisition of further shares in subsidiaries. The 

sale of shares in CTT and repayment of  loans, mainly to subsidiaries, 

has generated a cash surplus of SEK 123.7 million. Net outflow from 

financing activities amounted to SEK -13.3 million, which for the most 

part is attributable to dividends paid to shareholders.

Aviation
Leasing – Volito Aviation AB group

Volito Aviation runs operations in the leasing of passenger aircraft in the  

narrow-body segment, mainly Boeing 737 and Airbus 319/320 aircraft.

 The company VGS Aircraft Holding (Ireland) Ltd. is jointly owned 

with Goldman Sachs and is based in Ireland. After many difficult years, 

the business climate eased for the aircraft leasing sector in 2013, and 

the positive trend continued in 2014. Airlines were favoured above 

all by the significant fall in the price of oil, which in turn had a positive 

effect on market conditions for Volito’s aircraft leasing activities. 

Eleven aircraft in the VGS fleet were divested and the fleet consisted of 

18 aircraft at year-end. The book value of the remaining aircraft at year-

end was USD 384 million (589) and liabilities to external lenders, linked 

to the fleet, amounted on the same date to USD 161 million (274). The 

two aircraft Volito Aviation AB owned via subsidiaries at the start of the 

year were sold and resulted in a capital gain of  SEK 20.3 million.

 The fleets of VGS and Volito Aviation are managed by the Volito 

Aviation Services group, a management company principally owned 

by Volito Aviation AB 60 % (80 %). On 13 November 2014, Volito 

Aviation sold 20 % of the shares in the Volito Aviation Services group 

to Stellwagen Finance Company Ltd (Stellwagen), the parent company 

of Aviation Finance Company Ltd (AFC). At the same time, Stellwagen 

acquired 5 % of the shares from Goldman Sachs. Stellwagen has the 

option to acquire the entire Volito Aviation Services group before 

the end of 2015. The sale of the remaining part of the aircraft fleet is 

proceeding according to plan and is expected to be completed during 

the first six months of 2015. 

 The Volito Aviation Services group signed a contract in early 2014 

with a third party concerning the management of 38 aircraft for 

deliveries in 2014-2019. This contract has not materialised.

Income

Volito Aviation’s turnover amounted to SEK 71.0 million (86.5), a 

decrease of 17.9 %, which is attributable to the sale of the two aircraft 

in its own fleet. The operating profit was SEK 18.6 million (-1.7), which 

was positively affected by the sale of the two aircraft as mentioned 

above by SEK 20.3 million and reduced depreciation costs. The loss 

after financial income and expense was SEK -11.3 million (-177.1). The 

Board decided in December 2013 to write off the equity interest in 

VGS, which resulted in a cost of SEK 164.7 million in 2013. There was a 

further write-down in 2014 relating to the shareholders’ loan of SEK 

20.6 million made to VGS.

Financial position and cash flow

The financial position amounted to SEK 564.0 million (780.2) and 

equity to SEK 246.5 million (203.3). The cash flow for the year was 

negative, SEK -15.6 million (4.3). Operating activities generated a 

negative cash flow of SEK -25.9 million (6.1), whereas the sale of 

aircraft and repayment of the shareholder’s contribution from VGS 

resulted in a positive cash flow of SEK 263.1 million (26.6). Repayment 

of loans, both to external creditors and to holdings with non-

controlling interest amounted to SEK -252.8 million (-28.4).
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Real Estate
Volito Fastigheter AB group

Volito Fastigheter is involved in the trade and management of real

estate in the Öresund region, with a focus on commercial properties in

the Malmö region.

 In value terms, the real estate market has remained relatively stable

during the year. The market value of Volito’s property portfolio

was assessed by an external party at year-end and was set at SEK  

2 306.9 million (2 311.0). Adjusted for divestments, acquisitions and 

ongoing rebuilding work, this represents an increase in value for the 

remaining portfolio of SEK 45.9 million, which corresponds to 2.0 % 

compared with the previous year-end. 

 Rebuilding work at the Central Post House is virtually complete. 

The total investments during the year amounted to SEK 39.7 million 

(53.7). In 2014 Volito divested the properties Skytteltrafiken 2 and 

Lastbryggan 2. The sale price amounted to SEK 62.0 million. The 

properties were valued at SEK 69.0 million at year-end 2013 and have 

thereby affected the result negatively by SEK 7.0 million.

 The vacancy rate increased somewhat and at year-end was just over  

15 % (11 %). However, Volito deems that the vacancy rate will 

normalise in the near future. 

 The development of central areas of Bara continued in cooperation 

with Peab. In 2014 Volito began the construction of a new building 

that will house the local library and 22 well-designed, state-of-the-art 

sheltered housing apartments, and will be ready to move into in the 

summer of 2015.

Income

Volito Fastigheter’s turnover amounted to SEK 142.3 million (151.0), 

which is a decrease compared to the previous year. The decrease is 

mainly attributable to divested properties, but also to a high vacancy 

rate and rent losses due to bankruptcies. The operating profit 

amounted to SEK 91.4 million (94.7). 

 The profit after financial income and expense, changes in value for 

the year of investment properties and derivatives amounted to SEK 

38.5 million (120.3). The net change in value of properties has affected 

the result positively by SEK 38.9 million (39.2). Volito Fastigheter 

use interest swaps as protection against interest risks relating to 

borrowing. These are measured at fair value in the balance sheet and 

unrealised changes in the fair value of interest swaps, SEK -47.1 million 

(33.5), are reported in the profit or loss for the year. 

Financial position and cash flow

The balance sheet total was SEK 2 412.0 million (2 415.3) and equity 

amounted to SEK 881.2 million (858.1). The cash flow for the year 

was negative, SEK -8.0 million (8.0). Operating activities generated 

a positive cash flow of SEK 29.7 million (58.7). The year’s net 

investments amounted to SEK -9.7 million (-22.7) and repayment of 

loans amounted to SEK -19.0 million (-19.0). Volito Fastigheter has 

submitted a dividend to Volito AB of SEK 9.0 million for both 2013  

and 2014.

Other holdings – Peab AB (publ)

Peab is active in the construction and civil engineering field in the 

Nordic countries. The company’s shares are listed on Nasdaq OMX 

Stockholm (Large Cap). 

 In 2014 Volito acquired 1 500,000 Class A shares in the company 

and thereafter the holding amounted to 16 600,000 shares 

(previous year 15 100,000) of which 15 100,000 Class B shares, which 

corresponds to 5.61 % of the capital and 4.98 % of the votes. For 

Volito, the holding in Peab AB is of a strategic character. Volito has 

had a well-developed partnership with Peab for a number of years. 

Cooperation between Volito Fastigheter and Peab has become even 

closer through projects such as the development of Bara town centre. 

Volito Fastigheter is involved in the shaping of this project and is 

responsible for the marketing and management of newly built rented 

apartments and commercial premises.

 The value of the holding in Peab increased in 2014. The market 

value of Volito’s total holding at year-end was SEK 912.2 million 

(594.2), which represents an increase of 44.2 % (adjusted for the year’s 

acquisitions and considering received dividends of SEK 29.9 million) 

for the year. 

Industry
Volito Industry AB group

Volito Industry, via the subgroup Volito Automation, acquires and 

starts up companies within industrial automation. The group’s 

ambition is to be the market leader in the Nordic countries. After four 

years, Volito Automation comprises of six strong subsidiaries focused 

on hydraulics within several application areas.

 The operations of Volito Automation cover a large number of 

sectors with end customers in many different markets. This means the

group is relatively unaffected by fluctuations in business cycles and

unforeseen events in the markets.

 The weak business climate in Europe continued. The mining 

industry was hit hard by falling mineral prices. Many companies are 

choosing to move their production operations overseas. Despite 

weak business conditions, Volito Automation is making progress, in 

terms of both turnover and income. Volito Automation’s increasingly 

extensive cooperation with Danfoss Power Solutions has contributed 

to the group’s growth. The Norwegian company Hyd Partner A/S 

was established in 2014. The new venture follows the same model as 

previous start ups. Around 85 % of the Norwegian hydraulics market 

consists of assignments for marine and offshore-related operations, 

which means a broadening of the group’s expertise and considerable 

growth opportunities.

 Volito AB owns 91 % of the shares and Johan Lundsgård owns the

remaining 9 % in the Volito Industry group.

Income

Volito Industry’s turnover amounted to SEK 209.8 million (205.7), 

which is an increase compared to the previous year. The operating 

profit was SEK 5.7 million (4.9). Volito Industry has generated a pre-

tax profit of SEK 2.5 million (17.6). In connection with the transition 

of HydX from an associated company to a subsidiary, the previous 

participations were revalued in accordance with IFRS 10, and the 

profit, SEK 15.7 million, is reported in the profit or loss for the year, 

2013.

Financial position and cash flow

The financial position amounted to SEK 148.9 million (133.1) and equity 

to SEK -3.6 million (17.9). At the end of the year, a further 44 % of HydX 

was acquired and Volito’s holding thereafter amounted to 95 %. This 

type of acquisition is reported in accordance with IFRS as a transaction 

between the Parent company’s owner (in retained earnings) and 

holdings with non-controlling interest. Consequently, no goodwill 

arises in this transaction, which is the reason why the equity of the 

Industry group has decreased. The cash flow for the year was negative, 

SEK -0.5 million (5.1). Operating activities generated a negative cash 

flow of SEK -5.1 million (7.4). The year’s investments amounted to SEK 

17.5 million (6.8), which were financed by net borrowing of SEK 22.1 

million (4.5).

Other holdings 

CTT Systems AB (publ)

Volito AB divested its entire holding in CTT during 2014. 

Bulten AB (publ)

The company develops and runs operations that offer products, 

technical solutions and systems in metallic materials, primarily to 

customers in the vehicle industry. Bulten has a good financial position 

and focuses on strategic investments in the vehicle industry. The 

company has achieved strong sales growth with a very good inflow of 

orders. The business has had a high rate of investment for some time, 

which is balanced to some extent by the conclusion of the company’s 

start up activities in Russia.

 Volito increased its holding in Bulten in 2014 and at year-end owned 

20.9 % (17.7) of the capital and votes. The company was thereby 
consolidated as an associated company from 2014.

 At year-end the quoted share price for Bulten was SEK 67.00 (50.25) 

per share, which represents an increase of 37.3 % (including dividend 

of SEK 2 per share) for the year.

 The Volito Group’s income relating to the holding in Bulten 

amounted to SEK 111.8 million, of which SEK 39.0 million related to 

changes in value to year-end 2013, which was transferred from other 

comprehensive income.
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Structured Finance
Nordkap AG

Nordkap AG has been run for many years as a Swiss business bank

specialising in structured financing solutions. Volito AG owns 40 % of

shares in Nordkap Holding AG. Since Nordkap AG cancelled its bank

licence in 2012, it has no longer operated as a bank. The board of 

Nordkap Holding AG decided in 2013 to wind up the operations of 

Nordkap AG. The most part of Nordkap’s loan portfolio was liquidated 

in 2013 and only a small part remained in 2014.

 The holding in Nordkap Holding has been written down and at year-

end a receivable of SEK 36.4 million remained. There was a write down 

of this receivable during the year of SEK 11.2 million.

Other holdings
Volito has ownership shares in AB Nordsidan, EQT VI Ltd, Nya Bara 

Utvecklings AB, Bear Stearns Venture Partner LP and a number of 

different small companies. The combined value of these holdings at 

year-end was SEK 35.6 million (18.3).

Important events after the reporting period
There have been no important events in the new year.

Expectations concerning future developments
The Group

Volito Aviation has played a significant role in the development of 

the Volito Group since 2001. A major regrouping of the business was 

initiated in 2012 in order to meet changing market conditions. The 

main measures include a reduced depreciation period for aircraft 

in Volito Aviation (2012), a write-down of the holding in VGS Aircraft 

Holding (Ireland) Ltd (2013), and a continuous reduction of the aircraft 

fleet. The completion of AFC’s acquisition of Volito Aviation Services 

in 2015 will mark the end of both aviation-related activities and the 

business area within the Volito Group. 

 In parallel with this, the Group has carried out the winding up of the 

Structured Finance business area and Nordkap Bank. 

 The Volito Group’s focus in future will be on continued investments 

in Volito Fastigheter and Volito Industry, and the development of 

Volito’s holdings in listed companies.

 Volito Fastigheter has a healthy business with a strong property 

portfolio, an efficient organisation and good financial results. The 

market is currently in wait-and see mode, but when opportunities 

arise, Volito is well prepared for continued expansion.  

 Overall, the weak business climate in the hydraulics industry is 

continuing. Despite this, the strategy for Volito Industry is to double 

the size of the business within a few years. Volito Industry is looking 

for further opportunities for expansion, mainly in Denmark, but also 

in the countries where the group is already established, as well as in 

new areas such as pneumatics, electronics, control and regulation 

technologies or robotic technologies.

Group information
The company is a subsidiary of AB Axel Granlund, org.nr  

556409-6013 with registered office in Malmö. AB Axel Granlund  

owns 86.0 % (83.6 %) of the capital and votes in the Volito Group and 

draws up consolidated financial statements for the largest group.

Information on risks and uncertainty factors
The Group

Volito’s income, cash flow and financial position is affected by a 

number of factors that are to varying degrees influenced by the 

company’s own actions.

Risk management 
Management of the operational risks is a continuous process. 

The operational risks are managed within the organisation by 

the respective business areas. The financial risks are linked to the 

operations’ tied up capital and capital requirements, mainly in the 

form of interest rate risks and refinancing risks. 

Material risks
Volito Aviation owns aircraft, which are leased to different lessees. An 

aircraft’s value can fluctuate over time and the Group bears the risk 

relating to what the aircraft is worth at the time of a future sale. This 

risk is managed by continuous analysis of both the market for aircraft, 

and of potentially suitable times for selling aircraft.

Changes in the value of properties depend mostly on Volito 

Fastigheter’s own ability, through changes and refinements to 

properties as well as agreement and customer structures, to increase 

the properties’ market value, and partly on external factors that 

affect property supply and demand. In general, property value is less 

volatile for concentrated portfolios of property in good locations. 

Volito’s properties are predominately concentrated in the central 

and most expansive parts of Malmö. Most of Volito’s long-term 

rental agreements contain an index clause that means annual 

rental adjustments based either on changes in the consumer price 

index or on a fixed percentage increase. Property valuations are 

calculations made according to established principles based on 

certain assumptions and which affect the Group’s financial results 

considerably. For more information on property valuations, see the 

Valuation principles section on page 43 and Note 22. 

Credit risks
Credit risks refer to the risk of losing money due to another party being 

unable to fulfill their obligations. 

Vacancy risks and credit risks in accounts receivable – trade  

Volito Aviation bears risks relating to the lessees’ credit rating in the 

form of leasing payments that are to be made during the period of the 

lease, and to other contractual obligations in the leasing agreement.

If the lessee does not fulfill their obligations according to the leasing 

agreement, the Group may need to recover the aircraft, which is often 

associated with one-off costs. Risk management in this case is carried 

out through continuous credit analysis of the respective lessees.

 Demand for premises is affected by general business conditions. 

Volito Fastigheter’s activities are concentrated in Malmö, which 

is deemed to be attractive in the long term regarding location, 

population growth, employment and general communications. A 

broad portfolio of contracts reduces the risk of large fluctuations in 

vacancies. Leases are divided between commercial properties (97 %)  

and residential (3 %). The commercial rental income is divided 

between 127 contracts within a number of different sectors. A 

combination of good local knowledge, active involvement and a high 

level of service creates conditions for long-term rental and thereby a 

reduced risk of new vacancies. A certain level of vacancies provides 

opportunities in the form of new leases and flexibility for existing 

tenants who want to expand or reduce their premises. Furthermore, 

Volito Fastigheter bears the risk that tenants are unable to make rent 

payments. Regular follow-ups are carried out on the tenants’ credit 

ratings in order to reduce exposure to credit losses. A credit rating 

of tenants is carried out for all new leases, and, if required, the rental 

agreement is complemented with personal guarantees, rent deposit 

or bank guarantee. All rents are paid quarterly or monthly in advance. 

 Within Volito Industry, risks are linked to project management. 

Many projects are customised and Volito bears the risk that customers 

cannot fulfill their obligations. Customers make advance payments on 

major projects in order to reduce the risk of credit losses.

Financial risks
In its business activities, the Volito Group is exposed to various types 

of financial risks. Financial risks relate to changes in exchange rates 

and interest rates that affect the company’s cash flow, income and 

thereby associated equity. The financial risks also include credit and 

refinancing risks.

 Exposure applying to the different operations is presented 

quarterly to the respective companies’ boards, which make current 

decisions regarding financial risk management based on the market 

situation and macroeconomic information, see Note 44.

Liquidity and financing risks

Liquidity and financing risks refer to risks of not being able to fulfill 

payment obligations as a result of insufficient liquidity or difficulties 

in arranging new loans. Volito shall be able to carry through business 

transactions when the opportunity arises and always be able to fulfill 
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its obligations. Refinancing risks increase if the company’s credit 

rating deteriorates or a large part of the debt portfolio becomes due 

on a single, or relatively few, dates. 

 Liquidity risks are managed through both regular liquidity forecasts 

and Volito’s access to credit or liquid assets that can be raised at short 

notice in order to even out fluctuations in the payment flow. 

 Borrowing risks refer to risks that financing is unavailable or 

available on unfavourable conditions at a certain time. In order to 

limit financing risks, Volito strives to spread final due dates regarding 

credit over the longest possible period allowed by prevailing market 

conditions.  

 Part of Volito’s borrowing is linked to fulfilling financial ratios 

(covenants) in the form of interest coverage ratio and equity/assets 

ratio that the Group shall achieve, which is customary for this type of 

loan. These ratios are followed up continuously and make up a part of 

the management’s framework for financial planning of the business. 

Volito fulfilled these ratios by a good margin at year-end. 

Currency exposure

In its business activities, the Volito Group is exposed to risks relating to 

exchange rate changes, principally through its involvement in aircraft 

leasing. Income from the leasing business is set and paid in USD. This 

exposure is counterbalanced to a large degree in that interest and

amortisation are similarly USD-based. In 2014 Volito Aviation divested 

the two remaining aircraft in its own fleet. The board decided in 

December 2013 to write down its equity interest in VGS to zero. 

 The results of VGS are reported as participations from joint 

ventures. Translation differences relating to translation of VGS and 

overseas subsidiaries are reported in other comprehensive income. 

 The Volito Group’s holding in Nordkap AG is partly hedged against 

changes in the CHF exchange rate through certain borrowings in CHF. 

However, a certain amount of the holding is exposed to changes in the 

CHF exchange rate.

 The Board of Volito has decided to accept the exposure to USD and 

CHF according to the above, as this exposure in itself constitutes a risk 

diversification within the Volito Group. The extent of this exposure will 

be decided according to continuous review.

Interest rate exposure

The Volito Group is exposed to changes mainly in short-term interest 

rates through its involvement in the Volito Fastigheter AB group. The 

Parent company, Volito AB, also has risk exposure relating to short-

term interest rates. Volito’s policy regarding interest rates is that fixed 

rate terms for the portfolio shall be well balanced and adjusted to the 

company’s prevailing view of the interest rate market at that time. 

 Interest costs are the largest single cost item for Volito. How much 

and how fast a change in interest rates makes an impact on financial 

results depends on the chosen fixed interest term. A rise in interest 

rates is often initiated by higher inflation. In commercial rental 

contracts, it is normal that the rent is index-adjusted upwards for 

inflation. 

 A combination of loans with short fixed interest terms and 

utilisation of financial instruments in the form of interest rate swaps 

enables flexibility to be achieved, and the fixed interest term and 

interest rate level can be adjusted so that the aim of the financing 

activity can be achieved with limited interest rate risk. This is without 

underlying loans needing to be renegotiated. In order to manage 

the interest rate risks and achieve even development of net interest 

income, the average fixed interest term for Volito’s interest-bearing 

debts has been adjusted according to the assessed risk level and 

interest rate risk expectations. Interest rate derivatives are valued at 

fair value. If the agreed interest for the derivative deviates from the 

expected future market interest rate during the derivative’s duration, 

a change in value arises that affects the company’s balance sheet 

and income statement, but not the cash flow. The risk reduction in 

interest payments from longer fixed interest terms often creates a 

larger risk in derivative value, due to the time factor. When the term of 

the derivative has expired, the value of the interest rate derivative is 

always zero. 

 Overall, the Volito Group’s total loans exposed to short-term 

interest rates amount to SEK 1 215.2 million (1 228.2). Hedging relating 

to 62.8 % of the debt portfolio of the Volito Fastigheter AB group is 

managed with swaps, something that gives the company a higher 

degree of flexibility in terms of future debt management. 

The nominal amount of Volito Fastigheter’s outstanding interest rate 

swaps at year-end was SEK 764.3 million (809.3). At year-end the fixed 

interest rates varied from 2.09 % (2.09 %) to 3.99 % (3.99 %) and the 

floating interest rates are STIBOR 3-months with a supplement for a 

margin relating to borrowing in SEK.

Refinancing risks
The Volito Group depends on a functioning credit market. The Group 

has a need to continuously refinance parts of its business, see Note 

41. The Group has a satisfactory equity ratio and loan capacity. It is 

therefore Volito’s assessment that there is at present no problem 

concerning the credit that is due for refinancing.

Taxes 
Volito’s current tax expense is lower than the nominal tax on the 

pre-tax profit or loss, which is due to higher fiscal depreciation in 

properties than in the accounts, unrealised changes in value that are 

not included in the fiscal result, and that property divestments have 

been in company form, and are thereby tax-free. Political decisions 

regarding changes in corporate taxation, tax legislation or their 

interpretation can lead to changes in Volito’s tax situation. 

Operational risks
Good internal control procedures for important processes, fit for 

purpose administrative systems, competence development and 

reliable valuation models and principles are methods for reducing 

operational risks. Volito works continuously to monitor, evaluate and 

improve the company’s internal control procedures. 

Information on non-financial income indications
Volito’s employees

The Volito Group is a relatively small organisation that handles large 

amounts of capital. Therefore the well-being and development of 

the Group’s employees are of vital importance for the long-term 

prosperity of the Group. Volito uses employment conditions as a 

competitive factor for attracting suitable, people with the right set 

of skills. Different events are regularly organised within the Group’s 

various companies to further strengthen team spirit and company 

loyalty. 

Proposed allocation of the company’s profit
The Board of Directors and CEO propose that the unappropriated

earnings, SEK 304 902 259.29 is allocated as follows (SEK K):

Dividend, [2 440 000 * SEK 9.50 per share] 23 180

Retained earnings carried forward 281 723 

Total 304  903

The Group’s equity has been calculated in accordance with the 

EU-developed IFRS standards and interpretations of these, and in 

accordance with Swedish law through the application of the Swedish 

Financial Accounting Standards Council reporting recommendation 

RFR 1 Supplementary accounting rules for groups. 

 The Parent company’s equity has been calculated in accordance 

with Swedish law through the application of the Swedish Financial 

Accounting Standards Council reporting recommendation RFR 2 

Accounting for legal entities. The proposed dividend reduces the 

Parent company’s equity ratio from 44 % to 42 %. The equity ratio is 

prudent, in view of the fact that the company’s activities continue to 

operate profitably. Liquidity in the Group is likewise expected to be 

maintained at a similarly stable level.

 The Board’s understanding is that the proposed dividend will not 

hinder the company in carrying out its obligations in the short or long 

term nor from conducting necessary investments. The proposed 

dividend can thus be seen in accordance within ABL chapter 17,  

section 3, paragraph 2-3 (prudence principle).

 For further information on the company’s income and position, 

refer to the subsequent income statements and statements of 

financial position, and related notes to the financial statements.
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Consolidated income statement and other 
comprehensive income for the group

Note Amounts in SEK K 2014 2013

3 Net sales 419 774 440 109

5 Other operating income 28 896 1 760

6 448 670 441 869

Operating expenses

Raw materials and consumables -126 498 -123 923

7, 10 Other external expenses -80 219 -81 667

8 Personnel expenses -129 989 -123 822

9 Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible fixed assets -10 350 -24 667

11 Other operating expenses -735 -619

Operating profit 100 879 87 171

Profit or loss from financial income and expense

12 Profit or loss from participations in group companies -209 -39

13 Profit or loss from participations in joint ventures -20 573 -164 663

14 Profit or loss from participations in associated companies 101 756 -45 527

15 Profit or loss from other financial income and expense 24 585 29 402

16 Interest income and similar income 6 742 7 669

17 Interest expense and similar expenses -78 761 -79 747

Profit or loss after financial items 134 419 -165 734

4 Changes in value of investment properties 38 918 39 276

18 Changes in value of derivatives -47 059 33 524

Profit or loss before tax 126 278 -92 934

19 Taxes -3 489 -24 039

Holdings with non-controlling interest 8 708 142 849

Profit for the year 131 497 25 876

20 Other comprehensive income

Items that have been or will be reclassified into profit or loss for the year

Translation differences for the year from translation of foreign operations 87 898 -1 822

Translation differences transferred to profit or loss for the year 39 –

Changes in fair value for the year of financial assets available-for-sale 256 911 171 037

Changes in fair value of financial assets available-for-sale transferred to profit -51 620 –

or loss for the year

Participations in associated companies’ other comprehensive income 8 112 3 476
Tax attributable to profit or loss items that have been, or can be, transferred to profit
or loss for the year -589 -138

Holdings with non-controlling interest -50 850 266

Other comprehensive income for the year 249 901 172 819

Total comprehensive income for the year 381 398 198 695

Profit for the year attributable to;

Shareholders in Parent company 122 789 -116 973

Holdings with non-controlling interest 8 708 142 849

Profit for the year 131 497 25 876

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Shareholders in Parent company 423 540 55 580

Holdings with non-controlling interest -42 142 143 115

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 381 398 198 695
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Note Amounts in SEK K 2014-12-31 2013-12-31 2012-12-31

ASSETS

Fixed assets

21 Intangible assets 49 644 49 465 27 097

22 Investment properties 2 306 900 2 311 000 2 239 600

23 Industrial premises 5 006 5 084 5 453

24 Aircraft – 141 073 160 334

25 Machines and other technical fixed assets 3 226 2 308 1 091

26 Equipment, tools and installations 21 274 20 010 10 853

27 Fixed assets under construction and advances regarding tangible fixed assets 25 710 6 419 11 388

29 Receivables from parent company – 5 279 –

30 Participations in joint ventures – – 164 723

31 Receivables from joint ventures 544 137 603 047 629 776

32 Participations in associated companies 313 104 9 077 18 962

33 Receivables from associated companies 36 397 64 843 86 373

34 Other long-term securities holdings 929 440 844 048 633 838

35 Deferred tax assets 13 410 25 254 24 418

36 Financial leasing agreements 28 681 29 535 30 340

37 Other long-term receivables 21 999 28 119 30 133

Total fixed assets 4 298 928 4 144 561 4 074 379

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 45 565 37 449 24 340

44 Accounts receivable – trade 30 041 22 420 29 834

Receivables from group companies 5 474 4 521 192

Receivables from joint ventures 5 454 3 372 13 557

Receivables from associated companies – – 26 105

Tax receivables 4 682 8 688 13 290

Other receivables 7 153 10 971 6 004

38 Prepaid expenses and accrued income 6 920 9 198 7 375

Short-term investments – – 930

39 Cash and bank balances 10 520 36 793 15 850

Total current assets 115 809 133 412 137 477

TOTAL ASSETS 4 414 737 4 277 973 4 211 856
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Note Amounts in SEK K 2014-12-31 2013-12-31 2012-12-31

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

40 Equity

Share capital 244 000 244 000 244 000

Other contributed capital 21 005 21 005 21 005

Reserves 565 878 265 127 92 574

Retained earnings including profit or loss for the year 956 324 904 784 895 721

Equity attributable to shareholders in Parent company 1 787 207 1 434 916 1 253 300

Holdings with non-controlling interest 226 379 267 758 421 099

Equity 2 013 586 1 702 674 1 674 399

Liabilities

41, 44 Liabilities to credit institutions 1 330 179 1 447 639 1 512 756

45 Other long-term liabilities 31 769 54 906 52 845

35 Provisions for deferred tax 176 351 185 679 166 834

Total long-term liabilities 1 538 299 1 688 224 1 732 435

41, 44 Liabilities to credit institutions 609 898 577 384 502 284

42, 44 Bank overdraft facilities 143 384 183 518 184 545

Advances from customers 3 966 4 855 1 160

Accounts payable – trade 32 093 28 568 21 606

Liabilities to group companies 47 5 478 640

Liabilities to joint ventures 1 286 – 7 330

Current tax liabilities 5 111 8 307 8 246

Other liabilities 10 700 8 848 13 214

46 Accrued expenses and deferred income 56 367 70 117 65 997

Total short-term liabilities 862 852 887 075 805 022

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 4 414 737 4 277 973 4 211 856
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Report on changes in equity for the group

Amounts in SEK K
Share  

capital

Other  
contributed 

equity

Foreign 
exchange 

reserve

Available-
for-sale 
reserve

Retained 
earnings 

including 
profit or 

loss for the 
year Total

Holdings 
with non-

controlling 
interest Total equity

EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 244 000 21 005 – – 429 028 694 033 421 099 1 115 132

Effect of change in accounting principles

Fair value of investment properties 662 788 662 788 – 662 788

Fair value of swaps -83 806 -83 806 – -83 806

Fair value of shareholdings for sale 92 574 199 92 773 – 92 773

Other changes -2 567 -2 567 – -2 567

Tax -109 922 -109 922 – -109 922

Adjusted equity at 31 December 2012 244 000 21 005 – 92 574 895 720 1 253 299 421 099 1 674 398

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year 25 877 25 877 -142 849 -116 972

Other comprehensive income -1 822 174 375 266 172 819 -266 172 553

Total comprehensive income for the year – – -1 822 174 375 26 143 198 696 -143 115 55 581

Transactions with Group owners 

Contributions from and value transfer to owners

Dividends -17 080 -17 080 – -17 080

Repayment of shareholders’ contribution – – -12 756 -12 756

New share issue in jointly-owned subsidiaries – – 450 450

Total contributions from and value 
transfer to owners – – – – -17 080 -17 080 -12 306 -29 386

Changes in ownership interest, subsidiaries
Acquisition of jointly-owned subsidiaries,  
non-controlling interest previously – – 2 080 2 080

Total transactions with Group owners – – – – -17 080 -17 080 -10 226 -27 306

EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2013 244 000 21 005 -1 822 266 949 904 783 1 434 915 267 758 1 702 673

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year 131 497 131 497 -8 708 122 789

Other comprehensive income 87 937 212 814 -50 850 249 901 50 850 300 751

Total comprehensive income for the year 87 937 212 814 80 647 381 398 42 142 423 540

Transactions with Group owners 

Contributions from and value transfer to owners

Dividends -14 640 -14 640 – -14 640

Repayment of shareholders’ contribution – – -75 476 -75 476

Total contributions from and value  
transfer to owners – – – – -14 640 -14 640 -75 476 -90 116

Changes in ownership interest, subsidiaries

Acquisition of jointly-owned subsidiaries -20 485 -20 485 -2 026 -22 511

Divestment of jointly-owned subsidiaries,

controlling interest remains   6 019 6 019 -6 019 –

Total transactions with Group owners – – – – -29 106 -29 106 -83 521 -112 627

EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 244 000 21 005 86 115 479 763 956 324 1 787 207 226 379 2 013 586
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Consolidated pledged assets and contingent liabilities

Amounts in SEK K 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

Pledged assets

For own liabilities and provisions

Property mortgages 1 346 208 1 408 988

Chattel mortgages 32 500 32 500

Shares 1 088 572 834 788

Shares in subsidiaries 881 158 858 125

Aircraft mortgages – 87 850

Leasehold Mosippan 29 535 30 340

Blocked bank account – 8 000

Other 1 005 7 534

Total pledged assets 3 378 978 3 268 125

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees for associated companies 20 000 20 000

Other guarantees 956 1 413

Other contingent liabilities 50 50

Total contingent liabilities 21 006 21 463
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the group

Amounts in SEK K 2014 2013

Operating activities

Profit or loss after financial income and expense 134 419 -165 734

Adjustments for items not requiring an outflow of cash -99 259 233 262

35 160 67 528

Income taxes paid -625 -1 491

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 34 535 66 037

Cash flow from changes in working capital

Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in inventories -7 414 -4 033

Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in current receivables -10 722 28 780

Increase(+)/Decrease(-) in current liabilities 2 115 -2 130

Cash flow from operating activities 18 514 88 654

Investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries -16 200 -4 900

Divestment of subsidiaries 26 889 7 464

Acquisition of intangible fixed assets – -768

Acquisition of tangible fixed assets -44 188 -5 028

Divestment of tangible fixed assets 122 105 533

Acquisition of investment properties -158 -52 850

Divestment of investment properties – 9 300

Investments in financial assets -120 152 -57 876

Divestment/reduction of financial assets 218 101 31 582

Cash flow from investing activities 186 397 -72 543

Financing activities

Repayment to holdings with non-controlling interest -68 018 -12 912

Proceeds from borrowings 89 253 137 889

Amortisation of borrowings -238 726 -109 734

Dividends paid -14 640 -10 807

Cash flow from financing activities -232 131 4 436

Cash flow for the year -27 220 20 547

Liquid funds at start of the year 36 793 15 850

Exchange rate differences in liquid funds 947 396

Liquid funds at year-end 10 520 36 793
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Supplement to consolidated statement of cash flows

Amounts in SEK K 2014 2013

Interest paid and dividends received

Dividends received 38 558 29 536

Interest received 2 094 4 731

Interest paid -74 872 -76 806

Adjustments for items not requiring an outflow of cash

Less: Profit participations in associated companies -101 756 210 190

Depreciation and write-downs of fixed and intangible assets 8 599 23 288

Depreciation and write-downs 29 240 910

Unrealised exchange rate differences -14 529 -818

Capital gains or losses from divestment of fixed assets -20 897 -46

Capital gains or losses from divestment of businesses/subsidiaries 45 -262

Other non-cash items 39 –

-99 259 233 262

Transactions that do not involve payments

Acquisition of assets partly through a sales promissory note that has been issued 10 800 –

Acquisition of assets through financial leasing 2 448 –

Acquisition of subsidiaries and other business units

Acquired assets and liabilities:

Intangible fixed assets – 5 364

Tangible fixed assets – 3 904

Inventories – 8 661

Operating receivables – 12 976

Liquid funds – 109

Total assets – 31 014

Holdings with non-controlling interest – 2 080

Loans – 5 143

Operating liabilities – 17 080

Total provisions and liabilities – 24 303

Purchase price 27 000 5 009

Less:  promissory notes -10 800 –

Purchase price paid 16 200 5 009

Less: Liquid funds in the acquired businesses – -109

Effect on liquid funds (minus=increase) 16 200 4 900

Divestment of subsidiaries and other business units

Divested assets and liabilities:

Tangible fixed assets 62 000 8 765

Operating receivables 108 605 340

Liquid funds 125 60

Total assets 170 730 9 165

Loans 41 010 –

Operating liabilities 1 285 8 337

Total provisions and liabilities 42 295 8 337

Purchase price 27 014 7 524

Less: Liquid funds in the divested operations -125 -60

Effect on liquid funds (minus=increase) 26 889 7 464

Liquid funds

The following components are included in liquid funds:

Cash and bank balances 10 520 36 793

Unutilised credit facilities

Unutilised credit facilities amount to SEK 73.9 million (54.0).
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Income statement for the Parent company

Note Amounts in SEK K 2014 2013

3 Net sales 8 715 9 001

5 Other operating income 517 34

9 232 9 035

Operating expenses

7, 10 Other external expenses -11 162 -10 049

8 Personnel expenses -12 026 -8 514

9 Depreciation on tangible and intangible fixed assets -442 -462

11 Other operating expenses -404 -2 307

Operating loss -14 802 -12 297

Profit or loss from financial income and expense

12 Profit or loss from participations in group companies -83 122 -59 267

14 Profit or loss from participations in associated companies 8 452 –

15 Profit or loss from other financial income and expense 24 585 29 402

16 Other interest income and similar incom 6 734 8 949

17 Interest expense and similar expenses -20 249 -19 904

Loss after financial income and expense -78 402 -53 117

Appropriations

Group contributions, received 86 446 22 983

Profit or loss before tax 8 044 -30 134

19 Taxes -12 935 -734

LOSS FOR THE YEAR -4 891 -30 868
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Financial position for the Parent company

Note Amounts in SEK K 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets

26 Equipment, tools and installations 3 460 3 855

3 460 3 855

Financial fixed assets

28 Participations in group companies 491 892 493 212

29 Receivables from group companies 60 074 93 642

32 Participations in associated companies 196 452 5 063

34 Other long-term securities holdings 455 585 575 485

35 Deferred tax assets 9 007 21 942

37 Other long-term receivables 21 999 27 999

1 235 009 1 217 343

Total fixed assets 1 238 469 1 221 198

Current assets

Accounts receivable – trade 1 11

Receivables from group companies 64 741 87 679

Tax receivables 320 320

Other receivables 643 5 711

38 Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1 122 1 709

66 827 95 430

39 Cash and bank balances 2 391 5 091

Total current assets 69 218 100 521

TOTAL ASSETS 1 307 687 1 321 719
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Financial position for the Parent company

Note Amounts in SEK K 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

40 Equity

Restricted equity 

Share capital (2 440 000 Class B shares at nominal SEK 100) 244 000 244 000

Legal reserve 21 005 21 005

265 005 265 005

Non-restricted equity

Proposed dividend 23 180 14 640

Retained earnings 286 614 340 662

Loss for the year -4 891 -30 868

304 903 324 434

569 908 589 439

Long-term liabilities

41 Liabilities to credit institutions 478 837 493 871

478 837 493 871

Short-term liabilities

41 Liabilities to credit institutions 128 000 70 200

41, 42 Bank overdraft facilities 86 913 112 384

Accounts payable – trade 576 309

Liabilities to group companies 36 793 52 731

Other liabilities 2 388 321

46 Accrued expenses and deferred income 4 272 2 464

258 942 238 409

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1 307 687 1 321 719

A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T



38

Report on changes in equity for the Parent company

Amounts in SEK K
Share  

capital
Legal 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Profit or 
loss for 

the year
Total 

equity

EQUITY, 31 DECEMBER 2012 244 000 21 005 386 358 -13 976 637 387

Appropriation of profits -13 976 13 976 –

Loss for the year -30 868 -30 868

Dividend -17 080 – -17 080

EQUITY, 31 DECEMBER 2013 244 000 21 005 355 302 -30 868 589 439

Appropriation of profits -30 868 30 868 –

Loss for the year -4 891 -4 891

Dividend -14 640 – -14 640

EQUITY, 31 DECEMBER 2014 244 000 21 005 309 794 -4 891 569 908

Pledged assets and contingent liabilities for the Parent company

Amounts in SEK K 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

Pledged assets

For own liabilities and provisions

Shares 548 505 567 852

Shares in subsidiaries 312 014 312 014

Other 1 005 4 064

Total pledged assets 861 524 883 930

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees for group companies 67 612 97 519

Guarantees for associated companies 15 377 15 377

Other guarantees 676 –

Other contingent liabilities 50 50

Total contingent liabilities 83 715 112 946
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Cash flow statement for the Parent company

Amounts in SEK K 2014 2013

Operating activities

Loss after financial income and expense -78 402 -53 117

Adjustments for items not requiring an outflow of cash 98 098 70 023

19 696 16 906

Income taxes paid – –

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 19 696 16 906

Cash flow from changes in working capital

Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in inventories – 3

Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in current receivables 3 572 8 293

Increase(+)/Decrease(-) in current liabilities -1 612 211

Cash flow from operating activities 21 656 25 413

Investing activities

Acquisition of tangible fixed assets -47 -9

Investments in financial assets -135 151 -58 376

Divestment/reduction of financial assets 123 749 6 923

Cash flow from investing activities -11 449 -51 462

Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 80 142 93 729

Amortisation of borrowings -78 788 -53 755

Dividends paid -14 640 -10 807

Cash flow from financing activities -13 286 29 167

Cash flow for the year -3 079 3 118

Liquid funds at start of the year 5 091 1 975

Exchange rate differences in liquid funds 379 -2

Liquid funds at year-end 2 391 5 091

Supplement to the cash flow statement for the Parent company

Amounts in SEK K 2014 2013

Interest paid and dividends received

Dividends received 47 558 38 536

Interest received 4 633 6 763

Interest paid -18 982 -19 183

Adjustments for items not requiring an outflow of cash

Depreciation and write-downs of fixed assets 442 462

Other write-downs 98 627 70 665

Unrealised exchange rate differences -391 -666

Capital gains or losses from divestment of financial fixed assets -580 -438

98 098 70 023

Liquid funds

The following components are included in liquid funds:

Cash and bank balances 2 391 5 091

Unutilised credit facilities

Unutilised credit facilities amount to SEK 56.8 million (42.6).
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Accounting principles and notes to the accounts
Amounts are in SEK thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Note 1  Significant accounting principles
Agreement with standard-forming and laws
The consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) issued by International Accounting Stan-
dards Board (IASB) as well as interpretations from IFRS Interpretations Committee 
such as have been enacted by the EU. Furthermore, the consolidated financial state-
ments have been drawn up in accordance with the Swedish Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Council recommendations RFR 1 Supplementary accounting rules for groups. 
These financial statements are the first full financial statements that the Group has 
drawn up in accordance with IFRS. Until the fiscal year 2013, the Group had drawn up 
the group accounts in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the re-
commendations and pronouncements of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards 
Council. In connection with the transition from the previously applied accounting 
principles to accounting in accordance with IFRS, the Group has applied IFRS 1, which 
is the standard that describes how the transition to IFRS is to be accounted for. The 
estimates that have been made in accordance with IFRS for 1 January 2013 agree with 
the estimates that have been made in accordance with previous accounting principles 
at that time. None of the obligatory exceptions that are stated in IFRS 1 are relevant 
for the Group in the transition from previous accounting principles to IFRS. For the 
Group’s application of optional exceptions that are stated in IFRS 1, see Note 50.

The Parent company’s annual accounts are drawn in accordance with the same  
principles as the Group’s with the exception of cases noted below in the section  
”The Parent company’s accounting principles”.

The accounting principles in this note have been applied for the annual accounts 
drawn up on 31 December 2014 and for the comparison information on 31 December 
2013 and in the drawing up of reports for the period’s financial position (opening 
balance) on 1 January 2013 (the Group’s date for transition to IFRS). Note 50 provides 
a summary with explanations concerning how the transition has affected the Group’s 
financial profit or loss and position, and the reported cash flows. 

Below is a description of the accounting principles that the Group applies from  
1 January 2013. 

The group accounts and annual accounts of Volito AB (Parent company) for the fiscal 
year 2014 were approved by the Board and CEO on 27 February 2015 and will be 
presented to the Annual General Meeting on 12 March 2015 for adoption. The Parent 
company is a Swedish limited company with registered office in Malmö.

Valuation basis applied in the drawing up of the Parent 
company’s and Group’s financial statements
 Assets and liabilities are reported at historical acquisition value, except investment 
properties and certain financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value. 
Financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value comprise of derivative 
instruments and available-for-sale financial assets.

Functional currency and reporting currency
The Parent company’s functional currency is SEK, which is also the reporting currency 
for the Parent company and the Group. This means that the financial statements are 
presented in SEK. All amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise 
stated. 

Assessments and estimates in the financial statements
Drawing up the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the company 
management to make assessments and estimates as well as assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting principles and the book amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. These assessments are based on experience and the various 
assumptions that the management and Board deem to be reasonable under the 
prevailing circumstances. Conclusions from this process form the basis for decisions 
relating to book values of assets and liabilities, in those cases where they cannot be 
established by information from other sources. The actual outcome can differ from 
these assessments if other assumptions are made, or if conditions change. 

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly. Changes in estimates are reported 
in the period the change is made, if the change affected only that period, or in the 
period when the change is made and future periods, if the change affects both current 
and future periods. 

Assessments made by company management in the application of IFRS that have a 
significant effect on the financial statements and applied estimates, and which can 
entail significant adjustments to the following year’s financial statements, are covered 
in Note 2. 

Significant applied accounting principles
The accounting principles outlined below, with the exceptions that are described in 
detail, have been applied consistently for all periods that are presented in the Group’s 
financial statements. The Group’s accounting principles has also been consistently 
applied by the Group’s companies, regarding associated companies and joint ventu-
res, when necessary through adjustment to the Group’s principles. 

Changes applied from 1 January 2014
A number of new standards and changes in interpretation of existing standards that 
came into effect on 1 January 2014 have been applied in the drawing up of the Group’s 
financial statements. None of these new standards and interpretations has a signifi-
cant effect on the Group’s financial statements. 

Changes to come into effect in 2015
A number of new standards and changes in interpretation of existing standards that 
come into effect during the forthcoming fiscal year have not been applied in the 
drawing up of the Group’s financial statements. None of these are expected to have a 
significant effect on the Group’s financial statements with the exception of the inter-
pretations and standards described below. 

IFRIC 21, state levies, means that state levies shall be entered as a liability in their 
entirety when the obligation arises. Property tax is a state levy and arises for those 
owning a property on 1 January of the respective year, For Volito, this means that the 
entire property tax liability will be accounted for at an earlier stage than in previous 
years. Volito will apply IFRIC 21 from the fiscal year beginning 1 January 2015. 

Classification, etc
Fixed assets, long-term liabilities and provisions essentially consist only of amounts 
that are expected to be recovered or paid after more than 12 months calculated from 
accounting year-end. Current assets and short-term liabilities consist essentially only 
of amounts that are expected to be recovered or paid within 12 months calculated 
from accounting year-end.

Consolidated financial statements
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements cover the Parent company Volito AB and 
its subsidiaries, which are all companies in which the Parent company, directly or 
indirectly, has a controlling influence. A controlling influence exists if Volito AB has 
influence over investments, is exposed to, or has the right to variable returns from its 
involvement and can use its influence over investments to affect the returns. In an  
assessment of whether a controlling interest exists, attention is paid to potential  
shares with voting entitlement and whether actual control exists. 

Subsidiaries are reported according to the acquisition method. The method means 
that the acquisition of the subsidiary is considered as a transaction from which the  
Parent company indirectly acquires the assets of the subsidiary and takes over its  
debts. The group-wise acquisition value is established through an acquisition analysis 
in connection with the acquisition, The analysis establishes the acquisition value for 
the shares, as well as the fair value on the acquisition date of the acquired identifiable 
assets, taken over liabilities and any holdings with non-controlling interest on the  
acquisition date. Transaction expenditure, with the exception of transaction  
expenditure relating to issue of equity or debt instruments, is reported directly  
in profit or loss for the year. 

In the acquisition of businesses where the transferred remuneration, any holding with 
non-controlling interest and the fair value of previously owned shares (in multi-stage 
acquisitions) exceed the fair value of the acquired assets and taken over liabilities, the 
difference is reported as goodwill, When the difference is negative, so-called acquisi-
tion at low price, this difference is reported directly in the profit or loss for the year. 
Transferred remuneration in connection with the acquisition does not include pay-
ments relating to regulation of previous business connections, This type of regulation 
is usually reported in profit or loss for the year.

Conditional purchase prices are reported at fair value from the acquisition date. In 
cases where the conditional purchase price is classified as an equity instrument, no re-
valuation and regulation is reported in equity. For other conditional purchase prices, 
revaluation is done for each reporting period and the change in value is reported in 
profit or loss for the year.

In cases where the acquisition does not relate to 100 % of the subsidiary, a holding 
with a non-controlling interest is created. There are two alternatives for reporting 
holdings with non-controlling interest. These two alternatives are to report the 
holding with non-controlling interest’s share of proportional net assets, or that the 
holding with non-controlling interest is reported at fair value, which means that the 
holding with non-controlling interest has a share in goodwill. The choice between the 
two methods for reporting a holding with non-controlling interest can be made from 
acquisition to acquisition. 

Ownership of a company that increases through acquisitions on several occasions 
is reported as a multi-step acquisition. In a multi-step acquisition that results in a 
controlling interest, the previously acquired shares are revaluated based on the fair 
value of the latest acquisition and the arising profit or loss is reported in profit or loss 
for the year. 

Acquisitions from holdings with non-controlling interest
Acquisitions from holdings with non-controlling interest are reported as a transaction 
within equity, i.e. between the Parent company’s owner (within retained earnings) and 
the holding with non-controlling interest. Therefore, no goodwill arises from these 
transactions. Changes in holdings with non-controlling interest are based on the pro-
portional share of net assets. 

Sales to holdings with non-controlling interest
Sales to holdings with non-controlling interest, in which the controlling interest re-
mains, are reported as a transaction within equity, i.e. between the Parent company’s 
owner and the holding with non-controlling interest. The differences between the 
received liquidity and the holding with non-controlling interest’s proportional share 
of acquired net assets is reported under retained earnings. 

If the reduction in ownership is to the extent that a controlling interest is lost, this is 
considered to correspond to a divestment of the subsidiary. The effect is reported in 
profit or loss for the year and consists of capital gains or losses from the divested as-
sets and liabilities and a revaluation effect on the remaining holding, which is valued 
at fair value on the divestment date with the change in value reported in profit or loss 
for the year.
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When the acquisition of subsidiaries means the acquisition of net assets that do not 
consist of a business, the acquisition cost is divided between the single identifiable  
assets and liabilities based on their fair value on the acquisition date. 

The subsidiaries’ financial statements are taken into the consolidated financial state-
ments from the day the controlling interest arises and is included in the consolidated 
financial statements until the day it ceases. 

Joint ventures
Joint ventures in accounting terms are those companies for which the Group, through 
cooperation agreements with one or more parties, has a joint controlling interest over 
operational and financial management. From the point when the joint controlling 
interest is gained, shares in joint ventures are reported in accordance with the equity 
method in the consolidated financial statements. 

Associated companies
Associated companies are those companies for which the Group has a significant inte-
rest, but not a controlling interest, over operational and financial management, gene-
rally through shareholdings with between 20 % and 50 % of the votes. From the time 
that the significant influence is gained, shares in the associated company are reported 
in accordance with the equity method in the consolidated financial statements. 

The equity method
The equity method means that the value of ownership shares in joint ventures and 
associated companies reported in the Group corresponds to the Group’s share in the 
joint venture company’s or associated company’s own equity, as well as group-wise 
goodwill and any other residual value in the group-wise surplus value or under value. 
The Group’s participation in the respective companies’ profit after tax and expen-
ses adjusted for any amortisation, write-downs or resolution of acquired surplus 
or under value is reported in the profit or loss for the year under ”Participations in 
joint ventures’ profit or loss” and “Participations in associated companies’ profit or 
loss”. These profit participations less received dividends from joint ventures and as-
sociated companies make up the main changes in the book value of participations in 
joint ventures and associated companies. The Group’s share of other comprehensive 
income in associated companies is reported in a separate line in the Group’s other 
comprehensive income.

Any difference at the time of acquisition between the acquisition value of the holding 
and the owner companies share of the fair value net of joint ventures’ and associated 
companies’ identifiable assets and liabilities is reported in accordance with the same 
principle as the acquisition of subsidiaries. 

Transaction expenditure, with the exception of transaction expenditure relating  
to issue of equity or debt instruments, is included in the acquisition value.

When the Group’s share of reported losses in joint ventures and associated compa-
nies exceeds the book value of the shares in the Group, the value of the ownership 
share is reduced to zero. Settlement for losses is also applied for long-term financial 
dealings without security, which in their economic meaning make up part of the  
owner company’s new investment in the associated company. Continued losses are 
not reported, provided that the Group has not made guarantees to cover losses  
arising in the joint venture and associated company.

The equity method is applied until such point as the significant interest ceases.

Acquisition of property via a company
A company acquisition can be regarded as either an asset acquisition or a business 
acquisition. Company acquisitions whose primary aim is to gain the companies’ 
properties and in which the companies’ property management organisation and ad-
ministration has a subordinate importance for the acquisition’s implementation, are 
generally treated as asset acquisitions. Company acquisitions in which the acquired 
company’s property management organisation and administration has a great im-
portance for the acquisition’s implementation and valuation, are generally treated as 
business acquisitions.

In the case of asset acquisitions, no deferred tax is reported on the properties’ surplus 
value, any discount attributable to the deferred tax instead reduces the property 
value. In valuations at fair value, the property value is adjusted after the acquisition 
date with the received discount. In the case of business acquisitions, the deferred 
tax is reported with the valid nominal tax on the property’s surplus value and other 
temporary differences attributable to the acquired assets and liabilities. The company 
acquisitions regarding property that have occurred since the formation of the Group 
have been treated as asset acquisitions. 

Translation of foreign subsidiaries or other overseas businesses
Assets and liabilities in overseas businesses, including goodwill and other group-wise 
surplus value or under value are translated from the overseas businesses’ functional 
currency to the Group’s reporting currency, SEK, at the exchange rate at accounting 
year-end. Income and expenses in an overseas business are translated to SEK at an 
average exchange rate that constitutes an approximation of the exchange rate on the 
respective transaction date. Translation differences that arise in currency translation 
of overseas businesses are reported in other comprehensive income and accumula-
ted in a separate component in equity, called the foreign exchange reserve. In cases 
where an overseas business is not wholly owned, the translation difference is alloca-
ted to holdings with non-controlling interest based on the proportional ownership 
share. 

If an overseas business is divested, the accumulated translation differences attribu-
table to the business are reclassified from the foreign exchange reserve in equity to 
profit or loss for the year. 

When a controlling interest, significant interest or joint controlling interest ceases 
for an overseas business, the accumulated translation differences attributable to the 
business are realised and reclassified from the foreign exchange reserve in equity to 
profit or loss for the year. In cases where divestment occurs, but a controlling interest 
remains, the proportional share of the accumulated translation differences is  
transferred from the foreign exchange reserve to holdings with a non-controlling 
interest. In cases where parts of an associated company or joint venture have been  
divested, but significant influence or joint controlling interest remain, the proportional 
share the translation differences is reclassified to profit or loss for the year. 

Accumulated translation differences relating to overseas businesses are presented 
as a separate capital category and contain translation differences accumulated from 
1 January 2013. Accumulated translation differences before 1 January 2013 are stated 
as zero at the transition date to IFRS.

Acquisitions made before 1 January 2103 (transition date to IFRS)
In the case of acquisitions completed before 1 January 2013, goodwill has, after write-
down appraisal, been reported at an acquisition value that corresponds to the book 
value in accordance with previously applied accounting principles. Classification and 
reporting of business acquisitions that occurred before 1 January 2013 have not been 
reviewed in accordance with IFRS 3 in the drawing up of the Group’s opening balance 
in accordance with IFRS on 1 January 2013. 

Elimination of transactions on consolidation
Intra-group receivables and liabilities, income or expenses and unrealised profits or 
losses that arise from intra-group transactions between group companies are elimi-
nated in full in the drawing up of consolidated financial statements. Unrealised profits 
deriving from transactions with associated companies and joint ventures are elimina-
ted to the extent that corresponds to the Group’s ownership share in the companies. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised profits, providing that 
there is no write-down requirement.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate on the transaction date. The functional currency is the currency in the 
primary economic environments where the company runs its operations. Monetary 
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at accounting year-end. Exchange rate differences arising from 
translation are reported in profit or loss for the year. Non-monetary assets and liabi-
lities that are reported at historical acquisition value are translated at the exchange 
rate on the transaction date. Non-monetary assets that are reported at fair value are 
translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the time of measurement 
of fair value. 

Exchange rate differences regarding operating receivables and operating liabilities 
are reported in the operating profit or loss, whereas exchange rate differences re-
lating to financial assets and liabilities are reported as profit or  loss from financial 
income and expense.  

Income
Rental income
Rental income from property management is announced in advance and taken up as 
income in the period it applies to. Rental income includes invoiced supplements such 
as electricity, heating and property tax. In cases where a tenant is allowed a reduced 
rent during one period and a higher rate during another, it is accrued in the respective 
under or over rent linearly over the period of the contract, provided the rent reduc-
tion is not due to moving in in stages or similar. Income in connection with prematu-
rely settled rental contracts is recognised as income immediately, provided there are 
no remaining obligations to the tenant. Income from property sales is reported when 
the significant risks and benefits associated with ownership of the property have been 
transferred to the buyer, and it is then probable that the economic benefits associated 
with the sale will be gained by Volito. This generally means that reporting takes place 
when the buyer takes over the property.

Rental contracts relating to investment properties are considered as operational 
leasing agreements. These agreements are reported in accordance with the principles 
for income accounting above. Volito has one property that is leased out through a 
financial leasing agreement, see Note 36.   

Leasing income
Leasing income relating to aviation activities is reported in the same way as rental 
income from investment properties described above. 

Sales of goods, execution of service assignments and other income
Reporting of income other than rental and leasing income from property manage-
ment and aviation activities is done in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue. Income from 
sales of goods is reported in the profit or loss for the year when significant risks and 
benefits associated with ownership of the goods has been transferred to the buyer. 
Income from service assignments is reported in the profit or loss for the year based 
on the degree of completion at year-end. The degree of completion is determined 
through an assessment of completed work on the basis of progress checks. Income 
is not reported if it is probable that the economic benefits will not be gained by the 
Group. 

Income is reported at the fair value of what has been received, or is expected to be 
received, with deduction of granted discounts.
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Leasing 
Leasing is classified in the consolidated financial statements as either financial or 
operational leasing. It is considered to be financial leasing when the economic risks 
and benefits associated with ownership in all significant aspects are transferred to the 
lessee. If this is not the case, it is a matter of operational leasing.

Operational leasing agreements
Expenses relating to operational leasing agreements in which the Group is the lessee 
are reported in profit or loss for the year linearly over the leasing period. Benefits 
gained in connection with the signing of an agreement are reported in the profit or 
loss for the year linearly over the duration of the leasing agreement. Variable fees are 
reported as expense in the period they arise.

Income relating to operational leasing agreements in which the Group is the lessor 
are reported linearly over the duration of the leasing agreement. Expenses that arise 
as a result of the leasing agreement are reported when they arise. 

Financial leasing agreements
Assets that are hired in accordance with financial leasing agreements are reported as 
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position at the lowest of the leasing 
object’s fair value and present value of future minimum leasing fees. The leased  
assets are written off during their economic period of utilisation in the same way as  
Group-owned assets. The obligation to pay future leasing fees is reported as long-
term and short-term liabilities. Minimum leasing fees are divided between interest 
expense and amortisation on the outstanding liability. Interest expenses are assigned 
with an amount that corresponds to a fixed interest rate for reported liabilities during 
the respective period. Variable fees are reported as expenses in the periods they arise. 

Expense
The income statement is structured in an expense category form.
 
Property expenses
The term property expenses covers all expenses for the investment properties. This 
includes direct property expenses as well as expenses for operation, maintenance, 
ground rent and property tax. The term also covers indirect property expenses, such 
as expenses relating to renting out and property administration. 

Financial income and expense
Financial income consists of interest income on invested funds (including available-
for-sale financial assets) dividend income, profit on divestment of available-for-sale 
financial assets, profit from changes in value of financial assets measured at fair value 
via profit and loss as well as such profits on hedging instruments that are reported in 
profit or loss for the year.

Financial expense consists of interest expenses on loan, unrealised and realised 
losses on financial investments and derivative instruments used within financial 
activities. 

Interest income is taken up as income in the period it concerns. Dividends on shares 
are reported in the period that the right to receive payment is deemed as certain.

Interest costs affect profit and loss in the period they concern, except to the extent 
they are included in an asset’s acquisition value, and reported with the application 
of the effective rate method. An asset for which the interest can be included in the 
acquisition value is an asset that of necessity takes a significant time to complete for 
intended use or sale. Activation of borrowing costs is done in accordance with IAS 
23 Borrowing costs. Historically, Volito has not activated borrowing costs related to 
production of new construction, extensions or rebuilding in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Interest rate swaps are used for hedging against interest rate risks linked to the 
Group’s borrowing. The Group does not at present apply hedge accounting for these 
instruments. Interest rate swaps are measured at fair value in the balance sheet. In 
the profit or loss for the year, the interest rate coupon component is reported as a cor-
rection of interest expense. Unrealised changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps 
are reported in profit or loss for the year.

Profit or loss from the sale of financial investments is reported when the risks and 
benefits associated with the undertaking of the instrument in all important aspects 
has been transferred to the buyer and the Group no longer has control over the in-
strument.

Exchange rate profits and losses are reported net.

The effective rate is the interest that discounts the estimated future incoming and 
outgoing payments during the financial instrument’s expected duration to the finan-
cial asset’s or liability’s reported net value. The calculation includes all fees paid or 
received by the agreement partners that are a part of the effective rate, transaction 
costs or other surplus and under values.

Taxes
Income taxes consist of both current and deferred income tax for the Swedish and 
foreign Group units. Income taxes are reported in the profit or loss for the year, unless 
the underlying transaction is reported in other comprehensive income or in equity, so 
that the associated tax effect is reported in other comprehensive income or in equity.

Current tax is tax that is to be paid or received regarding the current year, with appli-
cation of the tax rates that are decided or in practice decided at year-end. Current tax 
also includes adjustments of current tax relating to earlier periods.

Deferred tax is calculated according to the balance sheet method. According to this 
method, deferred tax liabilities and receivables are reported for all temporary diffe-
rences between reported and fiscal values for assets and liabilities and for other fiscal 

deductions or deficiencies. Deferred tax liabilities and receivables are calculated 
based on how the temporary differences are expected to be evened out and by the 
application of the tax rates and tax rules that have been adopted or announced at  
accounting year-end. 

In the valuation of fiscal deductible deficiency, an assessment is made of the  
probability that the deficiency can be utilized. The basis for deferred tax receivables 
includes established deductible deficiencies to the extent that they can with certainty 
by utilised in relation to future profits. Deferred taxes are reported at the nominal 
valid tax rate without discounting.

Temporary differences are not taken into account in group-wise goodwill or in  
normal cases in the differences relating to participations in subsidiaries, associated 
companies and joint ventures that are not expected to be taxed in the foreseeable 
future. Temporary differences are not taken into account either for differences that 
have arisen in the initial reporting of assets and liabilities that are not business  
acquisitions that at the transaction date do not affect either the reported profit or  
loss or the taxable profit or loss.

When an acquisition of a company takes place, the acquisition is either an acquisition 
of a business or an acquisition of assets. It is an acquisition of assets, for example, if 
the acquired company only own one or more properties with a rental contract, but 
the acquisition does not include the processes required to run the property business. 
In reporting of an acquisition of assets, no deferred tax is reported separately. The 
fair value of the deferred tax liability is instead deducted from the fair value of the 
acquired asset. 

Untaxed reserves including deferred tax liabilities are reported in the legal entity.  
In the consolidated financial statements on the other hand, untaxed reserves are  
divided into deferred tax liabilities and equity.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the difference between the acquisition value of the business  
acquisition and the fair value of the acquired identifiable assets and taken over 
liabilities.

Goodwill is valued at the acquisition value minus any accumulated write-downs. 
Goodwill is designated to cash generating units and is reviewed for write-down requi-
rements annually or as soon as indications arise that show that the asset in question 
has fallen in value. Goodwill that has arisen in the acquisition of joint ventures and 
associated companies is included in the book value for participations in joint ventures 
and associated companies.

In the case of business acquisitions in which the acquisition costs are less than the net 
value of the acquired assets and taken over liabilities, known as an acquisition at low 
price, the difference is reported directly in profit or loss for the year. 

Concerning goodwill in acquisitions that took place before 1 January 2013, the Group, 
on transition to IFRS, has not applied IFRS retroactively, as the book value on that 
day constitutes from that time on the Groups’ acquisition value, after write-down 
appraisal.  
 
Other intangible assets
Intangible assets that are acquired by the company are reported at the acquisition 
value minus accumulated depreciations and write-downs. 

Depreciation is linear over the assets period of utilisation and reported as expense 
in the income statement. Depreciation begins from the date when assets become 
available for use. 

The estimated periods of utilisation are: The Group The Parent company
Software  5 years  –
Other intangible assets  5 years  –

Assessment of an asset’s period of utilisation and residual value is carried out  
annually. 

Tangible fixed assets
Owned assets
Tangible assets that are acquired by the company are reported at the acquisition  
value less accumulated depreciation and write-downs.

The book value of a tangible fixed asset is removed from the balance sheet in the case 
of disposal or sale of an asset, or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
use of the asset. Profit or loss that arises from the divestment or discarding of an asset 
is made up of the difference between the sale price and the asset’s book value with 
deductions for directly-related sale costs. 

Leased assets
Leasing is classified in the consolidated financial statements as either financial or 
operational leasing. It is considered financial leasing when the economic risks and 
advantages associated with ownership are in all essential aspects transferred to the 
lessee. If this is not the case, it is a matter of operational leasing.

Assets that are hired according to financial leasing agreements are reported as as-
sets in the Group’s balance sheet. The obligation to pay future leasing fees has been 
reported as long and short-term liabilities, The leased assets are depreciated accor-
ding to plan, whereas leasing payments are reported as interest and amortisation of 
liabilities. 
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Assets that are hired according to operational leasing agreements are not reported as 
assets in the Group’s balance sheet. Leasing fees for operational leasing agreements 
take up as expense linearly over the duration of the lease.

Assets that are hired out according to financial leasing agreements are not reported 
as tangible assets, as the risks and benefits associated with ownership of the assets 
are transferred to the lessee. Instead a financial receivable is reported regarding fu-
ture minimum leasing charges.

Additional expenditure
Additional expenditure is added to the acquisition value to the extent that the asset’s 
performance has been improved in relation to the level at the time it was originally ac-
quired. All other additional expenditure is reported as expense in the period it arises. 

Borrowing expenses
Borrowing expenses that are directly attributable to purchasing, construction or pro-
duction of assets that take a significant time to complete for the intended use or sale 
are included in the asset’s acquisition value. Activation of borrowing expenses is done 
on condition that it is probable that it will lead to future economic benefits and costs 
that can be measured in a reliable way.

Depreciation principles for tangible fixed assets
Depreciation according to plan is based on the original acquisition values reduced 
by the calculated residual value. Depreciation is linear over the period the asset is 
expected to be utilised.

The following depreciation periods are applied: The Group The Parent company

Industrial buildings 20-25 years –
Plant and machinery 5-10 years  –
Equipment, tools, and installations  5 years  5 years
Computer equipment  3-5 years  3-5 years

Industrial buildings account for a negligible amount and depreciation for various 
parts is over a period of 20-25 years. Component depreciation is not applied, as there 
are no individual components with significantly different depreciation periods.  

Investment properties
Most of the properties in the Group are classified as investment properties, as they 
are owned with an aim to generate rental income or value increases, or a combination 
of the two. Investment properties are reported initially at acquisition value, which 
includes expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition. Thereafter, investment 
properties are reported at fair value in the statement of financial position, in accor-
dance with IAS 40, Changes in value are reported in a designated line in the income 
statement. The Group’s properties are reported in the statement of financial position 
as fixed assets. As the properties are reported at fair value, depreciation is not re-
ported for these properties in the consolidated financial statements. The investment 
properties are valued annually by an independent external appraiser with recognised 
and relevant qualifications. The applied calculation model is based on long-term yield 
evaluation, which factors in present value of future payment streams with differentia-
ted yield requirements per property, depending on aspects such as location, purpose, 
condition and standard. 

Unrealised and realised changes in value are reported in profit or loss for the year. 
Rental income and income from property sales is reported in accordance with the 
principles described in the income accounting section.   

Additional expenditure in connection with rebuilding and extension work is added to 
the book value only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the asset will be gained by the company and the acquisition value can be calculated in 
a reliable way. All other additional expenditure is reported as expense in the period 
it arises. A decisive factor in assessing when additional expenditure is added to the 
book value is if the expenditure refers to the exchange of the whole, or parts of, the 
identified components, which activates the expenditure. Expenditure for totally new 
components is also added to the book value. In large projects interest is activated 
over the duration of the project. Expenditure for repairs is reported in the period it 
arises. 

Properties under construction that are intended for use as investment properties 
when work is completed are also classified as investment properties. 

Note 22 contains further information on external property valuation and a statement 
on classification of the property portfolio and its book value. 

Additional expenditure – investment properties reported in accordance with the 
fair value method
Additional expenditure is added to the book value only if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits associated with the asset will be gained by the company and the 
acquisition value can be calculated in a reliable way. All other additional expenditure 
is reported as expenses in the period it arises. A decisive factor in assessing when 
additional expenditure is added to the book value is if the expenditure relates to the 
exchange of the whole, or parts of, the identified components, which activates the 
expenditure. Expenditure for creation of totally new components is also added to the 
book value. Expenditure for repairs is reported in the period it arises. 

Aircraft
Proportional depreciation is applied annually for aircraft so that the book value is  
15 % of the acquisition value when the aircraft is 20 years old (previous year 20-25). 
All aircraft in the Swedish fleet have now been divested.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lowest of either the acquisition value or the net  
realisable value. The acquisition value is calculated according to the first-in, first-out 
principle and includes expenditure that has arisen in the acquisition of inventory 
items and transport of these to their present location and condition. 

For manufactured goods and ongoing work, the acquisition value includes  
a reasonable share of the indirect costs based on a normal capacity. 

Net realisable value is the estimated sale price in current operations, after deductions 
for estimated costs for completion and to achieve a sale.

Financial instruments 
Financial instruments that are reported in the statement of financial position include 
on the asset side, liquid funds, accounts receivable – trade, financial investments 
and derivatives. On the liability side are accounts payable – trade, loan liabilities and 
derivatives.

Reporting in, and removal from, the balance sheet
Financial assets and liabilities are taken up in the statement of financial position 
when the company becomes a party in accordance with the instruments agreement-
related conditions. A receivable is taken up when the company has performed and 
the contracted obligation exists for the counterparty to pay, even if the invoice has 
yet to be sent. Accounts receivable – trade are taken up in the statement of financial 
position when the invoice has been sent. A liability is taken up when the counterparty 
has performed and the contracted obligation exists for the payment to be made, even 
if the invoice has yet to be received. Accounts payable – trade are taken up when the 
invoice is received.

A financial asset is removed from the statement of financial position when the rights 
in the agreement have been realised, fall due or when the company loses control 
over it. The same applies for shares of financial assets. For every reporting period, the 
company evaluates if there are objective indications that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets requires a write-down. A financial liability is removed from the state-
ment of financial position when the obligation in the agreement has been fulfilled or 
in other ways ceases to apply. The same applies for shares of financial assets. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported as a net amount in the state-
ment of financial position when there is a legal right to offset and where the intent is 
to regulate items with a net amount or to simultaneously realise assets and regulate 
liabilities. Financial income and expense are offset in the income statement in cases 
where they are linked to the financial assets and liabilities that have been offset. 

Acquisition and divestment of financial assets are reported on the transaction date. 
The transaction date is the day when the company obligates itself to acquire or divest 
the assets. 

Classification and valuation
Financial instruments are reported either at the accrued acquisition value or fair  
value according to categorisation in IAS 39.

Financial instruments that are not derivatives are reported initially at the acquisition 
value corresponding to the instrument’s fair value with additions for transaction costs 
for all financial instruments except relating to those categorised as financial assets 
that are reported at fair value excluding transaction costs.  A financial instrument is 
classified on initial accounting according to the purpose for which the instrument was 
acquired. Classification determines how the financial instrument is valued after the 
initial accounting occasion as described below.  

Derivative instruments are reported initially at fair value, meaning that the transac-
tion costs affect the period’s profit or loss. After the initial accounting, the derivative 
instrument is reported in the way described below. If the derivative instrument is 
used for hedge accounting and to the extent it is effective, any changes in value of the 
derivative instrument are reported in the same line of profit or loss for the year as the 
hedged item. Even if hedge accounting is not applied, increases or reductions in the 
value of the derivative are reported as income or expense respectively in the opera-
ting profit or loss or in net interest income/expense based on the aim of using the de-
rivative instrument and how the use relates to an operating item or a financial item. In 
hedge accounting, the ineffective part is reported in the same way as changes in value 
of the derivative that is not used for hedge accounting. If hedge accounting is applied 
in the use of interest rate swaps, the interest rate coupon is reported as interest and 
the other changes in value as other financial income or other financial expense. 

Financial assets valued at fair value via profit or loss
Financial assets in this category are measured at fair value with changes in value re-
ported in profit or loss for the year. This category consists of two sub-groups: financial 
assets owned for trade and other financial assets that the company initially chose to 
place in this category with support of the so-called “fair value option”. The first sub-
group includes derivatives with a positive fair value, with the exception of derivatives 
that are identified and effective hedging instruments. The Group’s interest swaps are 
in this sub-group.

Available-for-sale financial assets 
The category, available-for-sale financial assets, includes financial assets that are not 
classified in any other category or financial assets that the company initially chose to 
classify in this category. This category reports holdings of shares and other participa-
tions that are not reported at fair value via profit or loss (see above) and that do not 
consist of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associated companies. Assets in the category 
are measured at fair value with the period’s changes in value reported in other com-
prehensive income and the accumulated changes in value in a special component in 
equity. Received dividends and write-downs are reported in profit or loss for the year. 
When an asset is divested the accumulated profit or loss is reported, as previously was 
accounted in other comprehensive income. 
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Loan receivables and accounts receivable – trade
Other long-term receivables relates mainly to promissory note loans. The aim is to 
keep these promissory notes until they are due. The part of the promissory note re-
ceivable that is due within one year is reported among other short-term receivables. 
If the promissory note loan has interest conditions that deviate from market interest 
conditions the acquisition value deviates from the nominal value. 

Receivables, including accounts receivable – trade assets are valued at the accrued 
acquisition value. Accrued acquisition value is decided based on the effective rate, 
which is calculated on the acquisition date. Receivables are reported at the amount 
that is expected to be received, i.e. after deductions for uncertain receivables. The 
provision requirement is assessed individually and any write-down is reported in ope-
rating expenses. The expected duration of accounts receivable – trade is short, which 
is why the value is reported at nominal amount without discounting.

Liquid funds
Liquid funds consist of balances at the bank at accounting year-end and are reported 
at nominal value.

Financial liabilities valued at fair value via profit and loss
This category consists of two sub-groups: financial liabilities owned for trade and oth-
er financial liabilities that the company initially chose to invest in this category with 
support of the so-called “fair value option”. See description under “Financial assets 
valued at fair value via profit or loss”. The first sub-group includes derivatives with a 
negative fair value, with the exception of derivatives that are identified and effective 
hedging instruments. Changes in fair value are reported in profit and loss for the year. 

Derivative instruments
The Group’s derivative instruments consist of interest rate swaps to cover risks re-
lating to exchange rate changes. Derivative instruments are reported at fair value in 
accordance with IAS 39. Changes in value are reported in the profit or loss. 

Other financial liabilities
Borrowings and other financial liabilities, such as accounts payable – trade, are inclu-
ded in this category. Liabilities are valued at the accrued acquisition value. The expec-
ted duration of accounts payable – trade is short, which is why the value is reported at 
nominal amount without discounting.

Hedge accounting
The Group’s derivative instruments have been acquired to financially hedge the risks 
of interest rate and currency changes that the Group is exposed to. Hedge accounting 
is not applied for these derivative instruments. They are valued at fair value according 
to the principles outlined above.

Hedge accounting of net investments
Measures have been taken to a certain extent to reduce the currency risks that are 
associated with investments in overseas businesses. This has been done by raising of 
loans in the same currency as net investments.  At accounting year-end these loans 
are reported translated to the rate at year-end. The effective part of the period’s 
exchange rate changes regarding hedging instruments is reported in other com-
prehensive income and the accumulated changes in a specific component in equity 
(foreign exchange reserve), which exists to meet and partially match the translation 
differences that affect other comprehensive income regarding net investments in the 
hedged foreign businesses. In cases where hedging is not effective, the ineffective 
part is reported directly in profit or loss for the year as a financial item. 

Write-downs
The book values of the Group’s assets are checked at each accounting year-end to  
determine if there is any indication that write-downs are required. IAS 36 is applied for 
checking write-down requirements for assets other than financial assets, which are 
checked in accordance with IAS 39, available-for-sale assets and divestment groups, 
which are reported in accordance with IFRS 5 Inventories, managed assets used for 
financing of remuneration to employees and deferred tax receivables. For excepted 
assets as above, the book value is checked according to the respective standard. 

Write-down checks for tangible and intangible assets, and participations  
in subsidiaries, joint ventures, associated companies etc
If there is an indication that a write-down is required, it is calculated in accordance 
with IAS 36 Assets’ recoverable amount. For goodwill, the recoverable amount for 
other intangible assets that are not yet ready for use is also calculated annually. If it 
is not possible to determine significant independent cash flows to a single asset, the 
assets on being tested for write-down requirements shall be grouped at the lowest 
level where it is possible to identify a significant independent cash flow – a so-called 
cash-generating unit. 

A write-down is reported when an asset or cash-generating unit’s book value exceeds 
the recoverable amount. The write-down of assets relating to a cash-generating unit 
(group of units) is assigned first of all to goodwill. Thereafter, a proportional write-
down is done for other assets included in the unit (group of units). 

The recoverable amount is the highest value of the fair value minus sales costs and 
value of use. In the calculation of value of use, future cash flows are discounted with a 
discounting factor that takes into consideration risk-free interest and the risk that is 
associated with the specific asset.  

Write-down checks for financial assets
For every reporting period, the company evaluates whether there is objective evi-
dence that a financial asset or group of assets requires a write-down. Objective evi-
dence consists of observable conditions that have a negative effect on the possibility 
of recovering the acquisition value, as well as significant or lengthy reductions in the 
fair value of a financial asset classified as an available-for-sale financial assets. Write-
downs of available-for-sale financial assets are reported in profit or loss for the year 
in net interest income/expense.

Accounts receivable – trade with write-down requirements are reported at the pre-
sent value of the expected future cash flow. However, receivables with short duration 
are not discounted. A write-down affects profit or loss for the year.  

Reversal of write-downs
A write-down is reversed if there is both an indication that a write-down requirement 
no longer exists and that a change has occurred in the supposition that was the basis 
for calculation of the recoverable amount. However, write-downs of goodwill are 
never reversed. A reversal is done only to the extent that the asset’s book value after 
reversal does not exceed the book value that would have been reported, with deduc-
tion for depreciation if applicable, if no write-down had been done. 

Write-downs of loans receivables and accounts receivable – trade that are reported at 
accrued acquisition value are reversed if a later increase in the recoverable amount 
can be objectively related to an event after the write-down was done. 

Equity 
Dividends are reported as a reduction of equity after the Annual General Meeting has 
made a decision. 

Provisions 
A provision differs from other liabilities as there is uncertainty over the payment date 
or the size of the amount for regulating provisions. A provision is reported when the 
company has a formal or informal commitment as the result of an event that has oc-
curred and it is likely that an outflow of resources is required to regulate the commit-
ment, and that a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Present value calcula-
tions are made to take significant time effects into account for future payments.

Remuneration to employees
Remuneration to employees in the form of salaries, paid holiday, paid sick leave, etc 
is reported at the rate that it is earned. Regarding pensions and other remuneration 
after employment ends, these are classed as contribution-based or benefit-based 
plans. The commitment regarding the contribution-based plans is fulfilled through 
premiums to independent authorities or companies that administer the plans.  
A number of employees in the Volito Group have ITP plans with rolling payments  
to Alecta/Collectum. In accordance with IFRS, these are classified as benefit-based 
plans that cover several employers. As there is not sufficient information to report 
these as benefit-based plans, they are reported as contribution-based plans.

Remuneration on severance of employment
A provision for remuneration in connection with termination of employment is 
reported only if the company is evidently obligated, without a realistic possibility of 
withdrawal, to terminate employment before the normal time and affected groups of 
employees have been informed of the termination plans. Provisions are made for se-
verance remuneration that will affect without requirements the receiving of services 
from the employees. 

Short-term remuneration
Short-term remuneration to employees is calculated without discounting and is re-
ported as a cost when the related services are received.

A provision is reported for the expected cost for bonus payments when the Group 
has a valid legal or informal obligation to make such payments as a result of services 
received from employees and the obligation can be calculated reliably. 

Fixed assets owned for sale and discontinued businesses
The meaning of having a fixed asset (or disposal group) classified as a holding for sale 
is that its book value will be recovered mainly through a sale rather than through use. 
An asset or disposal group is classified as being owned for sale if it is available for  
immediate sale in present condition and according to conditions that are normal,  
and that it is very probable that the sale will be made. These assets or disposal groups 
are reported in their own line as current assets and short-term liabilities respectively 
in the statement of financial position. 

Immediately before classification as a holding for sale, the book value of assets and 
liabilities in a disposal group is determined in accordance with applied standards.  
In the initial classification of a holding for sale, the fixed assets and disposal group are 
reported at the lowest of the book value and fair value with deductions for sales costs. 
Certain assets, separate or part of a disposal group, are exempt from the above  
described valuation rules, namely investment properties, financial assets, deferred 
tax assets and managed assets relating to benefit-based pension plans.  

A profit is reported at every increase of the fair value with deductions for sales costs. 
This profit is limited to an amount that corresponds to the total of the previously  
executed write-downs.

Losses as a result of a fall in value in the first classification as a holding for sale is  
reported in the profit or loss for the year.  

A discontinued business is a part of company’s business that represents an inde-
pendent operating arm or a significant business within a geographical area or is a 
subsidiary that was acquired exclusively with an aim to be sold on. Classification as 
a discontinued business is made on divestment or at an earlier time if the business 
meets the criteria to be classified as a holding for sale. 

Profit or loss after tax from discontinued businesses is reported in a specific line in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. When a business is 
classified as discontinued, the formulation of comparison year reports of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income changes so that it is reported as if the discontinued 
business had been discontinued at the start of the comparison year. The formulation 
of the statement of financial position for the current year and previous years is not 
changed in a corresponding way. 
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Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is reported when there is a possible obligation that arises from 
events and whose existence is confirmed only by one or more uncertain future events 
or when there is an obligation that is not reported as a liability or a provision due to 
the improbability of an outflow being required. 

Parent company’s accounting principles
The Parent company has drawn up its annual accounts in accordance with the Swe-
dish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554), and the Swedish Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Council recommendation, RFR 2 Accounting for a legal entity. RFR 2 means that 
the Parent company in the annual accounts for the legal entity shall apply all of the 
EU-developed IFRS and pronouncements as far as this is possible within the frame-
work of the Annual Accounts Act, the law on safeguarding pension commitments, and 
with consideration taken for the connection between accounting and taxation. The 
recommendation states the exceptions and additions to IFRS that are to be made. 

Altered accounting principles 
The Parent company’s accounting principles are unchanged in 2014 compared with 
2013, except concerning the reporting of group contributions, which from 2014 are 
reported as appropriations regardless of whether the group contribution is submitted 
or received. The altered accounting principle has also been applied for the compari-
son year 2013. 

Differences between the Group’s and Parent Company’s  
accounting principles
The differences between the Group’s and Parent Company’s accounting principles are 
given below.

Classification and format
The Parent company’s income statement and balance sheet are drawn up according 
to the Annual Account Act’s scheme. The differences compared with IAS 1, Presenta-
tion of financial statements that have been applied in the presentation of the Group’s 
financial statements is principally reporting of financial income and expense, fixed 
assets, equity and the addition of provisions as a line in the balance sheet. 

Financial instruments
Due to the connection between accounting and taxation, the rules on financial instru-
ments and hedge accounting in IAS 39 are not applied in the Parent company as legal 
entity.

In the Parent company, financial fixed assets are valued at acquisition value minus 
any write-down, and financial current assets according to the lowest value principle. 
The acquisition value for interest-bearing instruments is adjusted for the accrued 
difference between what would have been paid originally, after deductions for trans-
action costs, and the amount that was paid on the due date (surplus and under value 
respectively).

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies
Ownership shares in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies are repor-
ted in the Parent company according to the acquisition value method. This means that 
acquisition expenditure is included in the book value of holdings in the subsidiary. In 
the consolidated financial statements, the acquisition expenditure relating to shares 
in subsidiaries from 2013 isreported directly in profit or loss when it arises. 

The book value is reviewed continuously against the fair value of assets and liabili-
ties in the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies. In cases where the 
book value of the shares exceeds the fair value, write-downs are made that affect 
the income statement. In cases where a previous write-down is no longer justified, a 
reversal is carried out. 

Financial guarantees
The Parent company’s guarantee agreements consist mainly of guarantees for the be-
nefit of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies. Financial guarantees 
mean that the company has an obligation to compensate holders of a debt instrument 
for losses if these are incurred due to a stated debtor not fulfilling payment on the 
due date according to the agreement conditions. For reporting of financial guarantee 
agreements the Parent company applies one of the Swedish Financial Accounting 
Standards Council-permitted participation exemption rule compared to the rules in 
IAS 39. The participation exemption rule relates to financial guarantee agreements 
formulated for the benefit of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies. 
The Parent company reports financial guarantee agreements as provisions in the 
balance sheet when the company has an obligation for which payment is required to 
regulate the obligation. 

Anticipated dividends
Anticipated dividends from subsidiaries can be reported in cases where the Parent 
company alone has the right to decide on the dividend’s size and the Parent company 
has decided on the dividend’s size before the Parent company has published its finan-
cial statements. Anticipated dividends are reported as financial income. 

Group contributions
Paid and received group contributions are reported as appropriations.

Shareholders’ contribution
Shareholders’ contribution is taken up directly against equity at the recipient and 
activated in shares and participations at the donor, to the extent that write-downs are 
not required. 

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets in the Parent company are reported at the acquisition value af-
ter deductions for accumulated depreciation and any write-downs in the same way as 
for the Group, but with any write-ups. 

Leased assets
In the Parent company all leasing agreements are reported according to the rules for 
operational leasing. 

Financial fixed assets
In the Parent company all financial fixed assets are reported at the acquisition value 
with reductions for any write-downs. The assessment is made from share type to 
share type and a write-down to fair value is done when the decrease in value is expec-
ted to remain. 

Other long-term receivables are valued at the amount that is expected to be received.

Taxes 
In the Parent company untaxed reserves are reported including deferred tax liabili-
ties. However, in the consolidated financial statements untaxed reserves are divided 
between deferred tax liabilities and equity.

Note 2 Important estimates and assessments
The company management and the Board have discussed the development, choice 
and information regarding the Group’s important accounting principles and estima-
tes, and the applications of these principles and estimates.

Certain important accounting-related estimates that have been used in the Group’s 
accounting principles are described below.

The sources of uncertainty in the estimates that are stated below relate to those that 
involve a risk that the value of assets or liabilities can be in need of adjustment to a 
significant degree in the coming fiscal year. 

The financial risks are linked to the business operation’s tied-up capital, capital requi-
rements, interest rate risks and currency risks.

Write-down testing of goodwill  
The Group’s total goodwill amounts to SEK 48 501 K (47 767). In the calculation of 
the cash-generating units’ recoverable amounts for assessment of any write-down 
requirement for goodwill, several assumptions have been made about future condi-
tions and estimates of parameters. A description of these is presented in Note 21. As 
can be understood from the description, any changes exceeding what is reasonable 
can be expected, due to these assumptions and estimates, to have an effect on the 
value of goodwill in 2015. However, this risk is very low as the recoverable amounts 
exceed to a great extent the book value in those cases where the goodwill values are 
a significant amount. 

Taxes
Changes in fiscal legislation and altered practice in the interpretation of fiscal legisla-
tion can significantly affect the size of reported deferred taxes. For more information 
on taxes, see Notes 19 and 35. 

Note 3  Net sales broken down by type of income 
2014 2013

The Group
Income per significant type of income
Rental income 138 138 146 996
Leasing income 7 596 25 054
Service assignments 63 400 61 401
Sale of goods 209 768 205 728
Other 872 930

419 774 440 109

The Parent company
Income per significant type of income
Administrative income 8 715 9 001

8 715 9 001

Note 4  Changes in value of investment properties
The changes in value for the year are attributable to both divested properties and 
to the property portfolio at year-end. 

2014 2013

The Group
Changes in value of divested properties -7 000 400
Changes in value of property portfolio, 31 December 45 918 38 876

38 918 39 276

Realised changes in value, i.e. the difference between the divested properties’ sales 
price and the total invested capital in these properties, amounts to SEK -1.3 million 
(9.8). Total invested capital refers to original investments or acquisitions plus the 
investments made in the respective properties during the remaining period of the 
holding. 

At every year-end all properties are valued externally. Malmöbryggan Fastighets-
ekonomi AB carried out a valuation of Volito’s properties on 31 December 2014. The 
properties’ values are individually assessed to correspond to the fair value for the 
respective property. 

Note 22 presents a description of valuation methods, valuation basis, market 
parameters etc that are used in the valuation of the property portfolio.
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Note 5  Other operating income
2014 2013

The Group
Capital gains or losses from sale of fixed assets 20 326 385
Exch. rate profits on receivables/liabilities of an operating nature 7 077 55
Other 1 493 1 320

28 896 1 760

The Parent company
Guarantee remuneration 509 26
Other 8 8

517 34

Note 6  Leasing income relating to operational leasing
Rental and leasing income is based on the rental and leasing agreements that are  
regarded as operational leasing agreements in which the Group is the lessor. 

One property in the Volito Fastigheter group is leased out through a financial leasing 
agreement, see Note 36. 

Real estate
The rental income includes not only basic rent, continuing charges for items such as 
heating, electricity, water and sanitation, and property tax, but also a deduction for 
submitted rent rebates. Also included is income relating to premature settlement of 
the rental contract. Of rental income, SEK 1 244 K (1 544) consists of turnover-based 
premises rental. Rents and rent rebates that are only debited during a certain period 
of a contract’s duration are accrued linearly over the respective contract’s entire 
duration. 

Rental income in the Volito Fastigheter group according to the property portfolio at 
year-end was divided between 97 % commercial premises and 3 % residential. The 
commercial rental income was divided between 127 contracts within a number of dif-
ferent sectors. With the aim of limiting exposure to credit losses, regular follow-ups 
are made of tenants’ credit ratings. No sector or tenant accounts for more than 10 % 
of the rental income.

The duration of the contract portfolio for commercial premises in the Volito Group 
expires as per 31 December 2014 as below. The stated amounts refer to contracted 
closing rents in the portfolio.

2014 2013

The Group
Within one year 8 049 28 558
Between one and five years 74 462 77 959
Longer than five years 45 287 41 455

127 798 147 972

Note 7  Auditing: fees and expenses
2014 2013

The Group
KPMG

Audit assignments 1 282 1 172
Tax consultations 96 85
Other assignments 390 149
PWC

Tax consultations 47 90

 MAZARS SET

Audit assignments 150 131
Tax consultations – 40
Other assignments 59 83
OTHER AUDITORS

Audit assignments 211 153
Tax consultations 22 16
Other assignments 40 15

The Parent company
KPMG

Audit assignments 340 321
Other assignments 180 44

Audit assignments refer to the scrutiny of the annual accounts and accounting and 
the Board’s and CEO’s administration. Other assignments are those that fall to the 
company’s auditor to carry out as well as consultation or other assistance resulting 
from observations of such scrutiny or the carrying out of such other assignments.

Note 8  Staff and personnel costs
of which, of which,

Average number of employees 2014 men 2013 men

The Parent company
Sweden 4 50 % 4 40 %

Subsidiaries
Sweden 92 75 % 94 77 %
Finland 18 78 % 19 79 %
Ireland 9 44 % 10 45 %
Norway 2 100 % – 0 %

Total in subsidiaries 121 74 % 123 74 %

Group total 125 73 % 127 74 %

2014 2013
Gender distribution on  
company management

Percentage  
of women

Percentage  
of women

The Group
Board of Directors 0 % 0 %
Other senior executives 10 % 10 %

Expenses and remuneration to employees 2014 2013

The Group
Salaries and remuneration etc 93 610 87 659
Pension expense, contribution-based plans 10 336 10 804
Social security charges 24 922 24 189

128 868 122 652

Salaries, other remuneration and social security expenses
2014 2013

Social Social
Salaries and security Salaries and security

remuneration expenses remuneration expenses

The Parent company 8 440 3 563 5 471 2 957
(of which, pension costs) 1) (753) 1) (1 023)
Subsidiaries 85 170 31 695 82 188 32 036
(of which, pension costs) (9 583) (9 781)

Total for the Group 93 610 35 258 87 659 34 993
(of which, pension costs) 2) (10 336) 2) (10 804)

1) Of the Parent company’s pension costs, SEK 405 K (previous year: 662) refers the 
company’s Board and CEO. The company has no outstanding pension obligations to 
them.

2) Of the Group’s pension costs, SEK 2 552 K (previous year: 3 047) refers to the 
Group’s Board and CEO. The Group has no outstanding pension obligations to them.

Salaries and other remuneration by senior executives, and other employees  
in the Parent company

2014 2013

The Parent company
senior executives (three people, ceo and board members)
Salaries and other remuneration 6 361 3 246
Social security expenses 2 461 1 808
(of which, pension costs) (405) (662)
other employees

Salaries and other remuneration 2 079 2 225
Social security expenses 1 101 1 149
(of which, pension costs) (348) (361)

The Parent company, total
Salaries and other remuneration 8 440 5 471
Social security expenses 3 562 2 957
(of which, pension costs) (753) (1 023)

 Salaries and other remuneration by senior executives, and other employees 
in the Group

2014 2013

The Group
senior executives (10 people)
Salaries and other remuneration 21 602 20 568
(of which, bonuses and similar) (155) (–)
Social security expenses 9 591 9 947
(of which, pension costs) (2 552) (3 047)
other employees

Salaries and other remuneration 72 008 67 091
Social security expenses 25 667 25 046
(of which, pension costs) (7 784) (7 755)

The Group, total
Salaries and other remuneration 93 610 87 659
(of which, bonuses and similar) (155) (–)
Social security expenses 35 258 34 993
(of which, pension costs) (10 336) (10 802)
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Remuneration to senior executives
Principles
The Chairman of the Board receives no remuneration. The other Board members 
receive fees according to the Annual General Meeting’s decision. The Board fee 
amounts to SEK 200 K to each member of the Board. In addition, there is a salary of 
SEK 400 K each for work in excess of work on the Board. There is no agreement  
concerning future pension/severance pay for either the Chairman of the Board or 
other board members. Remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives consists 
of basic salary, other benefits and pension. There is an agreement with the CEO of  
the Parent company regarding severance pay corresponding to one year’s salary.

Remuneration and other benefits
Other benefits refers to company cars. Pension costs refer to the costs that affect the 
profit or loss for the year. For the CEO and other senior executives premium-based 
pension plans apply and the retirement age is 65. Costs for the CEO’s pension consist 
of premium of 35 % of the pension-establishing salary during the period of employ-
ment. For other senior executives ITP plans or equivalent apply and the retirement 
age is 65.
 
Other senior executives
On termination of employment from the company’s side other senior executives have 
the right to severance payments amounting to between six months’ and 12 months’ 
salary.

Absence due to illness
As only four people are employed by the Parent company, there is no obligation to ac-
count for absence due to illness.  

Note 9  Depreciation of tangible and intangible fixed assets
2014 2013

The Group
Other intangible assets -578 -464
Industrial premises -281 -369
Aircraft -4 651 -19 260
Plant and machinery -302 -157
Equipment, tools and installations -4 538 -4 417

-10 350 -24 667

The Parent company
Equipment, tools and installations -442 -462

-442 -462

Note 10  Leasing fees relating to operational leasing
2014 2013

The Group
Assets held via operational leasing agreements
Minimum leasing fees 6 181 6 023

6 181 6 023

Contracted future minimum leasing fees relating to
non-terminable contracts due for payment:

Within one year 8 005 6 181
Between one and five years 8 060 16 065

16 065 22 246

The Parent Company
Assets held via operational leasing agreements
Minimum leasing fees 2 070 2 017

2 070 2 017

Leasing income from subleases 1 384 1 351

Contracted future minimum leasing fees relating to
non-terminable contracts due for payment:

Within one year 2 125 2 074
Between one and five years 3 301 5 426

5 426 7 500

Premises rental and certain office inventories are classified as operational leasing. 
The main part of leasing costs relates to renting of premises in accordance with  
operational leasing agreements. The Parent company’s leasing agreement runs until 
30 June 2017, without special restrictions and with an option to extend. The Parent 
company, Volito Fastigheter AB and Volito Aviation AB occupy premises owned by 
Volito Fastigheter AB. Volito Aviation Services Ltd in Ireland signed a new rental  
agreement with an external landlord which runs until 25 November 2024, but there  
is a possibility to break the contract after 25 November 2019. All subsidiaries within 
Volito Industry, except Hydratech, which owns the property, occupy rented premises. 

Other agreements on operational leasing are divided between small agreements  
and amount to a negligible amount.

Note 11  Other operating expenses
2014 2013

The Group
Capital loss – -278
Exchange losses on receivables/liabilities of 
an operating nature -331 -341
Write-downs on receivables -404 –

-735 -619
The Parent company
Write-downs on receivables -404 -2 307

-404 -2 307

Note 12  Profit or loss from participations in group companies
2014 2013

The Group
Capital gain or loss from divestment of participations -209 -39

-209 -39

The Parent company
Dividend 9 000 9 000
Write-downs -92 122 -68 267

-83 122 -59 267

Note 13  Profit or loss from participations in joint ventures
2014 2013

The Group
Write-down of participations – -292 538
Write-down of loans -20 573 –
Structural write-downs – 79 625
Group-wise depreciation – 48 250

-20 573 -164 663

Note  14 Profit or loss from participations  
in associated companies

2014 2013

The Group
Capital gain or loss from divestment of participations 91 001 15 736
Write-downs of receivables -11 222 -50 323
Profit or loss from participations in associated companies 21 977 -10 940

101 756 -45 527

The Parent company
Dividend 8 452 –

8 452 –

Note  15 Profit or loss from other financial income and expense
2014 2013

The Group
Dividend 30 106 29 493
Capital gain or loss from divestments 581 –
Write-downs -6 102 -91

24 585 29 402

The Parent company
Dividend 30 106 29 493
Capital gain or loss from divestments 581 –
Write-downs -6 102 -91

24 585 29 402

Note 16  Interest income and similar income
2014 2013

The Group
Interest income, group companies 228 240
Interest income, other 4 781 4 702
Leasing income 1 733 1 779
Exchange rate profit – 667
Capital gain from divestment of short-term investments – 238
Dividend from short-term investments – 43

6 742 7 669

The Parent company
Interest income, group companies 5 230 6 414
Interest income, others 1 504 1 388
Exchange rate profit – 667
Capital gain from divestment of short-term investments – 437
Dividends from short-term investments – 43

6 734 8 949

All interest income is attributable to instruments valued at the accrued acquisition 
value.
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Note 17  Interest expenses and similar expenses
2014 2013

The Group
Interest expenses, group companies -75 -140
Interest expenses, other -76 775 -77 734
Exchange rate loss -811 -1 044
Credit charges and commissions -1 100 -829

-78 761 -79 747
The Parent company
Interest expenses, group companies -853 -1 315
Interest expenses, other -18 112 -17 801
Credit charges and commissions -950 -788
Exchange rate loss -334 –

-20 249 -19 904

Of interest expenses, SEK 56 539 K (60 918) is attributable to instruments valued at 
the accrued acquisition value and SEK 20 236 K (16 816) to instruments valued at fair 
value.

Note 18  Changes in value of derivatives
Derivatives are financial instruments that according to IAS 39 are valued at fair value 
in the balance sheet. Changes in the value of interest derivatives are reported under 
the heading “Changes in value of derivatives” in the income statement. If the agreed 
interest rate for the derivative deviates from the expected future market interest rate 
during the derivative period a change in value is entered in Volito’s balance sheet and 
income statement, but not in the cash flow. The reduced risk in interest payments  
through long fixed interest rate often creates a larger risk in derivative value due to 
the time factor. When the duration of the derivative has expired, the value of the  
interest derivative is always zero.

Note 19  Taxes
2014 2013

The Group
Current tax -1 348 -6 075
Deferred tax -2 141 -17 964

Total reported taxes for the Group -3 489 -24 039

2014 2013

The Parent company
Deferred tax -12 935 -734

Total reported taxes for the Parent company -12 935 -734

Reconciliation of effective tax 2014 2013
Per cent Amount Per cent Amount

The Group
Profit or loss before tax 126 278 -92 934
Tax according to the current tax rate for the 
Parent company 22,0% -27 781 22,0% 20 445
Effect of other tax rates for foreign  
subsidiaries 3,0% -3 831 -27,3% -25 350
Other non-deductible expenses 7,1% -8 975 -11,4% -10 622
Other tax-exempt income -11,0% 13 893 12,6% 11 678
Utilisation of previously non-activated  
deductible deficiency -0,6% 758 1,4% 1 342
Tax relating to previous years 0,0% -10 -6,3% -5 847
Temporary differences -0,1% 144 -1,5% -1 360
Fiscal result of divestment of shares -0,1% 127 0,1% 53
Adjustment of tax attributable to profit or loss 
from associated companies -17,6% 22 186 -15,5% -14 378

Reported effective tax 2,8% -3 489 -25,9% -24 039

Reconciliation of effective tax 2014 2013
Per cent Amount Per cent Amount

The Parent company
Profit or loss before tax 8 044 -30 134
Tax according to the current tax rate for 
the Parent company 22,0% -1 770 22,0% 6 629
Non-deductible expenses 270,4% -21 753 -52,1% -15 708
Tax-exempt income -130,1% 10 464 28,1% 8 469
Tax relating to previous years 0,0% -3 -0,7% -220
Fiscal result from disposal of shares -1,6% 127 0,3% 96

Reported effective tax 160,8% -12 935 -2,4% -734

The nominal tax rate is 22 % in Sweden, 12.5 % in Ireland, 7.83 % in Switzerland, 
12.5 % Cyprus and 20.0 % in Finland.

The Group reports current tax as SEK - 1 348 K (-6 075). Current tax is calculated on the 
group companies’ fiscal result. This is lower than the Group’s reported profit or loss 
before tax, which is mainly due to:

• Changes in value relating to investment properties, shares in listed companies and 
 derivatives are not included in the taxable profit or loss.
• Tax deductible depreciation for buildings does not affect the Group’s profit or loss.
• Directly tax deductible amounts relating to certain rebuilding investments for 
 properties do not affect the Group’s profit or loss.
• Fiscal utilised deductible deficiency does not affect the Group’s profit or loss.

In addition to what is covered above, there is also within the Group a tax expense attribu-
table to components in other comprehensive income amounting to SEK - 589 K (-138).

The Group 2014 Before tax Tax After tax

Translation differences for the year in
translation of overseas businesses 87 898 – 87 898
Translation differences transferred to profit 
or loss for the year 39 – 39
Available-for-sale financial assets 205 291 -589 204 702
Participations in associated companies’ other 
comprehensive income 8 112 – 8 112
Holdings with non-controlling interests -50 850 – -50 850

Other comprehensive income 250 490 -589 249 901

The Group 2013 Before tax Tax After tax

Translation differences for the year in
translation of overseas businesses -1 822 – -1 822
Available-for-sale financial assets 171 037 -138 170 899
Participations in associated companies’ other 
comprehensive income 3 476 – 3 476
Holdings with non-controlling interests 266 – 266

Other comprehensive income 172 957 -138 172 819

Note 20  Scope of other comprehensive income  
and other reserves
The foreign exchange reserve includes all currency differences that arise in  
translation of financial statements from foreign subsidiaries that have drawn up their 
financial statements in currencies other than the currency used in the Group’s  
financial statements. When foreign subsidiaries are discontinued or divested this part 
of the foreign exchange reserve is transferred to profit or loss for the year. 

The available-for-sale reserve include changes in value of available-for-sale financial 
assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are continuously valued at fair value with 
the period’s changes in value reported in other comprehensive income and the  
accumulated changes in value in the available-for-sale reserve in equity.

Note 21  Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 47 767 26 600
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 20 780
Exchange rate differences for the year 734 387

Book value at year-end 48 501 47 767

Other intangible assets 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 4 713 2 837
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 1 062
Other investments – 768
Reclassifications 12 –
Exchange rate differences for the year 82 46

At year-end 4 807 4 713

Accumulated depreciation according to plan
At start of the year -3 015 -2 340
Acquisition of subsidiaries – -181
Reclassifications -10 –
Depreciation according to plan for the year -578 -464
Exchange rate differences for the year -61 -30

At year-end -3 664 -3 015

Book value at year-end 1 143 1 698
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Total intangible assets 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 52 480 29 437
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 21 842
Other investments – 768
Reclassifications 12 –
Exchange rate differences for the year 816 433

At year-end 53 308 52 480

Accumulated depreciation according to plan
At start of the year -3 015 -2 340
Acquisition of subsidiaries – -181
Reclassifications -10 –
Depreciation according to plan for the year -578 -464
Exchange rate differences for the year -61 -30

At year-end -3 664 -3 015

Book value at year-end 49 644 49 465

Write-down testing of goodwill in cash-generating units
The Volito Group’s financial position on 31 December 2014 includes goodwill of  
SEK 48 501 K (47 767). The entire amount is attributable to acquisitions in the  
Volito Industry group. 

2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Industry
Hydro Swede AB 15 200 15 200
HydX AB 20 780 20 780
Hydratech AB 1 480 1 480
Hydrosystem Oy 11 041 10 307

At year-end 48 501 47 767

During 2014, the Group made no write-downs of goodwill. In all of the cash-  
generating units where a calculation of recoverable amount was carried out and no 
write-down requirement was identified, it is the company management’s assessment 
that no reasonably possible changes in important assumptions would cause the  
recoverable amount to fall below the book value.

Method for calculating recoverable amounts
For all goodwill values the recoverable amount has been measured through a  
calculation of the value in use for the cash-generating unit. The calculation model 
is based on a discounting of future forecast cash flows that are set against the unit’s 
book value. The future cash flows are based on a 5-year forecast compiled by the  
management of the respective cash-generating unit. In testing of goodwill an infinite 
horizon has been assumed and extrapolation of the cash flow after the forecast 
period has been based on growth rate from year 6 of around 2 %.

Important variables for calculating value in use:
The following variables are significant and common for all cash-generating units in 
the calculation of value of use. 

turnover:
The businesses’ competitiveness, expected business climate trend for the hydraulic 
sector, general social-economic developments, interest rates and local market  
conditions. 

operating margin:
Historic profitability level and efficiency of the business, access to key people and 
qualified work force, ability to cooperate with customers, access to internal  
resources, cost trends for salaries and materials. 

operating capital requirements:
An assessment on a case by case basis of whether the operating capital reflects the 
business’s requirements or needs to be adjusted for the forecast periods. For future 
development a cautious assumption is that it follows growth in turnover. A high level 
of internally developed projects can mean a greater need for operating capital. 

investment requirements:
The investment needs of the business are assessed based on the investments  
required to reach forecast cash flow at the base level, i.e without expansion  
investments. In normal cases, the investment level has corresponded to the  
depreciation rate on tangible fixed assets. 

tax burden:
The tax rates in forecasts are based on Volito’s expected tax situation in Sweden and 
Finland, regarding tax rates, deductible deficiency etc.

discount rate:
The discount rate is determined through a balanced average capital cost for the  
hydraulic sector and reflects actual market assessments of the money’s time value 
and the risks that in particular apply to the asset for which the future cash flow has  
not been adjusted. For cash-generating units in Sweden a discount rate on average  
of 9.0 % (9.5 %) has been used and in Finland 8.2 % (8.7 %).

Note 22  Investment properties 
The greater part of Volito’s properties have been classified as investment properties. 
Investment properties are properties held with an aim to generate rental income or 
value growth, or a combination of the two. Investment properties are reported in the 
statement of financial position at fair value. 

Volito rents offices in Malmö in its own properties. The rental amount for internal  
renting makes up a negligible part of the respective property’s total rental amount, 
which is why no classification as a business property has been made for these  
properties. 

Volito holds no property that has been acquired or rebuilt for subsequent immediate 
sale, which is why no property has been classified as a property held for resale.

Investments for the year amounted to SEK 39.7 million (53.7), see Note 27.

The property portfolio’s fiscal residual value amounted at year-end to  
SEK 1 421.7 million (1 488.8).

Calculation of fair value
On 31 December 2014, the company carried out an external market valuation of the 
Group’s properties. The fair value of the investment properties has been assessed  
by an external, independent property appraiser, with relevant professional  
qualifications and experience of both current market conditions and the type of  
property that is being valued. Volito has used Malmöbryggan Fastighetsekonomi AB.

The valuation has been done in accordance with the guidelines applied in the SFI/IPD 
Swedish Real Estate Index. Fair value has been estimated through the application of 
the present value method, which is calibrated against comparable purchases and  
other available, relevant market information. The present value method is based 
on the present value calculation of future actual cash flow that is gradually market-
adapted, normally over five to ten year, and the present value of assessed residual 
value at the calculation period’s end. Valuation of investment properties has been 
categorised as belonging to level three in the fair value hierarchy, as non-observable 
input data used in the valuation has a significant effect on the assessed value. The 
properties’ values are individually assessed to correspond to the fair value of the 
respective property. 

With the valuation as a basis, the market value of the real estate amounts to  
SEK 2 306.9 million (2 311.0). 

Reconciliation property valuation 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

Property value according to external appraisers 2 306 900 2 311 000

Change in market value for the year 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

Book value at start of the year 2 311 000 2 239 600
Investments 158 449
Reclassifications 18 824 56 475
Divested properties -62 000 -24 800
Change in value of divested properties -7 000 400
Change in value of remaining properties at year-end 45 918 38 876

Book value 2 306 900 2 311 000

Summary
Valuation date 2014-12-31 2013-12-31
Calculation period 5-10 years 5 years
 In normal cases five years for the most 
 recent properties. However, certain 
 properties have other calculation periods 
 due to length of contracts.
Assessed yield requirement residual value 4.75-7.25 % 5.0-8.5 %
Long-term vacancy rate 4.5-15.0% 5.0-12.0 %
Operating and maintenance costs Assessed normalised cost levels  
 (SEK 134 – 463/m2) based on outcome 
 2011-2013, forecast 2014 and budget 2015.
Inflation forecast CPI assessed to rise by 0.4 % for 2015 
 thereafter 2 % per year

Accrued rebuilding expanses regarding properties classified as investment  
properties, which are reported under the item “Fixed assets under construction  
and advances relating to tangible fixed assets.

2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group 25 710 5 418

Investment properties – effect on profit or loss for the period
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Rental income 138 138 146 996
Direct costs for investment properties that 
generated rental income during the period 
(operating and maintenance costs, property 
tax and ground rent) -28 892 -31 479
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The duration of the contract portfolio for commercial premises within the Volito
Group on 31 December 2014 expires according to the table below. Stated amounts 
refer to contracted closing rents in the portfolio.

2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Within one year 8 049 28 558
Between one and five years 74 462 77 959
Longer than five years 45 287 41 455

127 798 147 972

Counterparty risks in rental incomes
According to the contract portfolio at year-end, rental income was divided between 
97 % commercial properties and 3 % residential. The commercial rental income was 
divided between 127 contracts in a number of different sectors. With the aim of limit-
ing exposure to credit losses, regular follow-ups are made of tenants’ credit ratings. 
No sector or tenant accounts for more than 10 % of the rental income.

Note 23  Industrial premises
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 10 386 10 386
New acquisitions 203 –

10 589 10 386
Accumulated depreciation according to plan
At start of the year -5 302 -4 933
Depreciation according to plan for the year -281 -369

-5 583 -5 302

Book value at end of period 5 006 5 084

Of which, land 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value 598 598

Note 24  Aircraft
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 233 612 233 612
Divestments and disposals -233 612 –

– 233 612

Accumulated depreciation according to plan
At start of the year -92 539 -73 279
Divestments and disposals 97 190 –
Depreciation according to plan for the year  
of acquisition value -4 651 -19 260

– -92 539

Book value at end of period – 141 073

The two remaining aircraft on 31 December 2013 were divested in the first half of 2014.

Leasing
All aircraft are leased out under operational leasing agreements.

2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
The period’s leasing income for the period amounts to 7 596 25 054

Note 25  Machinery and other technical fixed assets
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 3 771 2 450
New acquisitions 112 105
Divestments and disposals – -52
Reclassifications 1 108 1 268

4 991 3 771

Accumulated depreciation according to plan
At start of the year -1 463 -1 359
Divestments and disposals – 53
Depreciation according to plan for the year  
of acquisition value -302 -157

-1 765 -1 463

Book value at end of period 3 226 2 308

Note 26 Equipment, tools and installations
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 37 283 23 265
New acquisitions 6 598 9 574
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 5 144
Divestments and disposals -2 744 -1 252
Reclassifications 927 506
Exchange rate differences for the year – 46

42 064 37 283

Accumulated depreciation according to plan
At start of the year -17 273 -12 412
Acquisition of subsidiaries – -1 240
Divestments and disposals 1 646 826
Depreciation according to plan for the year  
of acquisition value -4 538 -4 417
Exchange rate differences for the year -625 -30

-20 790 -17 273

Book value at end of period 21 274 20 010

The Parent company
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 5 965 5 956
New acquisitions 47 9

6 012 5 965

Accumulated depreciation according to plan
At start of the year -2 110 -1 648
Depreciation according to plan for the year  
of acquisition value -442 -462

-2 552 -2 110

Book value at end of period 3 460 3 855

Note 27  Fixed assets under construction  
and advances relating to tangible fixed assets

2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
At start of the year 6 419 11 388
Reclassifications -20 432 -58 249
Investments 39 723 53 280

Book value at end of period 25 710 6 419

Borrowing expenses
No activated interest is included in the acquisition value.

Note 28  Participations in group companies
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 625 150 601 787
New share issue – 4 550
Submitted shareholders’ contribution 67 430 17 302
Sales / liquidation -19 186 -50
Reclassifications – 1 561

673 394 625 150

Accumulated depreciation 
At start of the year -131 938 -102 479
Sales / liquidation 17 866 –
Reclassifications – -1 561
Depreciation for the year -67 430 -27 898

-181 502 -131 938

Book value at end of period 491 892 493 212
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Specification of the Parent company’s and Group’s holdings of participations in group companies
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

Subsidiary/Corp. ID no./Registered office No. of shares Share in % 1) Book value Book value

Volito Aviation AB, 556603-2800, Malmö 1 222 000 100,0 173 788 173 788
    Volito Aviation Cornelia HB, 969707-7387, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Aviation Deux Lux AB, 556604-0506, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Aviation September 2007 AB, 556733-0955, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Aviation October 2007 AB, 556733-1029, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Aviation Services AB, 556673-5782, Malmö 60,0
      Volito Aviation Services (Ireland) Ltd, 436832, Dublin, Ireland
    Volito Aviation AG, CHE - 111.972.238, Zug, Switzerland 51,0
    Volito Cyprus Holding Ltd, HE 173483, Limassol, Cyprus
      Volito Universal Ltd, HE 162951, Limassol, Cyprus
Volito Fastigheter AB, 556539-1447, Malmö 423 000 100,0 312 014 312 014
    Volito Fastighetsutveckling AB, 556375-6781, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Fastighetsförvaltning AB, 556142-4226, Malmö 100,0
    Fastighetsbolaget Flygledaren HB, 916760-2035, Malmö 100,0
    HB Ran Förvaltning, 916766-5224, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Fastighetskupolen AB, 556629-1117, Malmö 100,0
    Fastighets AB Centralposthuset i Malmö, 556548-1917, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Leisure AB, 556541-9164, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Agatel AB, 556677-1472, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Fosiestenen AB, 556690-0873, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Mosippan AB, 556131-7979, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Delfinen AB, 556630-7988, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Proveniens AB, 556758-2415, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Sankt Peter AB, 556658-6904, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Claus AB, 556758-3090, Mamö 100,0
    Volito Laxen AB, 556758-3975, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Stjärnan AB, 556758-3074, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Södra Porten AB, 556758-3108, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Söderhavet AB, 556758-3561, Malmö 100,0
    Volito Visenten AB, 556749-9636, Malmö 100,0
Volito 2001 AB, 556599-8217, Malmö 11 000 – – 1 320
Volito Industri AB, 556662-5835, Malmö 81 900 91,0 5 460 5 460
    Volito Automation AB, 556669-2157, Malmö 100,0
      Hydro-Swede i Stockholm AB, 556235-5130, Stockholm 95,0
      Hydraulic Supplier i Norden AB, 556718-2091, Malmö 51,0
      Hydratech AB, 556432-1072, Smålandsstenar 100,0
      HydX AB, 556791-5326, Ystad 95,0
      Hyd Partner A/S, 913929616, Krokkleiva, Norway 60,0
      Hydrosystem Oy, 0606351-2, Jyväskylä, Finland 100,0
Volito AG, CHE-110.245.578, Zug, Switzerland 100 100,0 0 0
Other subsidiaries, dormant 630 630

1) Refers to the ownership share of the capital, which also agrees with the share of votes for the total number of shares. 491 892 493 212

Holding with non-controlling interest
Subsidiary Country Business segment 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

Volito Aviation AG Switzerland Aviation 49% 49%
Volito Aviation Services AB Sweden Aviation 40% 20%
Volito Industri AB Sweden Industry 9% 9%
Hydraulic Supplier i Norden AB Sweden Industry 49% 49%
HydX AB Sweden Industry 5% 49%
Hydro Swede AB Sweden Industry 5% -
Hydpartner A/S Norway Industry 40% -

Volito Aviation AG 
(group)

Volito Aviation  
Services AB 

(group)
Volito Industri AB 

(group)
Hydraulic Supplier 

i Norden AB HydX AB Hydpartner A/S
Subsidiary 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Net sales 36 274 68 319 61 018 210 075 206 583 44 726 37 531 82 478 75 450 66 –
Profit or loss -22 206 -298 518 367 36 1 511 17 180 2 324 -86 3 355 4 264 -1 561 –
Attributable to acquisitions
with non-controlling interest – – – – -2 158 -2 057 – – – – – –

Total profit or loss -22 206 -298 518 367 36 -647 15 123 2 324 -86 3 355 4 264 -1 561 –

Attributable to acquisitions
with non-controlling interest 10 881 146 274 -73 -7 58 -1 361 -1 139 33 -1 643 -2 089 624 –

Fixed assets 544 137 603 047 2 906 422 66 929 66 622 2 817 3 130 19 194 4 283 122 –
Current assets 65 726 60 162 13 617 13 542 81 938 66 515 14 601 11 101 42 152 23 097 3 170 –
Acquisitions with  
non-controlling interest – – – – -1 926 -4 912 – – – – – –
Long-term liabilities -20 969 -17 451 – – -76 605 -50 903 -366 -1 111 -2 340 -3 241 -3 155 –
Short-term liabilities -130 888 -112 926 -15 636 -13 200 -73 907 -59 435 -13 212 -11 603 -54 515 -15 630 -590 –

Net assets 458 006 532 832 887 764 -3 571 17 887 3 840 1 517 4 491 8 509 -453 –

Attributable to acquisitions
with non-controlling interest 224 423 261 085 353 152 -321 1 609 1 882 743 225 4 169 -181 –

Cash flow from:
Operating activities -5 -2 -1 837 -683 -5 511 7 400
Investing activities 137 154 26 350 -1 933 -73 -17 096 -6 777
Financing activities -137 154 -26 350 – – 22 098 4 474

Cash flow for the year -5 -2 -3 770 -756 -509 5 097

Dividend to holding with
non-controlling interest – – – – – – – – 847 – – –
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Note 29  Receivables from group companies
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 5 279 9 608
Reclassifications -5 279 -4 329

Book value at end of period – 5 279

The Parent company
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 93 642 182 661
Additional receivables 15 000 11 058
Regulated receivables -43 289 -3 400
Reclassifications -5 279 -98 781
Exchange rate differences for the year – 2 104

60 074 93 642

Accumulated write-downs
At start of the year – -1 425
Reclassifications – 16 147
Write-downs for the year – -14 586
Exchange rate differences for the year – -136

– –

Book value at end of period 60 074 93 642

Note 30 Participations in joint ventures
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year – 164 723
Write-downs – -292 538
Structural reserve – 79 625
Group-wise depreciation – 48 250
Exchange rate differences for the year – -60

Book value at end of period – –

Specification of the Parent company’s  
and Group’s holding of ownership  
interests in joint ventures 2014-12-31

Joint venture/Corp. ID no., Registered office

Shares / 
number 

in %

Proportion of 
equity’s value 

in the Group

Book value  
at Parent 
company

Indirectly owned
VGS Aircraft Holding (Ireland) Ltd, 43005, 
Dublin, Ireland 25,5 – –

Book value at end of period – –

Specification of the Parent company’s  
and Group’s holding of ownership  
interests in joint ventures 2013-12-31

Joint venture/Corp. ID no., Registered office

Shares / 
number 

in %

Proportion of 
equity’s value 

in the Group

Book value  
at Parent 
company

Indirectly owned
VGS Aircraft Holding (Ireland) Ltd, 43005, 
Dublin, Ireland 25,5 – –

Book value at end of period – –

Below is a specification of the group-wise value relating to owned participation of 
joint ventures’ income and expense, as well as assets and liabilities.

2014 2013

Income 97 727 162 958
Expense -186 430 -208 277

Profit or loss -88 703 -45 319
Adjustment for group value 88 703 45 319

Profit or loss – –

Of which, reported as profit participation – –

Assets 843 866 1 089 589
Liabilities -801 704 -974 090

Net assets / net liabilities 42 162 115 499
Participation is fully written down -42 162 -115 499

Book value – –

The Board decided in 2013 to write-down its equity holding in VGG to zero. 
As a result, the group value relating to ownership shares of income and expense,  
as well as assets and liabilities amounts to zero.

Note 31  Receivables from joint ventures
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 603 047 629 776
Regulated receivables -137 154 -26 350
Exchange rate differences for the year 101 680 -379

567 573 603 047
Accumulated write-downs
Write-downs for the year -20 573 –
Exchange rate differences for the year -2 863 –

-23 436 –

Book value at end of period 544 137 603 047

Note 32  Participations in associated companies
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 9 077 18 962
Purchases 43 206 –
Participation in associated companies’ profit or 
loss for the year 101 756 -10 940
Participation in associated companies’ other  
comprehensive income 8 112 3 476
Reclassifications 151 322 -2 260
Exchanges rate differences for the year -369 -161

313 104 9 077

The Parent company
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 6 828 6 828
Purchases 43 206 –
Reclassifications 148 183 –

198 217 6 828
Accumulated write-downs
At start and end of the year -1 765 -1 765

-1 765 -1 765

Book value at end of period 196 452 5 063

Specification of the Parent company’s and Group’s holding  
of ownership interests in associated companies  2014-12-31

Proportion
Shares / of equity’s Book value

Associated company/Corp. ID no., number value in at Parent
Registered office in % 1) the Group company

Directly owned
Bulten AB (publ), 556668-2141, Göteborg 20,9 294 736 191 389
AB Nordsidan, 556058-3212, Malmö 34,0 12 783 5 063

Indirectly owned
Nordkap Holding AG, 40,0 0
CHE - 110.234.439, Zug, Switzerland
Nya Bara Utvecklings AB, 556858-4311, Bara 50,0 5 585

313 104 196 452 

Specification of the Parent company’s and Group’s holding  
of ownership interests in associated companies   2013-12-31

Proportion
Shares / of equity’s Book value

Associated company/Corp. ID no., number value in at Parent
Registered office in % 1) the Group company

Directly owned
AB Nordsidan, 556058-3212, Malmö 34,0 4 559 5 063 

Indirectly owned
Nordkap Holding AG,
CHE - 110.234.439, Zug, Switzerland 40,0 –
 Nordkap AG, CHE-107.908.734, Zug, Switzerland –
Nya Bara Utvecklings AB, 556858-4311, Bara 50,0 4 518

9 077 5 063 
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Below is a specification of the group-wise value relating to owned participation of 
associated companies’ income and expense, as well as assets and liabilities.

Bulten AB (publ)
Nya Bara  

Utvecklings AB
2014 2013 2014 2013

Income 330 887 – 7 095 6 904
Expense -298 328 – -6 028 -7 281
Adjustment for group value 79 240 – – 245

111 799 – 1 067 -132

Assets 394 093 – 122 535 112 484
Liabilities -132 159 – -116 950 -107 966
Acquired surplus value 32 802 – – –

Net assets 294 736 – 5 585 4 518

Nordsidan AB Nordkap Holding AG
2014 2013 2014 2013

Income 207 119 94 954 18 668
Expense -95 -107 -92 551 -80 687
Adjustment for group value 8 112 -3 476 -13 625 876

8 224 -3 464 - 11 222 -61 143

Assets 7 130 7 087 50 927 66 723
Liabilities -1 983 -2 052 -104 826 -117 156
Acquired surplus value 7 636 -476 53 899 50 433

Net assets 12 783 4 559 – –

HydX AB
2014 2013

Adjustment for group value – 15 736

– 15 736

Note 33  Receivables from associated companies
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 88 342 87 442
Regulated receivables -20 973 –
Reclassifications – -1 069
Exchange rate differences for the year 6 320 1 969

73 689 88 342

Accumulated write-downs
At start of the year -23 499 -1 069
Reclassifications – 1 069
Write-downs for the year -11 222 -23 499
Exchange rate differences for the year -2 571 –

-37 292 -23 499

Book value at end of period 36 397 64 843

Note 34 Other long-term security holdings
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Available-for-sale financial assets
Shares and participations 929 440 844 048

Book value at year-end 929 440 844 048

Changes for the year relating to available-for-sale financial assets

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 578 742 539 479
Additional assets 74 621 55 876
Divested assets -46 235 -12 914
Reclassifications -148 184 -3 699

458 944 578 742
Changes in value in other comprehensive income
At start of the year 267 563 96 526
Unrealised changes in value for the year 256 911 171 037
Realised changes in value for profit or loss for the year -51 620 –

472 854 267 563

Accumulated write-downs
At start of the year -2 257 -2 166
Write-downs for the year -101 -91

-2 358 -2 257

Book value at year-end 929 440 844 048

The Parent company
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 577 742 538 478
Additional assets 74 621 55 876
Deductible assets -46 235 -12 913
Reclassifications -148 184 -3 699

457 944 577 742

Accumulated write-downs
At start of the year -2 257 -2 166
Write-downs for the year -101 -91

-2 358 -2 257

Book value at year-end 455 585 575 485

2014-12-31 2013-12-31
The Parent The Parent

List of securities The Group company The Group company

Peab AB (publ) 912 170 442 619 594 185 378 869
Bulten AB (publ) – – 187 232 148 184
CTT Systems AB (publ) – – 53 371 40 799
Bear Stearns (funds) 549 549 650 650
EQT VI Limited 15 421 12 117 7 310 6 683
Others 1 300 300 1 300 300

929 440 455 585 844 048 575 485

Note 35  Deferred tax assets / tax liability
Deferred Deferred

tax assets tax liability Net

The Group 2014
Accelerated depreciation
Investment properties 26 822 -26 822
Machinery and inventories 642 -642
Tax allocation reserves 564 -564
Fair value
Investment properties – 168 094 -168 094
Swaps – -21 415 21 415
Group-wise surplus value
Buildings and land – 366 -366
Temporary differences – 1 278 -1 278
Deductible deficiency 13 410 – 13 410

Net deferred tax liability 13 410 176 351 162 941

The Group 2013
Accelerated depreciation
Investment properties 24 104 -24 104
Aircraft 14 838 -14 838
Machinery and inventories 398 -398
Tax allocation reserves 255 -255
Fair value
Investment properties – 156 947 -156 947
Swaps – -11 061 11 061
Group-wise surplus value
Buildings and land – 389 -389
Other provisions -138 -76 -62
Deductible deficiency 25 392 -115 25 507

Net deferred tax liability 25 254 185 679 -160 425

The Parent company 2014
Deductible deficiency 9 007 – 9 007

The Parent company 2013
Deductible deficiency 21 942 – 21 942

The change in the Parent company between years has been shown as deferred tax 
expense/income.

Deferred taxes are valued based on the nominal rate of tax. The only exception to  
this rule is the acquisition of material assets in which the tax assessment was a  
significant part of the business transaction when the deferred tax is valued based  
on the purchase price. All deferred taxes have been valued at a nominal amount  
on 31 December 2014 (the same applies for the previous year).
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Unreported deferred tax assets
Deductible temporary differences and fiscal deductible deficiencies for which deferred 
tax assets have not been reported in the income statement and balance sheet:

2014-12-31 2013-12-31

Fiscal deficit 12 480 15 100

SEK 11 936 thousand (15 100) of the fiscal deficit relates to Swedish subsidiaries in 
which Volito’s ownership is less than 90 % and hence it cannot be offset against  
profits in other companies by group contributions.

Note 36  Financial leasing agreements
One of the properties in the Volito Fastigheter Group is  
leased out on a financial leasing agreement.

2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Reconciliation of the gross investment and  
the present value of the receivable relating  
to future minimum leasing fees:
Gross investment 48 866 51 404
Less: unearned financial income -19 331 -21 064

Net investment in financial leasing agreements 29 535 30 340
Less: non-guaranteed residual value that  
goes to the lessor – –

Present value of receivables relating to  
future minimum leasing fees 

29 535 30 340

On 31 December the breakdown of the  
remaining durations was as follows:
Gross investment
Within one year 2 538 2 538
Between one and five years 10 154 10 154
Longer than five years 36 174 38 712

48 866 51 404

Less: unearned financial income -19 331 -21 064

Net investment in financial leasing agreements 29 535 30 340

Present value of receivables relating to
future minimum leasing fees
Within one year 854 805
Between one and five years 3 962 3 737
Longer than five years 24 719 25 798

29 535 30 340

Variable component of leasing fee included
in profit or loss for the year 57 57

Note 37  Other long-term receivables
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accumulated acquisition value
At start of the year 35 911 37 167
Reclassifications -120 -1 256

35 791 35 911
Accumulated write-downs
At start of the year -7 792 -7 792
Write-downs for the year -6 000 –

-13 792 -7 792

Book value at year-end 21 999 28 119

The Parent company
Accumulated acquisition value
At start and end of the year 35 791 35 791
Accumulated write-downs
At start of the year -7 792 -7 792
Write-downs for the year -6 000 –

-13 792 -7 792

Book value at year-end 21 999 27 999

Note 38  Prepaid expenses and accrued income
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Prepaid expenses 6 714 8 885
Accrued interest income 87 310
Accrued income 119 3

6 920 9 198

The Parent company
Prepaid expenses 998 1 396
Accrued interest income 87 310
Accrued income 37 3

1 122 1 709

Note 39 Liquid funds
Liquid funds consist of cash and bank balances. Unutilsed bank overdraft facilities are 
not included in liquid funds amount of SEK 73.9 million (54.0), of which in the Parent 
company, SEK 56.8 million (42.6).

Note 40  Equity
Number of issued shares

Fully paid Not fully paid Quota value

Class B shares 2 440 000 – 100

All shares have the same voting rights, one vote per share. 

Other contributed capital
Refers to equity that is contributed by the owners. This includes premiums paid in 
connection with share issues. 

Reserves
Foreign exchange reserve 
The foreign exchange reserve includes all the exchange rate differences that arise 
from translating financial statements in a currency other than the currency used in 
the presented consolidated financial statements. The Parent company and the Group 
present their financial statements in SEK. Furthermore, the foreign exchange reserve 
includes the exchange rate differences that arise in expanded investment in foreign 
business as well as refundment loans from foreign businesses. 

Available-for-sale reserve
The available-for-sale reserve includes the accumulated net change in fair value of 
available-for-sale financial assets until the asset is no longer reported in the balance 
sheet. 

Retained earnings including profit or loss for the year
Retained earnings including profit or loss for the year includes earnings from the  
Parent company and its subsidiaries, joint venure companies and associated  
companies.  

Dividend
At year-end, the Board proposed the following dividend:
Cash dividend SEK 9.50 per share (6.00), total SEK 23 180 K (14 640). The dividend  
will be subject to adoption at the Annual General Meeting 12 March 2015.

The Parent company
Reserve fund
The aim of the reserve fund has been to save a part of the net profit, that is not  
designated for covering losses carried forward. The reserve fund also includes 
amounts that prior to 1 January 2006 were transferred to the premium reserve.  
The reserve is not to be reduced due to profit distribution.

Retained earnings
Includes the previous year’s profit or loss brought forward after profit distribution. 
Constitutes together with profit or loss for the year the total non-restricted equity, 
i.e. the amount that is available for dividends to shareholders. 
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Note 41  Interest-bearing liabilities
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Due date, up to 1 year from accounting year-end 753 282 760 902
Due date, 1-5 years from accounting year-end 1 298 777 1 425 994
Due date, later than five years from accounting year-end 31 402 21 645

2 083 461 2 208 541
The Parent group
Due date, up to 1 year from accounting year-end 214 913 182 584
Due date, 1-5 years from accounting year-end 478 837 493 871

693 750 676 455

Long-term liabilities 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Bank loans 1 247 990 1 404 120
Derivative instruments 77 762 39 116
Leasing liabilities 4 427 4 403

1 330 179 1 447 639
The Parent company 
Bank loans 478 837 493 871

Short-term liabilities 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Bank loans 588 099 563 707
Bank overdraft facilities 143 384 183 518
Derivative instruments 19 579 11 166
Leasing liabilities 2 220 2 511

753 282 760 902
The Parent company 
Bank loans 128 000 70 200
Bank overdraft facilities 86 913 112 384

214 913 182 584

The Group intends to refinance those credits that fall due in 2015. Volito’s assessment 
is that amortisation in 2015 will amount to SEK 21.6 million for the Group and SEK 7.2 
million for the Parent company.

The Group’s derivative instruments consist of interest rate swaps, which are utilised 
to cover risks of changes in interest rates. Derivative instruments are reported conti-
nuously at fair value in accordance with IAS 39. Changes in value of interest rate deri-
vatives are reported in the income statement on a separate line “Changes in value of 
derivatives.” The change in value for the year amounts to SEK -47.1 million (33.5).

2014-12-31 2013-12-31

Swap values IFRS, level 2
Brought forward fair value, liability 50 282 83 806
Change in value 47 059 -33 524

97 341 50 282

Note 42  Bank overdraft facilities
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Granted credit limit 217 309 237 542
Unutilised part -73 925 -54 024

Utilised credit amount 143 384 183 518

The Parent company
Granted credit limit 143 750 155 000
Unutilised part -56 837 -42 616

Utilised credit amount 86 913 112 384

Note 43  Valuation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value
In accordance with IAS 39 Financial instruments, financial instruments are valued at either the accrued acquisition value or at fair value depending on categorisation. Categorisation 
depends to a large extent on the purpose of the holding. The items that are subject to measurement at fair value are listed shareholdings, various types of derivative and unlisted 
share interests.

Fair value of listed shareholdings and share derivatives has been calculated according to the closing rate at year-end. In the fair value measurement of unlisted shares, the market 
value from the administering financial institutes has been used.  

In the fair value measurement of interest-bearing receivables and liabilities, and interest rate swaps, discounting has been applied for future cash flows to listed market interest rate for 
the remaining durations. For non-interest bearing assets and liability items as well as accounts receivable – trade and accounts payable – trade with a remaining life time of less than six 
months, the book value is considered to reflect the fair value. The table below shows the book value compared with the assessed fair value per type of financial asset and liability.

Available-for-sale  
financial assets fair value 

via income statement
Available-for-sale  

financial assets
Trade and interest  

receivables Total book value Fair value
Amount in SEK M 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

The Group
Financial assets
Other long-term securities holdings 0,0 0,0 929,4 844,0 0,0 0,0 929,4 844,0 929,4 844,0
Interest-bearing long-term  
receivables 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 36,4 70,1 36,4 70,1 36,4 70,1
Other long-term receivables 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 566,1 631,2 566,1 631,2 566,1 631,2
Accounts receivable – trade 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 30,0 22,4 30,0 22,4 30,0 22,4
Interest-bearing short-term  
receivables 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 5,3 10,0 5,3 10,0 5,3 10,0
Prepaid expenses and accrued 
income 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 6,9 9,2 6,9 9,2 6,9 9,2
Other short-term receivables 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 6,3 4,5 6,3 4,5 6,3 4,5
Cash and bank balances 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 10,5 36,8 10,5 36,8 10,5 36,8

Total financial assets 0,0 0,0 929,4 844,0 661,5 784,2 1 590,9 1 628,2 1 590,9 1 628,2

Financial instruments  
at fair value Other financial liabilities Accounts payable – trade Total book value Fair value

Amount in SEK M 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing long-term 
liabilities 77,8 39,1 1 252,4 1 408,5 0,0 0,0 1 330,2 1 447,6 1 330,2 1 447,6
Other long-term liabilities 0,0 0,0 31,8 54,9 0,0 0,0 31,8 54,9 31,8 54,9
Interest-bearing short-term  
liabilities 19,6 11,2 733,7 749,7 0,0 0,0 753,3 760,9 753,3 760,9
Accounts payable – trade 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 32,1 28,6 32,1 28,6 32,1 28,6
Accrued expenses and prepaid 
income 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 56,4 70,1 56,4 70,1 56,4 70,1
Other short-term liabilities 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 12,0 14,3 12,0 14,3 12,0 14,3

Total financial liabilities 97,4 50,3 2 017,9 2 213,1 100,5 113,0 2 215,8 2 376,4 2 215,8 2 376,4

The effect of measuring financial instruments at fair value is included in the Groups’ profit or loss at a total of SEK -47.1 million (33.5) and relates to the market   
valuation of interest rate swaps.
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Fair value
Fair value is determined though categorisation based on three levels
Level 1: according to the quoted price in an active market for an identical instrument
Level 2: based on direct or indirect observable market data that is not included 
 in level 1.
Level 3: based on input data that is not observable in the market.

The table below shows the division by level of the financial assets and liabilities  
that are reported at fair value in the balance sheet.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Amounts in SEK M 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

The Group
Financial assets
Other long-term
securities holdings
   Market-quoted 912,2 834,8 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 912,2 834,8
   Non-market quoted 0,0 0,0 17,3 9,3 0,0 0,0 17,3 9,3

Total financial assets 912,2 834,8 17,3 9,3 0,0 0,0 929,5 844,1

Financial liabilities
Other long-term  
liabilities
   Interest rate swaps 0,0 0,0 77,8 39,1 0,0 0,0 77,8 39,1
Other short-term  
liabilities
   Interest rate swaps 0,0 0,0 19,6 11,2 0,0 0,0 19,6 11,2

Total financial liabilities 0,0 0,0 97,4 50,3 0,0 0,0 97,4 50,3

Note 44  Financial instruments and financial risk management
Financial policy
In its business activities the Volito Group is exposed to various types of financial risks. 
Financial risks relate to changes in exchange rates and interest rates that affect the 
company’s cash flow, earnings and thereby associated equity. Financial risks also 
include credit and refinancing risks. Exposure applying to the different operations 
is presented quarterly to the respective companies’ boards, which make current 
decisions regarding financial risk management based on the market situation and 
macroeconomic information.

Management of financial risks
Liquidity and financing risks
Liquidity and financing risks refer to the risks of not being able to fulfill payment obli-
gations as a result of insufficient liquidity or difficulties in arranging new loans. Volito 
shall be able to carry through business transactions when the opportunity arises and 
always be able to fulfill its obligations. Refinancing risks increase if the company’s 
credit rating deteriorates or a large part of the debt portfolio becomes due on one or 
several separate occasions. 

Liquidity risks are managed through both regular liquidity forecasts and Volito’s ac-
cess to credit or liquid assets that can be raised at short notice in order to even out 
fluctuations in the payment flow. 

Borrowing risks refers to the risk that financing is unavailable or available on poor 
conditions at a certain time. In order to limit financing risks, Volito strives to spread 
final due dates regarding credit over as long a period as possible according to the 
prevailing market conditions.  

Part of Volito’s borrowing is linked to fulfilling financial ratios (covenants) in the form 
of interest coverage ratio and equity/assets ratio that the Group shall achieve, which 
is customary for this type of borrowing. These ratios are followed up continuously and 
make up a part of management’s framework for financial planning of the business. 
Volito fulfilled these ratios by a good margin at year-end. Volito’s policy regarding 
interest rates is that loan periods for the portfolio shall be well balanced and adjusted 
to the company’s prevailing view of the interest rate market at that time. 

Duration analysis of financial liabilities, non-discounted cash flow including interest

Nominal 
amount 

in original 
currency

1 year  
or less 1-5 years > 5 years Total

Interest-bearing financial liabilities
Bank loans, SEK, Real Estate 1 217 037 458 899 742 658 15 480 1 217 037
Investment loans, SEK 540 700 129 200 411 500 – 540 700
Bank overdraft facilities, SEK 115 286 115 286 – – 115 286
Bank overdraft facilities, USD 3 597 28 098 – – 28 098
Investment loans, EURO 1 000 – 9 515 – 9 515
Investment loans, CHF 8 700 – 68 837 – 68 837

Total interest-bearing liabilities 731 483 1 232 510 15 480 1 979 473

Non-interest-bearing financial liabilities
Accounts payable – trade, SEK 27 458 27 458 – – 27 458
Accounts payable – trade, EURO 434 4 128 – – 4 128
Accounts payable – trade, USD 32 253 – – 253
Accounts payable – trade, NOK 242 254 – – 254
Supplementary purchase 
price, SEK 10 800 – 10 800 – 10 800
Interest and interest rate 
swaps, SEK 55 985 70 696 17 134 143 815
Interest, CHF 1 223 510 – 1 733
Interest, USD 636 – – 636
Interest, EURO 275 69 – 344

Total non-interest-bearing 
financial liabilities 90 212 82 075 17 134 189 421

Total financial liabilities 821 695 1 314 585 32 614 2 168 894

Currency exposure
The risk that fair value and cash flow relating to financial instruments can fluctuate 
when the value of foreign currencies change is called currency risk. 

In its business activities the Volito Group is exposed to risks relating to exchange rate 
changes principally through its involvement in the Volito Aviation group. Income 
from the leasing business is set and paid in USD. This exposure is counterbalanced to 
a degree in that interest and amortisation are similarly USD-based.

The Volito Group’s holding in Nordkap AG is partly hedged against changes in the 
CHF exchange rate through certain borrowings in CHF.  The same applies for Volito’s 
holding in the Finnish company, Hydrosystem Oy, where investments in EURO are 
hedged by certain borrowings in EURO.

The Board of Volito has decided to accept the exposure to USD and CHF according to 
the above, as this exposure in itself constitutes a risk diversification within the Volito 
Group. The extent of this exposure will be decided according to continuous review.

Available-for-sale  
financial assets fair value 

via income statement
Available-for-sale  

financial assets
Trade and interest  

receivables Total book value Fair value
Amount in SEK M 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

The Parent company
Financial assets
Long-term receivables, group  
companies 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 60,1 93,6 60,1 93,6 60,1 93,6
Other long-term securities holdings 0,0 0,0 455,6 575,5 0,0 0,0 455,6 575,5 928,4 843,0
Interest-bearing long-term  
receivables 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 20,0 20,0 20,0 20,0 20,0 20,0
Other long-term receivables 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 2,0 8,0 2,0 8,0 2,0 8,0
Interest-bearing short-term receivables 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 38,7 83,8 38,7 83,8 38,7 83,8
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 1,1 1,7 1,1 1,7 1,1 1,7
Other short-term receivables 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 26,6 3,9 26,6 3,9 26,6 3,9
Cash and bank balances 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 2,4 5,1 2,4 5,1 2,4 5,1

Total financial assets 0,0 0,0 455,6 575,5 150,9 216,1 606,5 791,6 1 079,3 1 059,1

Financial instruments  
at fair value Other financial liabilities Accounts payable – trade Total book value Fair value

Amount in SEK M 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing financial liabilities 0,0 0,0 478,8 493,9 0,0 0,0 478,8 493,9 478,8 493,9
Interest-bearing short-term liabilities 0,0 0,0 214,9 182,6 36,2 51,3 251,1 233,9 251,1 233,9
Accounts payable – trade 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,6 0,3 0,6 0,3 0,6 0,3
Accrued expenses and prepaid 
income 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 4,3 2,5 4,3 2,5 4,3 2,5
Other short-term liabilities 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 3,0 1,7 3,0 1,7 3,0 1,7

Total financial liabilities 0,0 0,0 693,7 676,5 44,1 55,8 737,8 732,3 737,8 732,3
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Interest rate exposure
Interest rate risks are risks that Volito’s cash flow or the value of financial instruments 
vary due to changes in market interest rates. The interest rate risk can lead to changes 
in fair value and changes in the cash flow. 

The Volito Group is exposed to changes mainly in short-term interest rates through 
its involvement in the Volito Fastigheter AB group. The Parent company, Volito AB, 
also has risk exposure relating to short-term interest rates. Volito’s policy regarding 
interest rates is that loan periods for the portfolio shall be well balanced and adjusted 
to the company’s prevailing view of the interest rate market at that time. How much 
and how fast a change in interest rates makes an impact on financial results depends on 
the chosen fixed interest term. A rise in interest rates is often initiated by higher infla-
tion. In commercial rental contracts it is normal that the rent is index-adjusted upwards 
for inflation. 

A combination of loans with short fixed interest terms and utilisation of financial instru-
ments in the form of interest rate swaps enables flexibility to be achieved and the fixed 
interest term and interest rate level can be adjusted so that the aim of financing activi-
ties can be achieved with limited interest rate risk and without underlying loans needing 
to be renegotiated. In order to manage the interest rate risks and achieve even develop-
ment of net interest income, the average fixed interest term for Volito’s interest-bearing 
debts has been adjusted according to the assessed risk level and risk expectations. 

Overall, the Volito Group’s total loans exposed to short-term interest rates amount to 
SEK 1 215 million (1 228). Hedging relating to 62.8 % of the debt portfolio of the Volito 
Fastigheter AB group is being managed with swaps, something that gives the com-
pany a higher degree of flexibility in terms of future debt management. 

The nominal amount of Volito Fastigheter’s outstanding interest rate swaps at 
year-end was SEK 764.3 million (809.3). At year-end the fixed interest rates varied 
from 2.09 % (2.09 %) to 3.99 % (3.99 %) and the floating interest rates are STIBOR 
3-months with supplement for a margin for borrowing in SEK.

Financial exposure 2014-12-31 2013-12-31
Liabilities Loan amount Fair value Loan amount Fair value

The Group
Interest rate swaps 764 295 -97 341 809 295 -50 282

Fair value has been calculated as the cost that would have arisen if the  
contracts had closed at year-end. For this, banks’ official rates have been applied. 

Below is a summary of the Group’s interest rate swaps by duration.

Due date
Liabilities Nominal 

amount 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 >2019

The Group
Interest rate swaps
 2014-12-31 764 295 – 41 295 140 000 90 000 172 000 321 000
Interest rate swaps 
2013-12-31 809 295 120 000 41 295 140 000 90 000 172 000 246 000

Credit risks
Credit risks refer to the risk of losing money due to another party being unable to 
fulfill their obligations. 

Credit risks in accounts receivable – trade
Demand for premises is affected by general business conditions. Volito Fastigheter’s 
activities are concentrated in Malmö, which is deemed to be attractive in the long term 
regarding location, population growth, employment and general communications. A 
broad portfolio of contracts reduces the risk of large changes in vacancies. Leases are 
divided between commercial properties (97 %) and residential (3 %). The commercial 
rental income is divided between 127 contracts within a number of different sectors. A 
combination of good local knowledge, active involvement and a high level of service 
creates long-term rental conditions and thereby a reduced risk of new vacancies. A cer-
tain level of vacancies provides opportunities in the form of new leasings and flexibility 
for existing tenants who want to expand or reduce their premises. Furthermore, Volito 
Fastigheter bears the risk that tenants are unable to make rental payments. Regular 
follow-ups are carried out on the tenants’ credit ratings in order to reduce exposure to 
credit losses. A credit rating of tenants is carried out for all new leases, and, if required, 
the rental agreement is complemented with personal guarantees, rent deposit or bank 
guarantee. All rents are paid quarterly or monthly in advance.

Within Volito Industry risks are linked to project management. Many projects are custo-
mised and Volito bears the risk that customers cannot fulfill their obligations. Customers 
make advance payments on major projects in order to reduce the risk of credit losses.

Distribution of overdue accounts receivable – trade 2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Accounts receivable – trade that are neither overdue 
or written-down 25 183 18 180
Accounts receivable – trade that are overdue
1-30 days 3 671 3 630
31-60 days 134 495
61-90 days 104 376
More than 90 days 1 107 558
Of which, reserved (excluding VAT) -158 -819

Total 30 041 22 420

Costs for confirmed or suspected customer losses for the year amounted to  
SEK 2 968 K (926).

Offsetting agreements and similar agreements
The Group has entered into a derivative agreement under the International Swaps 
and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master netting agreement. The agreement means 
that when a counterparty cannot regulate their obligation according to all transac-
tion, the agreement is broken and all outstanding balances shall be regulated with 
a net amount. The ISDA agreement does not fulfil the criteria for offsetting in the 
statement of financial position, This is because offsetting in accordance with the 
ISDA agreement is only permitted if the counterparty or group cannot regulate their 
obligations. In view of that it is neither the counterparty or the group’s intention to 
regulate the balances on a net basis or at the same time. 
 
The company has not offset any amounts relating to 2014 or 2013.

Note 45  Other liabilities
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Liabilities 31 769 54 906

The maintenance reserves of SEK 33.3 million on 31 December 2013 have been  
dissolved in connection with the divestment of aircraft.

Note 46  Accrued expenses and prepaid income
2014-12-31 2013-12-31

The Group
Personnel-related items 26 406 30 237
Accrued interest expenses 1 341 1 438
Prepaid rental income 14 041 17 239
Prepaid leasing income 93 4 840
Provision for repairs relating to acquisitions 8 000 8 500
Other accrued expenses 6 486 7 863

56 367 70 117

The Parent company
Personnel-related items 3 163 2 068
Accrued interest expenses 29 45
Other accrued expenses 1 080 351

4 272 2 464

Note 47  Closely-related parties
Close relationships 
The Group is owned by AB Axel Granlund, 86.0 %, as well as Lennart Blecher (partly 
through companies), 12.0 %, and Bo Olsdal (through companies) and sons, 2.0 %. 
As a result of this, transactions with the companies listed below are noted as  
transactions with closely-related parties. 

Peab AB (publ)
Karl Axel Granlund is Chairman of the Board of Peab AB (publ). Volito AB owns  
5.61 % of the capital and 4.98 % of the votes in Peab AB (publ).

Bulten AB (publ)
Johan Lundsgård is a Board member of Bulten AB (publ).

CTT Systems AB (publ)
Johan Lundsgård is Chairman of the Board of CTT Systems AB (publ). Volito’s entire 
holding was divested during the year.

EQT
Lennart Blecher is a partner in EQT.

Sunnerbo Skogar AB
Karl Axel Granlund and family own shares in Sunnerbo Skogar. A purchase has been 
made worth SEK 0.1 million (0.2).

Joint venture companies / associated companies
In addition to the closely related parties stated above, the Group has close relations 
with its joint venture / associated companies, see Notes 30 and 32.

Subsidiaries
In addition to the closely related parties stated for the Group, the Parent company has 
close relations that involve a controlling interest in its subsidiaries, see Note 28.

Of the Group’s total purchases and sales measured in SEK, 1 % (1 %) of purchases and 
0 % of sales relate to other companies within the entire group of companies to which 
the Group belongs.

Of the Parent company’s total purchases and sales in SEK, 28 % (32 %) of the  
purchases and 100 % (99 %) of the sales relate to other companies within the entire 
group of companies to which the company belongs.

Transaction conditions
Sales between the Group’s different segments relate to administration fees and rents. 
Administration fees have been assigned on the basis of actual costs and utilisation. 
Rents are according to market conditions. 

Loans between group companies have interest rates set in accordance with the  
current finance policy. Interest rates are according to market conditions. 
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Summary of transactions with closely related parties
2014 2013

The Group and Parent company
Transactions with the Parent company
Sales to the Parent company 830 882
Purchases from the Parent company -3 082 -3 102
Interest income from the Parent company 228 240
Interest expense to the Parent company -75 -140
Receivables from the Parent company 5 315 9 607
Liabilities to the Parent company – 5 478
Dividend to the Parent company 12 201 14 234

2014 2013

The Group
Transactions with joint venture companies
Sales to joint venture companies 61 016 60 419
Receivables from joint venture companies 549 591 606 419
Liabilities to joint venture companies 1 286 –

VGS has amortised SEK 137.2 million (26.4) of its liabilities to Volito Aviation AG  
during the year. A write-down of the shareholders’ loan has been made amounting  
to SEK 20.6 million on 31 December 2014.

2014 2013

The Group
Transactions with associated companies
Receivables from associated companies (Nordkap Holding AB) 36 397 64 843
Dividends from associated companies (Bulten AB) 8 452 –

A write-down of the loan has been carried out amounting to SEK 11.2 million (23.5).  
In addition to the write-down of the loan, other receivables and accrued interest  
income of SEK 0.4 million (26.8) has been written down. Prices in transactions with  
associated companies and joint ventures are set according to market conditions.

2014 2013

The Group
Transactions with Peab AB (publ)
Sales to Peab 1 011 279
Purchases from Peab -11 510 -30 534
Dividends from Peab 29 880 24 160

2014 2013

The Group and Parent company
Transactions with CTT Systems AB (publ)
Interest income from CTT 424 211
Receivables from CTT – 5 910

2014 2013

The Parent company
Transactions with subsidiaries
Sales to subsidiaries 7 843 8 071
Purchases from subsidiaries -2 070 -2 092
Interest income from subsidiaries 5 002 6 174
Interest expense to subsidiaries -778 -1 175
Write-downs on interest income -3 226 -2 906
Receivables from subsidiaries 119 500 171 714
Liabilities to subsidiaries 36 793 47 253
Dividends from subsidiaries 9 000 9 000

2014 2013

The Parent company
Transactions with associated companies
Dividends from Bulten AB (publ) 8 452 –

2014 2013

The Parent company
Transactions with Peab AB (publ) 
Dividends from Peab 29 880 24 160

The Group and Parent company
Transactions with EQT
During the year Volito AB invested SEK 5.4 million in EQT VI Fund. The fair value of 
the holding amounted to SEK 15.4 million (7.3) at year-end, while booked value in the 
Parent company’s account amounted to SEK 12.1 million (6.7) at year-end.

Transactions with key employees
For salaries and other remuneration, expenses and obligations concerning pensions 
and similar benefits, and agreements concerning severance payments to the Board 
and the CEO, see note 8.

Note 48  Important events after accounting year-end
There have been no important events after accounting year-end.

Note 49  Information about the Parent company
Volito AB is a Swedish-registered limited company with registered office in Malmö. 
The address of the registered office is Skeppsbron 3, 211 20 Malmö.

The group accounts for 2014 consist of Volito AB and its subsidiaries, together refer-
red to as the Group. The Group also includes owned shares of holdings in associated 
companies and joint venture companies

The company is a subsidiary of AB Axel Granlund, corporate identity number
556409-6013 with registered office in Malmö. AB Axel Granlund owns 86.0 %
(83.6 %) of the capital and votes in the Volito Group and prepares the
consolidated financial statements for the largest group.

Note 50  Explanatory note relating to transition to IFRS
These financial statements for the Group are the first to be drawn up with the  
application of IFRS, which is outlined in Note 1. 

The accounting principles stated in Note 1 have been applied in the drawing up of 
the Group’s financial statements for the fiscal year 2014, for the comparison year, 
2013, and for the Group’s opening balance on 1 January 2013. In the drawing up of the 
Group’s opening balance amounts that have been reported according to previously 
applied accounting principles have been adjusted according to IFRS. An explanation 
about how the transition from the previous accounting principles to IFRS has affected 
the Group’s financial position, financial results and cash flow is given in the following 
tables and the accompanying explanations. 

IAS 40 – Investment properties
The Group operates a property renting business and the holding of properties meets 
the definition in IAS 40 for them to be classified as investment properties. The Group 
has chosen to report its holding of investment properties at fair value, in accordance 
with the permitted valuation methods in IAS 40. This means that the investment 
properties are reported in the income statement and no depreciation is then carried 
out group-wise.   

IFRS 3 – Company acquisitions
In the consolidated financial statements, IFRS 3 has been applied to all business ac-
quisitions that were made from 1 January 2013, the date for transition to IFRS. From 
1 January 2013 no depreciation is made on intangible assets with an indeterminable 
lifetime. This is instead tested annually, or when there is an indication of a fall in 
value, for any write-down requirement. The exception in IFRS 1 of not recalculating 
acquisitions carried out before the date of transition has been applied. Therefore, no 
adjustments of acquisitions as a consequence of transition to IFRS have been taken 
up in the opening balance.  

IAS 17
According to previously applied accounting principles leasing agreements were re-
ported as operational. The transition to IFRS has meant that a part of the agreement 
is classified as a financial leasing agreement and is therefore reported as assets and 
interest-bearing liabilities in the Group’s balance sheet.  In the income statement lea-
sing costs are replaced by depreciation and interest expense. 

IAS 39
The Group owns listed shares, which in the transition to IFRS have been measured at 
fair value. These instruments have on transition, been classified as available-for-sale 
financial assets, which means that changes in fair value relating to these are reported 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in an available-for-sale reserve in 
equity.

Furthermore, the Group has interest rate swaps with an aim to provide financial 
hedging relating to interest rates in the loan portfolio, which are held principally to 
finance the Group’s investment properties. These interest rate swaps are measured at 
fair value via the income statement. Hedge accounting is not applied. 

Deferred tax
The above mentioned implemented adjustments to IFRS have affected the company’s 
profit and loss and financial position, and adjustments have been made in the 
opening balances for 2013. To the extent that these adjustments have brought about  
temporary differences between the fiscal and reported values, such temporary  
differences have brought about deferred tax, which has been booked in the Group.

Effects on income statement, balance sheet and equity
The summaries below show the above-mentioned effects on the income statement, 
balance sheet and equity as if IFRS had been applied in 2013.
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Consolidated statement of financial position 1 January 2013
According  

to previous  
principles

Foreign  
exchange  

reserve Effect of IAS 40 Effect of IAS 3 Effect of IAS 39 Effect of IAS 17
According  

to IFRS

ASSETS
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 27 097 – 27 097
Investment properties 1 576 812 662 788 2 239 600
Industrial premises 5 453 5 453
Other tangible fixed assets 181 092 2 574 183 666
Participations in joint ventures 164 723 164 723
Receivables from joint ventures 629 776 629 776
Participations in associated companies 22 914 -3 952 18 962
Receivables from associated companies 86 373 86 373
Other long-term securities 537 312 96 526 633 838
Deferred tax assets 24 418 24 418
Financial leasing agreements 30 340 30 340
Other long-term receivables 30 133 30 133

Total fixed assets 3 316 443 – 662 788 – 92 574 2 574 4 074 379

Current assets
Inventories 24 340 24 340
Accounts receivable  – trade 29 834 29 834
Receivables from group companies 192 192
Receivables from joint ventures and associated companies 39 662 39 662
Tax receivables 13 290 13 290
Other receivables 6 004 6 004
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 7 375 7 375
Short-term investments 731 199 930
Cash and bank balances 15 850 15 850

Total current assets 137 278 – – – 199 – 137 477

TOTAL ASSETS 3 453 721 – 662 788 – 92 773 2 574 4 211 856

According  
to previous  

principles

Foreign  
exchange  

reserve Effect of IAS 40 Effect of IAS 3 Effect of IAS 39 Effect of IAS 17
According  

to IFRS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 244 000 244 000
Restricted reserves 21 005 21 005
Reserves – 92 574 92 574
Retained earnings including profit or loss for the year 429 028 533 871 -67 154 -24 895 721

Equity attributable to the shareholders  
in the Parent company 694 033 – 533 871 – 25 420 -24 1 253 300
Holdings with non-controlling interest 421 099 421 099

Equity 1 115 132 – 533 871 – 25 420 -24 1 674 399

Long-term liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions 1 423 802 86 349 2 605 1 512 756
Other long-term liabilities 52 845 52 845
Provisions for deferred taxes 56 920 128 917 -18 996 -7 166 834

Total long-term liabilities 1 533 567 – 128 917 – 67 353 2 598 1 732 435

Short-term liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions 502 284 502 284
Bank overdraft facilities 184 545 184 545
Advance payment from customers 1 160 1 160
Accounts payable – trade 21 606 21 606
Liabilities to group companies 640 640
Liabilities to joint ventures and associated companies 7 330 7 330
Current tax liabilities 8 246 8 246
Other liabilities 13 214 13 214
Accrued expenses and deferred income 65 997 65 997

Total short-term liabilities 805 022 – – – – – 805 022

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3 453 721 – 662 788 – 92 773 2 574 4 211 856
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Consolidated income statement 1 January - 31 December 2013
According  

to previous  
principles

Foreign  
exchange  

reserve Effect of IAS 40 Effect of IAS 3 Effect of IAS 39 Effect of IAS 17
According  

to IFRS

Net sales 440 109 – 440 109
Other operating income 12 145 -10 385 1 760

Total income 452 254 – -10 385 – – – 441 869
Raw materials and consumables -123 923 -123 923
Other external costs -83 329 1 662 -81 667
Personnel costs -123 822 -123 822
Depreciation and write-downs -42 300 15 082 3 930 -1 379 -24 667
Other operating expenses -619 – -619

Operating profit 78 261 – 4 697 3 930 – 283 87 171
Profit or loss from participations in subsidiaries -39 -39
Profit or loss from participations in joint  
ventures and associated companies -225 926 15 736 -210 190
Profit or loss from other financial income  
and expenses 29 402 29 402
Interest income and similar income 7 868 -199 7 669
Interest expenses and similar expenses -79 787 370 -330 -79 747
Changes in value of investment properties – 39 276 39 276
Changes in value of derivatives – 33 524 33 524

Loss before tax -190 221 – 43 973 19 666 33 695 -47 -92 934
Taxes -7 212 -9 381 -7 456 10 -24 039
Holdings with non-controlling interests 144 619 -1 770 142 849

Profit or loss for the year -52 814 – 34 592 17 896 26 239 -37 25 876

Other comprehensive income
Exchange rate differences for the year for  
foreign businesses – -1 822 -1 822
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale assets – 174 513 174 513
Tax attributable to items that have been, or 
can be, transferred to profit or loss for the year – -138 -138
Holdings with non-controlling interests – 266  266

Other comprehensive income for the year – -1 556 – – 174 375 – 172 819

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR -52 814 -1 556 34 592 17 896 200 614 -37 198 695

Consolidated statement of financial position 31 December 2013
According  

to previous  
principles

Foreign  
exchange  

reserve Effect of IAS 40 Effect of IAS 3 Effect of IAS 39 Effect of IAS 17
According  

to IFRS

ASSETS
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 29 799 19 666 49 465
Investment properties 1 604 238 706 762 2 311 000
Industrial premises 5 084 5 084
Other tangible fixed assets 163 084 6 726 169 810
Receivables from Parent company 5 279 5 279
Receivables from joint ventures 603 047 603 047
Participations in associated companies 9 553 -476 9 077
Receivables from associated companies 64 843 64 843
Other long-term securities 576 485 267 563 844 048
Deferred tax assets 25 392 -138 25 254
Financial leasing agreements 29 535 29 535
Other long-term receivables 28 119 28 119

Total fixed assets 3 144 458 – 706 762 19 666 266 949 6 726 4 144 561
Current assets
Inventories 37 449 37 449
Accounts receivable – trade 22 420 22 420
Receivables from group companies 4 521 4 521
Receivables from joint ventures  
and associated companies 3 372 3 372
Tax receivables 8 688 8 688
Other receivables 10 971 10 971
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 9 088 110 9 198
Cash and bank balances 36 793 36 793

Total current assets 133 302 – – – – 110 133 412

TOTAL ASSETS 3 277 760 – 706 762 19 666 266 949 6 836 4 277 973
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According  
to previous  

principles

Foreign  
exchange  

reserve Effect of IAS 40 Effect of IAS 3 Effect of IAS 39 Effect of IAS 17
According  

to IFRS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 244 000 244 000
Restricted reserves 21 005 21 005
Reserves – -1 822 266 949 265 127
Retained earnings including profit or loss for 
the year 357 579 1 822 568 463 17 896 -40 915 -61 904 784

Equity attributable to Parent company owner 622 583 – 568 463 17 896 226 034 -61 1 434 916
Holdings with non-controlling interest 265 988 1 770 267 758

Equity 888 571 – 568 463 19 666 226 034 -61 1 702 674

Long-term liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions 1 401 947 41 289 4 403 1 447 639
Other long-term liabilities 54 906 54 906
Provisions for deferred taxes 58 937 138 299 -11 540 -17 185 679

Total long-term liabilities 1 515 790 – 138 299 – 29 749 4 386 1 688 224
Short-term liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions 563 707 11 166 2 511 577 384
Bank overdraft facilities 183 518 183 518
Advance payment from customers 4 855 4 855
Accounts payable – trade 28 568 28 568
Liabilities to group companies 5 478 5 478
Current tax liabilities 8 307 8 307
Other liabilities 8 848 8 848
Accrued expenses and deferred income 70 117 70 117

Total short-term liabilities 873 399 – – – 11 166 2 511 887 076

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3 277 760 – 706 762 19 666 266 949 6 836 4 277 973

Malmö 27 February 2015

Karl-Axel Granlund Bo Olsdal Lennart Blecher Johan Lundsgård
Chairman   CEO

Our auditors’ report was submitted on 12 March 2015
KPMG AB

Eva Melzig Henriksson David Olow
Authorized Public Accountant Authorized Public Accountant

The Group’s income statement and balance sheet, and the Parent company’s income statement and balance sheet,  
will be subject to adoption at the Annual General Meeting on 12 March 2015.
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Auditor’s report

To the annual meeting of the shareholders of Volito AB, 
corp. id. 556457-4639

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts

We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated  
accounts of Volito AB for the year 2014. The annual accounts  
and consolidated accounts of the company are included in the 
printed version of this document on pages 23 - 61. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing 

Director for the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual accounts in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and of the consolidated 
accounts in accordance with  International Financial Reporting 
Standards, as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act, 
and for such internal control as the Board of Directors and the  
Managing Director determine is necessary to enable the pre- 
paration of annual accounts and consolidated accounts that are  
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual  
accounts and consolidated accounts based on our audit. We  
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts are 
free from material misstatement.
 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit  
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual  
accounts and consolidated accounts. The procedures selected  
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of  
the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control  
relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts in order to design  
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evalua-
ting the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the  
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board of 
Directors and the Managing Director, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the annual accounts and consolidated  
accounts. 
 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in  
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act, and present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the parent company 
as of 31 December 2014 and of their financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Annual 
Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the group as of 31 
December 2014 and of their financial performance and cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU, and in accordance 
with the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory administration  
report is consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts. 
 We therefore recommend that the annual meeting of share-
holders adopt the income statement and financial position for the 
parent company and the statement of comprehensive income and 
statement of financial position for the group. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, we have also audited the proposed appropriations of the 
company’s profit or loss and the administration of the Board of  
Directors and the Managing Director of Volito AB for the year 2014.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors  

and the Managing Director 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for  
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, and the Board  
of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for  
administration under the Companies Act. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion with reasonable  
assurance on the proposed appropriations of the company’s  
profit or loss and on the administration based on our audit.  
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally  
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. 
 As basis for our opinion on the Board of Directors proposed 
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss we examined  
the Board of Directors’ reasoned statement and a selection of  
supporting evidence in order to be able to assess whether the  
proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act. 
 As basis for our opinion concerning discharge from liability, 
in addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, we examined significant decisions, actions taken and 
circumstances of the company in order to determine whether any 
member of the Board of Directors or the Managing Director is 
liable to the company. We also examined whether any member of 
the Board of Directors or the Managing Director has, in any other 
way, acted in contravention of the Companies Act, the Annual 
Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.
 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is  
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

Opinions

We recommend to the annual meeting of shareholders that the 
profit be appropriated in accordance with the proposal in the  
statutory administration report and that the members of the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director be discharged  
from liability for the financial year.

Malmö, 12 March 2015
KPMG AB 

 
Eva Melzig Henriksson David Olow 
Authorized Public Accountant Authorized Public Accountant
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This English version is a translation of the Swedish original. In case of any dispute as to the interpretation of this document,  
the Swedish version shall prevail.

Addresses
Volito AB   Skeppsbron 3, SE-211 20 Malmö

Tfn +46 40 660 30 00   Fax +46 40 660 30 20   E-mail info@volito.se   
Corporate identity number 556457-4639   www.volito.se 

Volito Fastigheter AB   Skeppsbron 3, SE-211 20 Malmö

Tfn +46 40 664 47 00   Fax +46 40 664 47 19   E-mail info@volito.se   
Corporate identity number 556539-1447   www.volitofastigheter.se

Volito Industri AB   Skeppsbron 3, SE-211 20 Malmö

Tfn +46 40 660 30 00   Fax +46 40 660 30 20   E-mail info@volito.se   
Corporate identity number 556662-5835   www.volitoindustri.se

Volito Aviation AB   Södra Förstadsgatan 4, SE-211 43 Malmö

Tfn +46 40 660 32 00   Fax +46 40 30 23 50   E-mail info@volito.aero   
Corporate identity number 556603-2800   www.volito.aero

er Mölgaard was born in 1969 in Roskilde, Denmark. Studied 

at the Royal Danish Academy of Fine Arts, 1993-99. The most  

recent of Per’s many exhibitions were at Galerie Leger in Malmö 

and Brösarp Art Gallery in 2014. He will have an exhibition at 

Galleri Tom Christoffersen in Copenhagen in the spring of 2015.

”Vincent van Gogh and Edward Munch have meant a great deal to me 

ever since I was young. Their energy, feeling and humanity have always 

gone directly into my central nervous system. However, over the past 

ten years my private life and surroundings have been the direct  

starting point for my works.

 I moved from Copenhagen to Sweden almost 10 years ago and  

live and work together with the Swedish artist, Judit Ström, and our  

three daughters. Our life together for more than 20 years, and our  

collaboration. Judit’s world and her work, seen through my emotional 

filter, have meant everything for me and my work in recent years.

 For me, painting is an existential matter. A way to understand and 

try to explain how it is to be human in the world we live in. Painting for 

me is the optimal balance and fusion between form and content. That 

form exists in the content and vice-versa. My work does not stem from 

imagination and a wish to tell stories. It is not adventurous, but quite 

realistic, a concentrate of a mental experience or state of mind. Above 

all my works must be credible.

 The motif for Volito’s painting is a double portrait of my oldest 

daughter.”

Per Mölgaard
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Volito AB is an investment company operating within Real Estate,  
Industry and Aviation. The company creates value through long-term,  
active ownership based on genuine expertise within its lines of business.  

Value growth is generated both through current earnings and the increase 
in value of the company’s investments.

www.volito.se
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